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SGX Mainboard-listed Food Empire Holdings Limited 
(“Food Empire”) is a multinational food and beverage 
manufacturing and distribution group headquartered 
in Singapore. With a portfolio spanning instant 
beverages, snack food, and a growing presence in 
food ingredients, Food Empire’s products are sold 
in over 60 countries across North Asia, Eastern 
Europe, South-East Asia, South Asia, Central Asia, 
Middle East, and North America. Supported by 
8 manufacturing facilities in 5 countries and 23 
offices worldwide, Food Empire is poised for even 
greater success.

Food Empire offers an enticing range of branded 
beverages and snacks, including classic and 
flavoured coffee mixes and cappuccinos, chocolate 
drinks, fruit-flavoured tea, bubble tea, instant 
cereal blends, and crispy potato snacks. Its food 
ingredients business features the finest freeze-
dried and spray-dried instant coffee, as well as non-
dairy creamer.

Food Empire owns a family of proprietary brands 
– including MacCoffee, CaféPHỐ, Petrovskaya 
Sloboda, Klassno, Hillway, and Kracks. MacCoffee – 
the Group’s flagship brand – has been consistently 

ranked as the leading 3-in-1 instant coffee brand 
in the Group’s core markets. The Group employs 
innovative brand-building activities, localised to 
match the flavour of the local markets in which its 
products are sold.

Since its public listing in 2000, Food Empire has 
won numerous accolades and awards, including 
being recognised as one of the “Most Valuable 
Singapore Brands” by IE Singapore (now known as 
Enterprise Singapore), while MacCoffee has been 
ranked as one of “The Strongest Singapore Brands”. 
Forbes Magazine has thrice named Food Empire as 
one of the “Best Under A Billion” companies in Asia 
and the company has also been awarded as one of 
Asia’s “Top Brands” by Influential Brands.

Food Empire is dedicated to sustainability, as 
evidenced by the receipt of the Sustainability Award 
at the Securities Investors Association (Singapore) 
20th Investors’ Choice Award – and it also emerged 
as the winner of The Enterprise Award at the 
Singapore Business Awards 2020/2021.

For more information, please refer to: www.foodempire.com 
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CAFÉPHỐ NHÀ LÀM 
Perfected by the finest roasted coffee 
beans and high-quality ingredients, 
CaféPhố Nhà Làm gives you more than 
a delicious, rich, homemade taste of 
milk coffee – the feelings of love and 
warmth of family that you might have 
missed in the hustle and bustle of 
modern life.

NOTHING COMPARES TO THE  

TASTE OF 
VIETNAM

Exclusive

For Iced Coffee Lovers

Surging Forward2



FE NEWS

Klassno White Creamy Coffee 

Elevate your morning with the extraordinary flavour 
of Klassno White – a harmonious blend of rich 
creaminess and aromatic coffee that promises to 
elevate your coffee ritual to unparalleled heights. 
Experience the pinnacle of indulgence with Klassno 
White today.

FE NEWS

Klassno Brown Sugar Coffee 

Introducing our latest sensation – a delightful treat 
that combines the bold taste of instant coffee 
with the distinct flavour of brown sugar, creating a 
luscious and satisfying drink. Each sip is a journey, a 
moment of pure bliss that invigorates your spirit and 
rejuvenates your soul. 

FE NEWS

FE NEWS

Klassno Coffee Mix 2-in-1 Coffee  
& Creamer (Sugar Free) 

Crafted for the health-conscious individuals, this 
product combines the robust flavour of coffee with 
a rich and creamy non-sugar creamer. Ideal for 
those who want to savour the delightful taste of 
coffee without compromising their commitment to 
a sugar-free lifestyle.

CaféPHỐ Roasted & Ground Coffee 
(Classic)

Introducing a freshly filtered version, crafted through 
crystallisation using exceptional roasted coffee beans 
and high-quality ingredients. It offers more than just 
a cup of original filtered coffee; presents a mild taste, 
characteristic aroma, best enjoyed in both iced black 
coffee or iced milk, with an addition of milk and sugar 
according to your preference.

FE NEWS

CaféPHỐ Gold 

The unique formula of CaféPHỐ Gold incorporates 
roasted and ground coffee to enhance its rich 
flavour profile. Enriched with roasted and ground 
coffee, this premium instant coffee offers a 
smoother and more delicious experience, resulting 
in a richer overall flavour. 
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EUROPE

AFRICA

ASIA

AUSTRALIA

LIVE International
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REVENUE BY  
GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS
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REVENUE (US$’000)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (US$’000)

2020

2021

2022

2023

2020

2021

2022*

2023 72,499

26,314

70,706*

32,235

425,715

320,074

398,362

272,971

2023 2022* 2021 2020

(US$’000)

Revenue 425,715 398,362 320,074 272,971

EBITDA 86,852 83,373 38,321 41,344 

Profit before taxation 72,499 70,706* 26,314 32,235

Profit after taxation 56,464 60,068* 19,340 26,454

Profit before taxation 
(normalised) 72,499 55,706 26,314 32,235 

Profit after taxation 
(normalised) 56,464 45,068 19,340 26,454 

* Includes a one-off gain from the disposal of non-core asset of US$15.0 
million in 2022

FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Debt to Equity Ratio 14.0% 16.2% 23.5% 26.8%

Working Capital Ratio 3.4 3.4 2.4 2.9

Quick Ratio 2.4 2.4 1.4 2.0

EBITDA Margin 20.4% 20.9% 12.0% 15.1%

Diluted EPS (USD cents) 10.59 11.26 3.60 4.98

NAV per share (USD cents) 56.20 51.84 42.39 40.63

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS (US$’000)

Russia 143,260 148,384 114,915 99,555

Ukraine, Kazakhstan  
and CIS markets 110,737 91,480 71,161 67,833

South-East Asia 101,634 92,718 96,779 81,013

South Asia 49,128 39,600 17,393 7,224

Others 20,956 26,180 19,826 17,346

425,715 398,362 320,074 272,971

REVENUE BY PRODUCT GROUP (US$’000)

Beverages 324,366 299,315 259,861 231,509

Non-Beverages 30,055 35,923 26,632 20,094

Ingredients 71,294 63,124 33,581 21,368

 425,715 398,362 320,074 272,971

* Includes a one-off gain from the disposal of non-core asset 
of US$15.0 million in 2022
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OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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The Group reported record revenue of 
US$425.7 million in FY2023 as compared 
to US$398.4 million in FY2022. This was 
mainly due to higher volumes and/or higher 
average selling price in all of the Group’s 
core markets.

In the Group’s Russia segment, revenue 
decreased by 3.5% from US$148.4 million in 
FY2022 to US$143.3 million in FY2023. This 
reduction was mainly due to the depreciation 
of the Russian Ruble against the US dollar. 
The average exchange rate was 85.4 Ruble 
per US dollar in FY2023 as compared to 65.8 
Ruble per US dollar in FY2022. The revenue 
recorded in local currency terms increased 
by 25.2% mainly due to the combination of 
higher volume and higher pricing.

The Group’s Ukraine, Kazakhstan and CIS 
segments saw an increase in revenue of 21.1% 
to US$110.7 million for FY2023, compared 
with US$91.5 million in FY2022. The increase 
was also driven by higher volume and higher 
pricing in the Group’s CIS and Kazakhstan 
markets.

For the Group’s South-East Asia segment, 
revenue increased by 9.6% from US$92.7 
million in FY2022 to US$101.6 million in 
FY2023 mainly due to higher sales volumes 
in the Group’s Vietnam market. Notably, the 
Group has completed its non-dairy creamer 
expansion in Malaysia and is expected to 
begin commercial production in 2024. 

The revenue of the Group’s South Asia 
segment increased by 24.1% to US$49.1 
million in FY2023 from US$39.6 million in 
FY2022. The Group’s freeze-dried coffee 
plant in India mainly contributed to this 

increase. Both the freeze-dried and spray-
dried coffee plants continue to operate at 
full production capacity.

Revenue in the Group’s Other segment 
decreased by 20.0% from US$26.2 million in 
FY2022 to US$21.0 million in FY2023 mainly 
due to the divestment of its European non-
core frozen food business in FY2022.

The selling and marketing expenses in 
FY2023 increased by 10.2%, from US$28.7 
million in FY2022 to US$31.6 million. The 
increase was mainly driven by higher 
advertising and promotional expenses. 
The general and administrative expenses 
increased to US$38.9 million in FY2023, 
compared to US$37.5 million. The increase 
was mainly due to higher manpower cost.

Excluding the one-off gain of US$15.0 million 
recorded in FY2022 from the disposal of 
a non-core asset, the Group’s normalised 
net profit after tax increased from US$45.1 
million in FY2022 to US$56.5 million in 
FY2023. The increase was mainly driven by 
higher revenue and better operating margin.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s trade receivable increased by 
US$6.7 million to US$38.2 million. This was mainly due to the higher 
sales recorded by the Group.

The Group generated a cash flow of US$50.6 million from operating 
activities in FY2023, bringing its cash and cash equivalents to US$131.3 
million as at 31 December 2023. 

The Group’s net asset as at 31 December 2023 was US$294.5 million 
compared to US$275.6 million as at 31 December 2022. The net asset 
value per ordinary share (excluding non-controlling interests) as at 31 
December 2023 was 56.20 US cents, as compared to 51.84 US cents as 
at 31 December 2022.

Source: FE SGX 

Add more topics to your feed:

Insider TradesCorporate GovernanceAnalyst CoverageStocks Emerging Markets
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Food Empire Clinched Multiple 
Awards at the 2023 International 
Annual Report Competition 
(ARC) Awards 
On 2 October 2023, Food Empire 
emerged triumphant with a remarkable 
haul of accolades, including Gold, 
Silver, Bronze, and Honours awards in 
the “Beverage & Food Manufacturer” 
category. With the theme ‘Expanding 
Our Position – Gateway to Future 
Growth & Diversification’, Food Empire 
garnered significant recognition on the 
global stage at the 2023 International 
Annual Report Competition (ARC) 
Awards. 

Food Empire Awarded “Best Under A 
Billion” by Forbes Asia 
For the third time, Food Empire was honoured 
to receive the ‘Asia’s Best Under A Billion’ 
award from Forbes Asia during the forum 
and awards dinner in November 2023. Food 
Empire’s Group CEO, Mr Sudeep Nair, received 
the award which celebrates and honours the 
success of companies featured on Forbes Asia’s 
Best Under A Billion list. The award spotlights 
top-performing small and midsized listed 
companies in the Asia-Pacific region with 
annual sales under US$1 billion.

MacCoffee Awarded “Leader Among 
3-in-1 Coffee in Uzbekistan in 2022” 
In May 2023, MacCoffee was awarded the 
special nomination “Leader Among 3-in-1  
Coffee in Uzbekistan”, at the prestigious 
Brand of the Year 2022 Award, during the 
V International Business Forum “MAKON 
Marketing Forum 2023”. This award 
recognises the brand’s excellence, market 
leadership, and outstanding contribution 
to the 3-in-1 coffee industry, and it signifies 
that the brand’s 3-in-1 coffee product has 
been widely recognised and appreciated 
by consumers and industry experts, 
positioning it as a leader in the market. 
This award serves as a reminder of our 
commitment to delivering the highest 
quality 3-in-1 coffee to satisfy your taste 
buds and provide you with moments of 
pure indulgence.

Food Empire Annual Report 2023 9
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1 2Mr Tan Wang Cheow PBM
Executive Chairman

Mr Tan has been providing leadership to the 
Board of Directors since April 2000. Mr Tan 
is the founder of the Group and has been 
instrumental in guiding the Group’s business, 
including taking the company public in 2000. As 
Executive Chairman, Mr Tan is responsible for the 
achievement of the Group’s long-term goals. His 
role includes providing strategic leadership and 
exploring business opportunities for the Group. 
A passionate believer in the power of brands, 
Mr Tan is actively involved in the marketing and 
branding activities across the Group.

Mr Tan has been active in the local grassroots 
community since 1990. He received the Service 
to Education Award in 2014 and 2020 from the 
Ministry of Education and was awarded the 
Public Service Medal in 2014 for his significant 
contributions to the society and the field of 
business. He holds a Bachelor of Accountancy 
from the National University of Singapore. In 2018, 
he received the NUS Business School Eminent 
Business Alumni Award (Senior Alumni Category) 
for excelling in Singapore and beyond, as well as 
making contributions to serve the community. 
Mr Tan also served as Chairman of the School 
Advisory Committee of Woodgrove Secondary 
School from 2010 to 2020 and was awarded by 
Influential Brands in 2019 as Asia’s Top Founder 
Chairman of the Year.

Mr Sudeep Nair
Group Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Mr Nair has been serving the Board as an Executive Director since 
July 2005. Mr Nair has been with the Group since 1993.  

Prior to his appointment to the Board, he was primarily responsible 
for the launch and establishment of the Group’s brands and 
businesses in Eastern Europe and CIS countries from 1994 to 2005.

In October 2012, Mr Nair was appointed as the Group CEO in 
addition to his continuing role as Executive Director. Since 2012, 
he is also responsible for the Group’s diversification and growth 
strategy including overall oversight of its day-to-day operations. 
His role includes geographical expansion of business, as well as 
identifying new businesses and M&A opportunities for the Group. 
Mr Nair has over 30 years of experience in building and managing 
the Group’s business.

1
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Mdm Tan Guek Ming
Non-Executive Director

Mdm Tan was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director 
in April 2000. Mdm Tan brings both financial and business expertise 
to the Board, having held both executive and non-executive 
directorships in listed companies with interests in property, 
hospitality and the food and beverage sectors. She holds a Bachelor 
of Accountancy Degree (Second Class Honours) from the National 
University of Singapore and has numerous years of leadership 
experience in the fields of accounting and auditing.

3
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Mr Koh Yew Hiap
Non-Executive Director

Mr Koh joined the Board as a Non-Executive 
Director in March 2007. Mr Koh has a distinguished 
career in business and is the Managing Director 
of Universal Integrated Corporation Consumer 
Products Pte Ltd and United Detergent Industries 
Sdn Bhd. He also sits on the Board of Directors 
of various companies within the Salim Group. He 
holds a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) Honours 
from the University of Manchester.

4 Mr Tan Cher Liang PBM
Independent Director

Mr Tan was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Independent 
Director on 24 April 2020.  He is the Chairman of the Nominating 
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and 
Remuneration Committee.  He has more than 40 years of experience 
in corporate advisory and general management.

Currently, he also serves on the boards of various public and private 
companies in Singapore including being an Independent Non-
Executive Chairman of Jumbo Group Limited and Vibrant Group 
Limited, and an Independent Director of Kingsmen Creatives Ltd, 
Hiap Seng Industries Limited, IPC Corporation Ltd and Wilton 
Resources Corporation Limited. He is a Trustee of Kwan Im Thong 
Hood Cho Temple and a Director of D S Lee Foundation and 
EtonHouse Community Fund.

Mr Tan is a qualified financial professional from the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom.  He was 
conferred the Public Service Medal (PBM) in 1996.

7

Mr Adrian Chan Pengee
Independent Director

Mr Adrian Chan was appointed to the Board as an Independent 
Director on 1 January 2022. He is Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the 
Nominating Committee.

Mr Chan is Head of Corporate at the law firm, Lee & Lee, and has 
been in legal practice for more than 34 years. He is Vice-Chairman 
of the Singapore Institute of Directors and serves on the Legal 
Service Commission of Singapore. He is an independent director 
on the boards of several listed companies on the SGX and the SGX 
has appointed him to its Catalyst Advisory Panel to review Catalyst 
Sponsor and Registered Professional applications.

He is the Honorary Secretary of the Association of Small and Medium 
Enterprises and has been appointed to Singapore Management 
University’s Enterprise Board and the Institutional Review Board 
of the Singapore Polytechnic. He has served on the Board of the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority of Singapore and is 
currently a member of its Corporate Law Advisory Panel.

8

Mr Ong Kian Min
Non-Executive Director

Mr Ong first joined the Board in April 2000 and 
served as an Independent Non-Executive Director 
until December 2021. He is currently serving 
as a Non-Executive Director and a member of 
the Nominating Committee. As a lawyer and 
corporate adviser, Mr Ong brings invaluable 
legal and business experience to the Board. 
He was called to the Bar of England and Wales 
in 1988 and to the Singapore Bar the following 
year. In his more than 30 years of legal practice, 
he focused on corporate and commercial law 
such as mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures, 
restructuring and corporate finance. In addition 
to his legal practice, he is also the Managing 
Director of Kanesaka Sushi Private Limited, which 
invests in and operates Japanese fine-dining 
restaurants in Singapore.

In 1979, Mr Ong was awarded the President’s 
Scholarship and Police Force Scholarship. He 
holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) external degree 
from the University of London and a Bachelor of 
Science (Hons) degree from the Imperial College 
of Science and Technology in England. Mr Ong 
was a Member of Parliament of Singapore from 
January 1997 to April 2011.

5

Mr Saw Meng Tee
Lead Independent Director

Mr Saw is currently the Lead Independent Director of the Board since January 2022, where he also serves as Chairman of 
the Audit Committee since April 2020, and a member of both the Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee. 
He was first appointed to the Board in April 2019. Mr Saw brings both Corporate Finance and Accounting experience to the 
Board, having worked formerly in industries with that domain and having started a firm of Chartered Accountants in 1999, 
EisnerAmper PAC, the Singapore member of EisnerAmper Global. He is currently the Managing Partner of EisnerAmper 
Singapore as well as a Director with EisnerAmper Global.

Mr Saw has been on the Board of Directors for other SGX mainboard listed companies and holds a Bachelor of Accountancy 
from Nanyang Technological University. His other professional memberships include: Fellow Chartered Accountant Singapore, 
Chartered Accountant (ICAEW) and Fellow of the Insolvency Practitioners Association of Singapore.

6
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Together, we 
will continue 
to overcome 
challenges, embrace 
opportunities, 
and forge a path 
towards an even 
brighter future.

Dear Valued Shareholders, 

The last couple of years have been full of unprecedented challenges 
that businesses across the world have had to adapt to. 2023 was no 
different, and I am proud to say that Food Empire Holdings Limited 
(“Food Empire” or together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), only 
emerged stronger. From nascent geopolitical conflicts and supply 
chain constraints to inflationary pressures, topped with an imminent 
recession, this past year saw it all. While inflation seems to be easing 
in some parts of the world, geopolitical events and extreme weather 
conditions continue to affect food supply chains and drive logistical 
costs even higher. 

In the face of ongoing global challenges in the last decade, we at Food 
Empire have stayed true to our long-term ambitions as we continue to 
pursue a bright future with emerging opportunities. In spite of rising 
coffee prices, Food Empire was able to achieve higher sales volume in 
most of its operating markets, given its strong brands and loyal customers. 

The Group has not only come through another challenging year but also 
performed remarkably well in delivering a record year of revenue and 
operating profit. On behalf of the Board, it is my pleasure to present our 
annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”).

Financial Overview 
In FY2023, I am proud to highlight that Food Empire achieved record 
revenue of US$425.7 million, representing a growth of 6.9%. Our core 
segments experienced positive growth on the back of higher volumes 
and/or higher average selling prices. In particular, revenue from the 
Group’s South Asia segment saw the highest growth percentage at 24.1% 
to US$49.1 million driven by the Group’s freeze-dried coffee plant in India.

While the Group’s Russia segment saw a decrease in revenue by 3.5% to 
US$143.3 million in FY2023 due to a 29.8% depreciation of the Russian 
Ruble against the US dollar, revenue in local currency terms increased 
by 25.2% on the back of higher volumes and pricing. Revenue for the 
Group’s Ukraine, Kazakhstan and CIS segments increased by 21.1% to 
US$110.7 million in FY2023 mainly due to a combination of higher volume 
and higher pricing in the Group’s CIS and Kazakhstan markets. In the 
Group’s South-East Asia segment, the revenue increased by 9.6% to 
US$101.6 million in FY2023, mainly driven by higher sales volume in the 
Group’s Vietnam market. Lastly, revenue in the Group’s Other segment 
decreased by 20.0% to US$21.0 million in FY2023 mainly due to the 
divestment of its European non-core frozen food business in FY2022.

Excluding the one-off gain from the disposal of non-core asset of 
US$15.0 million recorded in FY2022, the Group’s normalised net profit 
after tax increased from US$45.1 million in FY2022 to US$56.5 million in 
FY2023. This increase was mainly driven by higher revenue and better 
operating margin. 

Enhancing Shareholder Value 
We strongly believe in rewarding our shareholders for their unwavering 
support. On the back of a remarkable year, the Board is recommending 
a first and final dividend of 5.0 Singapore cents per ordinary share and 
a special dividend of 5.0 Singapore cents per ordinary share, subject to 

MR TAN WANG CHEOW
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
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approval at the upcoming Annual General Meeting on 19 April 
2024. If approved, the proposed first and final dividend and the 
special dividend will be paid on 17 May 2024. The total dividend 
of 10.0 Singapore cents per ordinary share is more than double 
the dividend paid out in FY2022. 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had, pursuant to the 
Share Buyback Mandate approved by the Shareholders at 
the 2023 EGM, purchased an aggregate of 7,109,100 shares 
through a series of open market purchases. The buybacks were 
motivated by our conviction that the Group has put in place 
a comprehensive roadmap for sustainable, quality growth, 
but the share price of the Company remained undervalued, 
which creates the opportunity to enhance shareholder value 
by investing in ourselves.

Building Strength Through Diversification 
On the operational front, the Group’s expansion strategy is 
unfolding as planned, with a continued focus on its South-East 
Asia and South Asia segments. India’s spray-dried and freeze-
dried coffee plants are operating at full capacity to address 
the robust demand. The expanded capacity of the non-dairy 
creamer factory in Malaysia is awaiting certain Government 
approvals and is set to begin commercial production soon. The 
Group is also pushing ahead with its snacks plant expansion in 
Malaysia, providing future growth opportunities. 

The Group continues to expand its beverage product offerings 
through constant innovation in markets like Vietnam to 
tap into dynamic consumer trends. A decade of dedicated 
diversification efforts has started to reap benefits. While 
maintaining our brand leadership in our core markets, we have 
been able to power the growth and revenue contribution from 
our other Asian markets. I am confident that this growth trend 
through diversification will hold up in the coming years. 

Nurturing Our Brand Equity
At the core of Food Empire’s operations lies a steadfast 
dedication to nurturing and enhancing brand equity. This 
means creating products that resonate with consumers and 
imbuing those products with values, quality and reliability 
that elevate them above the competition. Through consistent 
efforts in marketing, product development, and customer 
engagement, our brands have established themselves as 
a leader in numerous key markets. It gives me immense 
pride that Food Empire made the list of Forbes Asia’s “Best 
Under A Billion 2023” for publicly traded companies for 
the third time. This prestigious award is a testament to the 
Group’s consistency in generating good returns despite the 
unprecedented volatility in the recent years.

The Group also garnered significant recognition on the global 
stage by securing prestigious awards at the 2023 International 
Annual Report Competition (ARC) Awards, in appreciation of 
our innovative annual reports. The Group garnered accolades 
in four different categories – Under the Beverage and Food 
Manufacturer classification, we clinched Gold for Cover Photo/
Design, Silver for Photography, Bronze for Traditional Annual 
Report, and Honours for Printing and Production. These awards 
recognise Food Empire’s commitment to being innovative 
while also ensuring effective and transparent communication 
with our stakeholders. 

Looking Out for Our Community and the Environment 
We recognise the increasing importance of upholding 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) policies, not just 
as a matter of compliance or reputation management, but as a 
fundamental aspect of responsible business practice that drives 
long-term sustainability and value creation. We have been 
focusing on building a sustainability-focused culture, including 
the rollout of ESG-related training for the staff, and supporting 
community-oriented programmes across the global operations. 
Additionally, the Group partook in several fundraising and CSR 
projects throughout the year with beneficiaries from different 
walks of life. 

We continuously seek ways to create shared value, enabling 
the Group to simultaneously drive economic success while 
positively impacting the societies and the environment in 
which we operate. Our long-term success will continue to be 
supported by this approach.

Outlook 
The world has recovered from a devastating pandemic only to 
enter an era of renewed and more pronounced geopolitical and 
macroeconomic challenges. 2024 is also a unique year where 
around half of the world’s population will be heading to the polls 
to elect their new leader, a period usually marked by populism and 
nationalism. These may result in more unpredictable business 
environment and currency volatility. On the other hand, we are 
witnessing the emergence of disruptive technologies and evolving 
consumption trends creating new business opportunities.

We remain focused on what we can control and will continue 
to plough resources to build a resilient business that can stand 
the test of time. Over the years, the Group has transformed itself 
mainly through organic efforts: building markets, developing 
new manufacturing capabilities and strengthening our brands, 
while looking for inorganic growth opportunities. We expect our 
efforts to intensify in the coming years.

Meanwhile, the Group is exploring ways to proactively engage 
the capital markets to address the disconnect between our 
business fundamentals and valuation. In October 2023, the 
Group announced plans to explore a dual primary listing in 
Hong Kong, and we will also explore other potential corporate 
actions to increase shareholder value.

Appreciation 
As I reflect on this year where we are beginning to reap the 
fruits of our labour, I would like to express my sincere gratitude 
to our management team and employees, whose hard work, 
passion, and resilience have been the driving force behind our 
achievements, as well as my Board of Directors, who delivered 
solid guidance and oversight to help the Group to steer through 
many challenges. A heartfelt thank you goes out to our loyal 
customers, partners, distributors and all other stakeholders 
for their unwavering support. Lastly, I would like to extend my 
gratitude to our shareholders for their steadfast trust in our 
business. Together, we will continue to overcome challenges, 
embrace opportunities, and forge a path towards an even 
brighter future.
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Dear Esteemed Shareholders, 

In 2023, Food Empire Holdings Limited (“Food 
Empire” or together with its subsidiaries, the 
“Group”), marked another record year of growth, 
braving multiple macroeconomic challenges. 
In the past decade, we have lived it all – armed 
conflicts, political showdowns, global financial 
turmoil, and to top it all, a pandemic. We have 
been tested every step of the way and I am proud 
to say that we stood strong. The Group’s mantra of 
resilience has never been louder and we hope to 
continue on this path going forward.

As we pause to look back at our achievements, we 
also take stock of the challenges we have overcome 
and the lessons we have learned along the way. We 
recognise the importance of staying true to our 
core values while adapting to the rapidly changing 
dynamics of the global market. 

A Decade of Evolution and Growth
Reflecting on our journey over the past decade, 
it is evident that Food Empire has undergone 
remarkable growth and transformation. Compared 
to FY2013, the Group’s revenue has increased over 
61.9% in the past 10 years, standing at a record high 
of US$425.7 million in FY2023. At the bottom line, 
net profit after tax has grown more than five-fold to 
US$56.5 million compared to FY2013. This is not the 
product of just one year’s effort, but the culmination 
of a decade’s hard work. 

We embarked on a bold journey to diversify our 
business, recognising the need to expand our 
horizons beyond our traditional markets and 
product lines. We have been placing the building 
blocks for this transformation for years and are 
starting to see tangible results. We operated in only 
three core segments in FY2013 with more than half 
of the revenue from the Group’s Russia segment. We 
forayed into Vietnam and Malaysia in the following 
years, which only made up a small portion of the 
revenue upon inception. In 2012, the Group also 
diversified its business into South Asia by building 
a spray-dried instant coffee plant in India and later 
building a second freeze-dried instant coffee plant, 
also in India, which commenced operations in 
2021. As of FY2023, the Group’s South-East Asia and 
South Asia markets comprise 35.4% of the revenue 
for the Group. 

Our strategy has been to maintain a leadership position 
in our core markets while pushing other markets to 
generate proportionally higher revenue, bolstering 
the growth of the entire Group over time. For example, 
we continue to be leaders in the instant coffee-mix 
category within the instant coffee space in Russia, 
Ukraine, CIS, and Central Asia, while also growing our 
presence in other segments. By continuing to invest 
in our brands, product innovation, and adapting to 
evolving consumer preferences, we will ensure that 
Food Empire is able to retain its leadership position 
in most of its operating regions. I am confident that 
our approach will continue to reap benefits and am 
excited to see us expand even further.
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We are always on 
the lookout for 
new opportunities 
to expand our 
business further and 
generate more value 
for our stakeholders.

MR SUDEEP NAIR
Group Chief Executive Officer  
and Executive Director

Financial Highlights and Outlook
It gave me immense pride to note that Food Empire reported 
record revenue in FY2023, the Group’s operating profit 
also grew by 34.6% to a record of US$70.9 million, with the 
highest-ever EBITDA of US$86.9 million. The Group registered 
higher volumes and/or higher average selling price in its core 
markets, demonstrating robust demand for its brands. For 
the year, while the Group’s Russia segment saw a decrease 
in revenue of 3.5% to US$143.3 million due to unfavourable 
exchange rate changes, the revenue has increased by a 
double-digit percentage in local currency term in FY2023. The 
Group’s revenue in Ukraine, Kazakhstan, and CIS increased 
by 21.1% to US$110.7 million in FY2023. The Group’s Vietnam 
market saw a recovery in sales volume after a year of post-
pandemic normalisation. The Group’s South Asia segment 
registered the highest growth percentage of 24.1% to US$49.1 
million in FY2023 driven by higher contribution from the 
Group’s freeze-dried instant coffee plant in India. Meanwhile, 
the Group’s South-East Asia market hit the 100-million-dollar 
mark reaching a high of US$101.6 million in FY2023. 

Today, we can proudly proclaim that three of our market 
segments have hit the US$100 million mark, which is a 
significant milestone for the Group. It is the resilience and 
adaptability of our business model, backed by strong brand 
equity and effective leadership that have helped us to 
overcome multiple business challenges.

The demand for the Group’s products is expected to remain 
strong across multiple geographies despite macroeconomic 
headwinds and volatility in raw material prices and exchange 
rates. In the Group’s South-East Asia segment, Vietnam is 
expected to show promising growth supported by targeted 
advertising and promotions and expansion plans to grow 
our business in Malaysia. In India, the Group’s spray-dried 
and freeze-dried coffee plants are operating at full capacity 
and are expected to continue to enjoy strong international 
demand. The pricing power of our brands continues to be 
supported by loyal consumers. As we look into the future, we 
will focus on enhancing our brand presence to make it even 
stronger. We are always on the lookout for new opportunities 
to expand our business further and generate more value for 
our stakeholders.

APPRECIATION 
Many stakeholders have stood with us in our pursuit of 
excellence and sustainable growth. I take this opportunity to 
thank every one of them including our business partners, 
shareholders, management team, and Board of Directors. 
I want to commend the tireless efforts and hard work of all 
our staff and colleagues. Here is to a decade of progress and 
powering success. We will continue to adapt, learn and strive 
to build a stronger business each year. 
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Food Empire Participated in ANUGA 2023 
After a four-year hiatus, Food Empire made a 
return to ANUGA 2023 – the world’s leading and 
largest trade fair for food and beverages. Various 
brands were showcased during the exhibition 
such as MacCoffee, Klassno, CaféPhố, MacTea, 
Hillway, Kracks, and many others. A total of 
140,000 industry visitors and 7,900 exhibitors 
from 200 countries visited the fair.

Hillway Bubble Tea 
Sampling Event in 
Bangkok, Thailand 
With an aim of increasing 
the awareness of one of our 
best-selling products, Hilllway 
Bubble Tea, we held a sampling 
event in Bangkok, Thailand. 
With fresh pearls that taste like 
your favourite bubble tea, you 
can enjoy this tasty bubble tea 
at your convenience anytime, 
anywhere!

Celebrating 10 Years Since the Official 
Launch of CaféPhố in Vietnam 
In March 2023, FES Vietnam Co. Ltd, a 
member of Food Empire Holdings Group 
(Singapore), celebrated the 10th Anniversary 
of the launch of MacCoffee CaféPhố in 
Vietnam. The brand recorded a huge growth 
rate as one of Vietnam’s most famous 
instant coffee brands, bringing more than 
1 billion cups of coffee to all provinces and 
cities nationwide. In addition, after 10 years 
of becoming a familiar brand, CaféPhố plans 
to go beyond the borders of Vietnam and 
conquer international customers.
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MacCoffee Sampling Events in Erbil and Kalar, Iraq
In February 2023, MacCoffee participated in the Coffee and Chocolate event held in Erbil, Iraq. The 
event drew over 3,000 attendees, and more than 300 MacCoffee products were sold. MacCoffee 
also joined the Kalar event in August 2023 - a bustling food festival in Iraq that drew in over 1,000 
attendees. During the event, MacCoffee successfully sold over 168 of its products, showcasing its 
popularity among festival-goers. 

Hillway Karak Chai Sampling Event 
in Dubai
We were invited to set up a booth for 
sampling event to showcase Hillway Karak 
Chai in March 2023. Both variants of Hillway 
Karak Chai such as Cardamom and Ginger 
Masala Tea were displayed, and around 500 
parents and students were there to taste 
and appreciate our Instant Karak Chai.
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Food Empire Supported Woodgrove 
Secondary School’s 24th Annual 
Speech Day Programme
Food Empire and its Executive Chairman, 
Mr Tan Wang Cheow, took part in 
Woodgrove Secondary School’s 24th Annual 
Speech Day. It is a very significant annual 
school event that aims to celebrate the 
achievements of both students and staff 
through various recognitions.

Food Empire Supported Dazhong Primary School’s Junior Orchestra Programme 
Food Empire supported the Junior Orchestra (JO) Programme at Dazhong Primary School, which aims 
to identify students who show an aptitude and interest in the performing art. Selected students will 
be invited to further develop their skills and deepen their passion through the JO programme. This 
programme helps to inspire students to share their love of music and to bring joy to the community.

Rebuilding the Lives of the 
Reformed Offenders with ISCOS & 
NeuGen 
In an effort to support and empower the 
lives of the reformed offenders and their 
families in Singapore, Food Empire was 
humbled to be one of the sponsors of the 
appreciation event held by ISCOS & NeuGen 
- organisations that provide holistic and 
empathetic support to reformed offenders, 
their children and families to prevent 
intergenerational offending.
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“Starry Night” Fundraising Event 
with Brands for Good to Support 
Extra•Ordinary People
On Friday, 1 December 2023, at Sky Garden Sentosa, 
Brands For Good and Food Empire organised 
“Starry Night” event to support Extra·Ordinary 
People in championing individuals with special 
needs. By supporting this event, we believe in 
creating a world where everyone’s abilities shine. 
Supporting this cause is not just about giving 
back - it’s about fostering inclusivity and making 
a meaningful impact in our community. 

Showing Care to the Elderly in Singapore
Food Empire’s headquarter office organised a 
monthly volunteering activity for the staff to 
visit and show care to the seniors in a nursing 
home last year. We hope this simple act will 
encourage social connection with the residents 
and encourage staff to have a caring heart for 
the community. More activities were planned 
to reach out to these seniors to alleviate their 
loneliness.

Tree-planting Activities in India 
and Vietnam Factories
As part of Food Empire’s commitment 
to protect the environment and 
communities where our employees 
live and work, tree-planting activities 
were undertaken by our Chairman, 
Mr Tan Wang Cheow, together with 
some of our colleagues and members 
of our Board of Directors. As a Group, 
we remain committed to making a 
difference and a long-lasting impact 
in the community.

Add more topics to your feed:

Investors NewsCorporate Social ResponsibilityOur BrandsVideo Campaigns Global Markets South Asia
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This section provides a broad overview of Food Empire’s 
progress and development in sustainability-related matters 
for FY2023. The scope of reporting is the Company’s 
operations in Singapore, Vietnam and Russia. Our report 
is prepared in accordance with the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited’s (SGX-ST) Listing Manual and with 
reference to the Global Reporting Initiatives (“GRI”) Standards 
2021. The Sustainability Report contains information for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023 and will be published 
as a standalone report in 2024. The Sustainability Report 2023 
should be read together with the Annual Report for a holistic 
picture of our business and performance. 

We recognise that managing the impacts of our operations 
is necessary to ensure that we continue focusing on our 
sustainability practices on the three focus areas – Principles, 
Planet and People. These focus areas have also been guiding 
us as part of our decision-making process. 

Through a re-assessment of the material topics via a review 
of the market landscape, peer benchmarking to sustainability 
practices and considering both internal and external 
stakeholder perspectives, we have included additional 
material topics, such as waste management, materials and 
workforce diversity in the Sustainability Report 2023. 

PLANET
We care about our 

PLANET. We strive to 
reduce our environmental 

(climate) impact and 
safeguard a future for all 

generations to come.

OUR OUR 
SUSTAINABILITY SUSTAINABILITY 

FOCUSFOCUSPRINCIPLES
We guide our purpose 

with PRINCIPLES.  
We are committed to 

conducting our business 
activities with the highest 

standards of integrity  
and accountability

PEOPLE
We are passionate about 
PEOPLE. We place great 

emphasis on creating a safe 
and inclusive workplace for 
our employees, as well as 
serving quality products  

for our customers.

In FY2023, our solar panels projects have 
been materialised and solar panels have 
been installed in the two factories in 
Malaysia. The solar panels began running at 
the end of August 2023 and have generated 
754 mega-watt hours (MWh) of energy 
within a quarter. 

We continue to contribute back to society by 
supporting charities and making donations 
to sponsor underprivileged children and 
youth. Full details of our other sustainability 
initiatives can be found in our Sustainability 
Report 2023.

Following our inaugural climate-related financial 
disclosures reported in our Sustainability Report 
2022, we continue with implementing Task 
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures 
(“TCFD”) recommendations progressively, by 
disclosing 11 recommended disclosures in the 
Sustainability Report 2023. As we witness the 
impact of climate change on our operations, we 
have increasingly considered environmental 
factors in our business decisions. We have been 
managing the impact of climate-related risks 
across our value chain through quantifying 
and monitoring Scope 1 and 2 Greenhouse Gas 
emissions. We will assess and determine other 
key climate-related metric going forward.

Installed solar panels on 
our factories in Malaysia 
which allowed us to deploy 
renewable energy and 
lower cost on electricity.

confirmed cases of corruption 

non-compliance with laws and 
regulations

work-related fatalities across 
our global operationsZ

ER
O

SUSTAINABILITY SNAPSHOTSSUSTAINABILITY SNAPSHOTS
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Food Empire Holdings Limited (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are committed to maintaining 
good corporate governance to enhance and protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders. The Company recognises 
the importance of practicing good corporate governance and supports the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “Code”). 
The Company has complied in all material respects with the principles and guidelines in the Code. Where there are deviations 
from the Code, appropriate explanations will be provided.

This report outlines the corporate governance framework and practices adopted by the Company with reference given to 
the principles of the Code.

A. BOARD MATTERS
– Principle 1: Effective Board to lead and control the Company

The principal functions of the Board are:

(1)	 supervising	the	Management	of	the	business	and	affairs	of	the	Group;

(2)	 approving	 Board	 policies,	 overall	 strategic	 plans,	 key	 operational	 initiatives,	 financial	 and	 human	 resources	
objectives	of	the	Group;	

(3)	 reviewing	and	monitoring	the	performance	and	rewarding	of	key	management;

(4)	 overseeing	the	processes	for	evaluating	the	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	internal	controls,	risk	management,	
financial	reporting	and	compliance;

(5)	 approving	the	nomination	of	the	Board	of	Directors	and	appointment	of	key	management	personnel;

(6)	 approving	annual	budgets,	major	funding,	investment	and	divestment	proposals;	and

(7) assuming responsibility for corporate governance.

The Board also plays an important role in setting the Company’s values and standards, establishing framework of 
prudent	and	effective	controls	and	engaging	with	stakeholder	groups	and	overseeing	the	sustainability	issues	of	the	
Group.

Each	member	of	the	Board	has	fiduciary	duty	to	discharge	his	or	her	duties	and	responsibilities	in	the	best	interest	of	
the Company at all times and to take into account the interests of key stakeholder groups in its decision making.

To	facilitate	effective	management,	the	Board	has	delegated	certain	functions	to	various	Board	Committees.	The	Board	
Committees	operate	under	clearly	defined	terms	of	reference.	The	Chairman	of	the	respective	committees	will	report	
to the Board the outcomes of the committee meetings. 

There are three Board Committees:

 – Audit Committee (“AC”)
 – Remuneration Committee (“RC”)
 – Nominating Committee (“NC”)

The Board approves transactions exceeding certain threshold limits set by the Board, while delegating authority for 
transactions below those limits to Board Committees and the Management via a structured Delegation of Authority 
matrix. This matrix is reviewed on a regular basis. The Board Committees and the Management remain accountable 
to	 the	Board.	Matters	which	 specifically	 require	 the	Board’s	 approval	 are	 those	 involving	 conflicts	of	 interests	of	 a	
substantial	shareholder	or	a	Director,	material	acquisitions	and	disposal	of	assets,	corporate	or	financial	restructuring	
and share issuances, dividends and other returns to shareholders. The Directors and the Group’s employees are 
also guided by The Food Empire Business Ethics and Code of Conduct and Employee Handbook, which prescribe the 
standards	of	ethical	behaviour.	Any	director	facing	conflicts	of	interests	will	recuse	himself	or	herself	from	discussions	
and	decisions	involving	the	issues	of	conflict.
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A. BOARD MATTERS (cont’d)
– Principle 1: Effective Board to lead and control the Company (cont’d)

The Board conducts scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened as and when circumstances 
require. Telephonic conference or video-conference via audio-visual communication at Board meetings are allowed 
under the Company’s Constitution.

The Non-Executive Directors (“NED”) and Independent NEDs (“INED”) always constructively challenge and help develop 
proposals on strategy and review Management’s performance in meeting agreed goals and objectives, and monitor the 
reporting of Management’s performance. Where necessary, NEDs and/or INEDs led by the Lead Independent Director 
(“Lead ID”) may meet amongst themselves without the presence of Management outside of Board meetings. 

The Board met at least 7 times a year (including Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General Meeting) and the 
attendance	of	the	Directors	at	meetings	of	the	Board	and	Board	Committees,	and	general	meetings	for	the	financial	
year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”) as well as the frequency of these meetings, are disclosed as follows:

Directors
Board 

Meeting
AC  

Meeting
NC  

Meeting
RC  

Meeting

Annual 
General 
Meeting

Extraordinary 
General 
Meeting

Tan Wang Cheow 5 N/A 1 N/A 1 1
Sudeep Nair 5 N/A N/A N/A 1 1
Tan Guek Ming 5 4 N/A 2 1 1
Koh Yew Hiap 5 4 N/A 2 1 1
Ong Kian Min 5 N/A 1 N/A 1 1
Saw Meng Tee 5 4 1 2 1 1
Tan Cher Liang 5 4 1 2 1 1
Adrian Chan Pengee 5 4 1 2 1 1
No. of Meetings Held in 2023 5 4 1 2 1 1

The Directors are appointed based on the strength of their skills and experience and potential to contribute to the 
Company.	The	current	Board	comprises	business	 leaders	and	professionals.	Profiles	of	 the	Directors	can	be	 found	
under the ‘Board of Directors’ section of this annual report. 

All new directors appointed on the Board, if any, will be provided with a formal letter of appointment and the Company 
has an orientation programme for new directors, the newly appointed directors are briefed on matters relating to 
the Group’s business activities, its strategic directions and policies, the regulatory environment in which the Group 
operates and the Company’s corporate governance practices. 

The	Company	will	also	arrange	for	first-time	directors,	if	any,	to	undergo	training	on	the	roles	and	responsibilities	as	
directors of a listed company organised by the Singapore Institute of Directors for an understanding of his legal and 
fiduciary	obligations	as	an	individual	and	of	the	Board	as	a	whole.	Briefings	by	the	Executive	Chairman,	Group	Chief	
Executive	Officer	(“Group CEO”),	Group	Chief	Financial	Officer	(“Group CFO”) and all the department heads will be done 
to familiarise the new directors with the Company’s business and operations.
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A. BOARD MATTERS (cont’d)
– Principle 1: Effective Board to lead and control the Company (cont’d)

The Management monitors changes to regulations and accounting standards. The Directors are briefed on the new 
updates in the requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Companies Act 1967 
(the “Act”) or other regulations/statutory requirements from time to time by external professionals such as the auditors, 
Company Secretary, or at seminars. If required, all Directors will receive further training. The Company is responsible 
for arranging and funding the training of Directors. As at the date of this report, all Directors attended the mandatory 
training on sustainability matters organised by SID as prescribed under Rule 720(7) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual.

The	Company	has	adopted	a	policy	that	Directors	are	welcome	to	request	further	explanations,	briefings	or	informal	
discussions on any aspects of the Group’s operations or business issues from Management. The NEDs and INEDs are 
briefed and updated on major developments and the progress of the Group at the Board meetings.

– Provision 1.6: Board members to have complete, adequate and timely information

In	order	to	ensure	that	the	Board	is	able	to	fulfil	its	responsibilities,	Management	provides	the	Board	members	with	
complete, adequate and timely information. The Management also provides quarterly updates of the latest developments 
in	the	Group,	financial	and	management	accounts,	operational	metrics,	audit	findings	and	risk	dashboard	and	reports	
and	other	financial	information.	

The Board is provided board papers and related materials with explanatory information such as facts, resources needed, 
risk	analysis	and	strategies,	financial	impact	and	expected	outcomes	and	recommendation	to	facilitate	discussion	and	
decision making before the Board and Board Committees’ meetings. Any material variance between any projections 
and the actual results of budgets are disclosed and explained to the Board. Employees who can provide additional 
insight into matters to be discussed will be present at the relevant time during the meetings.

The	Directors	have	been	provided	with	 the	contact	particulars	of	 the	Company’s	senior	management	staff	and	 the	
Company Secretary to facilitate access. The Directors also have separate and independent access to any external 
advisers (if necessary) at the Company’s expense. 

The Company Secretary or his representatives will attend Board and Board Committees’ meetings as required by the 
Board. They are responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that the Company has complied with 
the requirements of the Act and the SGX-ST Listing Manual. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary 
are subject to the Board’s approval.

The Directors are informed and are aware that they may take independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense, where necessary, in furtherance of their duties.

B. BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE
– Principle 2: Independent and diversity elements of the Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight Directors, three of whom are independent. The Board 
composition is as follows:

Mr Tan Wang Cheow Executive Chairman
Mr Sudeep Nair Group CEO and Executive Director (“ED”)
Mdm Tan Guek Ming NED
Mr Koh Yew Hiap NED
Mr Ong Kian Min NED
Mr Saw Meng Tee Lead ID
Mr Tan Cher Liang INED
Mr Adrian Chan Pengee INED
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B. BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE (cont’d)
– Principle 2: Independent and diversity elements of the Board (cont’d)

The core competencies of the Board members are as follows:

Directors

Accounting/ 
Finance/Business/ 

Management 
Experience Industry Knowledge Strategic Planning Law

Tan Wang Cheow
Sudeep Nair
Tan Guek Ming
Koh Yew Hiap
Ong Kian Min
Saw Meng Tee
Tan Cher Liang
Adrian Chan Pengee

The	Directors	 are	 professionals	 in	 their	 own	 fields	with	 industrial,	 financial	 and	 legal	 backgrounds.	 Together	 they	
provide the Group with a wealth of knowledge, expertise and experience to ensure the Group remains competitive and 
competent. The INEDs contribute their independent views and objective judgements on issues of strategy, business 
performance, resources and standards of conduct. 

The independence of each INED is assessed at least annually by the NC. Particular scrutiny is applied in assessing the 
continued	independence	of	Directors	having	served	beyond	nine	years	from	the	date	of	his	first	appointment.	

The Company has a Board Diversity Policy in place, which sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Company’s 
Board.	The	Company	recognises	and	embraces	 the	 importance	and	benefits	of	having	a	diverse	Board	 to	enhance	
the quality of its performance. It is accordingly committed to promoting diversity of the Board. The Board comprises 
one female Director and Directors with various skills, knowledge and experience, age groups, ethnicity and culture, 
geography and tenure. The Board, with the concurrence of the NC, is also of the view that the composition of the Board 
and the Board Committees, as a group, provides an appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience, ethnicity, 
gender, age and knowledge of the Group. No individual or group dominates the decision-making process of the Board 
and Board Committees. 

The Board is of the view that it has made good progress in achieving its objectives under the Board Diversity Policy of 
the Company. As part of the Board renewal process, the NC will review these objectives from time to time and may 
recommend changes or may recommend additional objectives to achieve greater diversity.

The NC is of the view that the current Board and Board Committees have the necessary competencies, skills and 
attributes to meet the Group’s targets and to respond to the demands facing the Group.
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B. BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE (cont’d)
– Principle 2: Independent and diversity elements of the Board (cont’d)

The NC is also of the view that the current Board size of eight Directors is appropriate, taking into account the nature 
and scope of the Company’s operations. The Company has a majority of NEDs on its Board. The Board is of the view 
that a Director’s independence cannot be determined arbitrarily with reference to set period of service. However, the 
NC recognises that the Board renewal process is of utmost importance. Having regard to the experience and leadership 
of the founder Chairman, Mr Tan Wang Cheow, it is in the best interest of the Company to maintain his executive 
chairmanship	in	the	Company	so	that	the	Board	could	have	the	benefit	of	a	Chairman	who	is	knowledgeable	about	the	
business of the Group, which he founded and is capable to guide and watch over the best interests of the Company. 
The Company will continue its searches for candidates for appointment as new INED to ensure that there is a majority 
of INEDs on the board where the founder Chairman, Mr Tan, is not an Independent Director (“ID”) as required by 
Provision 2.2 of the Code. The NC will continue to monitor the progress of the Board renewal, also taking into account 
the	commitment,	experience	and	invaluable	advice	each	Director	offers	when	deciding	on	the	board	renewal	in	the	
interest of a smooth transition, and the Company will announce the reconstitution of its Board membership to SGX-ST 
at the appropriate time.

C. CHAIRMAN AND GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
– Principle 3: Clear division of responsibilities at the top of the Company

The roles of the Executive Chairman and Group CEO are separate to ensure a clear division of responsibilities, balance 
of power, increase accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision-making. The Executive 
Chairman and the Group CEO do not have any familial relationship with each other. 

The Executive Chairman, Mr Tan Wang Cheow, is the founder of the Company and he is primarily responsible for 
overseeing the Group’s strategies, which includes developing new markets and exploring opportunities for acquisitions. 

The	Group	CEO,	Mr	Sudeep	Nair,	is	responsible	for	the	Group’s	diversification	and	growth	strategy	including	overall	
oversight of the day-to-day operations. His roles include geographical expansion of business as well as identifying new 
businesses and merger and acquisition opportunities for the Group. Mr Nair has over 30 years of experience in building 
and managing the Group’s business.

In addition, the Executive Chairman has responsibility for the workings of the Board and ensuring the integrity and 
effectiveness	of	its	governance	processes.	The	Executive	Chairman	is	also	responsible	for	representing	the	Board	to	
shareholders, ensuring that Board meetings are held when necessary, setting the Board meeting agendas and ensuring 
that the Board members are provided with adequate and timely information. He promotes high standards of corporate 
governance	and	open	environment	for	debate	and	ensures	that	NEDs	are	able	to	speak	freely	and	contribute	effectively.	
Regular meetings are scheduled to enable the Board to perform its duties and agendas are prepared in consultation 
with Management as well as the Company Secretary. At the AGM and other shareholders’ meetings, the Executive 
Chairman plays a pivotal role in fostering constructive dialogue between shareholders, key stakeholder groups, the 
Board and Management.

The Lead ID, Mr Saw Meng Tee, shall be available to shareholders where they have concerns and for which contact 
through the normal channels of the Executive Chairman or Management are inappropriate or inadequate. He shall also 
represent the INEDs in responding to shareholders’ questions and comments that are directed to the INEDs as a group 
at any general meetings of the Company.

The Lead ID may call for meetings of the INEDs as and when necessary and provides feedback to the Executive Chairman 
after such meetings. 

In carrying out their duties, the Executive Chairman, Group CEO and Lead ID are also guided by the Company’s Terms 
of Reference of the Executive Chairman, Group CEO and Lead ID.
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D. BOARD MEMBERSHIP
– Principle 4: Formal and transparent process of appointment of new Directors

The NC comprises:

Mr Tan Cher Liang (Chairman)
Mr Tan Wang Cheow
Mr Ong Kian Min
Mr Saw Meng Tee
Mr Adrian Chan Pengee

The NC has a majority of INEDs including the NC Chairman.

The scope and responsibilities of the NC include:

(1) identifying candidates and reviewing all nominations for all appointments and re-appointments to the Board of 
Directors, including making recommendations on the composition of the Board and balance between EDs, NEDs 
and	INEDs;

(2)	 reviewing	the	Board	structure,	size,	diversity	and	composition;

(3)	 reviewing	the	strength	and	attributes	of	the	existing	Directors	including	assessing	the	effectiveness	of	the	Board	
and	Board	Committees	and	the	contribution	by	individual	Directors;

(4)	 reviewing	the	independence	of	Directors	annually;

(5)	 considering	and	making	recommendations	on	nominations	of	Directors	retiring	by	rotation;

(6) reviewing Board succession plans for Directors, in particular the Executive Chairman, the Group CEO and key 
management	personnel;

(7) making recommendations to the Board on comprehensive training and professional development programmes 
for	the	Board;	and

(8) deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has adequately carried out his or her duties as a Director of the 
Company, particularly when they have multiple Board representations.

Dates of last re-election/re-appointment

Directors Date of last re-election/re-appointment

Tan Wang Cheow 22 April 2022
Sudeep Nair 25 April 2023
Tan Guek Ming 25 April 2023
Koh Yew Hiap 22 April 2022
Ong Kian Min 26 April 2021
Tan Cher Liang 26 April 2021
Saw Meng Tee 25 April 2023
Adrian Chan Pengee 22 April 2022

The Board has in place a succession planning policy for key management personnel. The NC also reviews succession 
and development plans for key management personnel, which will be subsequently approved by the Board.

The NC has reviewed the multiple-board seats held by the Directors to determine if they had been adequately carrying 
out their duties as a Director of the Company. Though some of the Directors have multiple board representations, the 
NC	is	satisfied	that	the	Directors	have	devoted	sufficient	time	and	attention	to	the	Company.	The	Board	determined	
that it is not necessary to set the maximum number of listed board representations that any Director may hold as all 
the	Directors	are	able	to	devote	time	to	the	Company’s	affairs	despite	their	other	commitments.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT



Food Empire Annual Report 2023 27

D. BOARD MEMBERSHIP (cont’d)
– Principle 4: Formal and transparent process of appointment of new Directors (cont’d)

The listed company directorships and principal commitments of each Director as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name of Director Directorships in Other Listed Companies Other Principal Commitments

Tan Wang Cheow Nil Food Empire Holdings Ltd Group of companies  
– Executive Chairman

Sudeep Nair Nil Food Empire Holdings Ltd Group of companies  
– Group CEO & ED

Tan Guek Ming Nil Nil

Koh Yew Hiap Nil Universal Integrated Corporation Consumer Products Pte Ltd 
Group of companies 
– Director/Managing Director

Great Orient Chemicals (Taicang) Co., Ltd  
– Director

Ong Kian Min YHI International Limited  
– INED

Silverlake Axis Ltd  
– INED

OUE REIT Management Pte Ltd  
(As Manager of OUE REIT (listed))  
– INED

Nil

Tan Cher Liang Vibrant Group Limited  
– Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Kingsmen Creatives Limited  
– INED

Wilton Resources Corporation Ltd  
– INED

Jumbo Group Limited  
– Independent Non-Executive Chairman

IPC Corporation Limited  
– INED

Kwan Im Thong Hood Cho Temple  
– Trustee

D S Lee Foundation  
– Director

EtonHouse Community Fund Ltd  
– Director

Saw Meng Tee Nil EisnerAmper PAC – Managing Partner

Adrian Chan Pengee Hong Fok Corporation Limited  
– Independent Non-Executive Chairman

First Reit Management Limited  
(As Manager of First REIT (listed))  
– Lead ID

Best World International Limited  
– INED

Keppel Infrastructure Fund Management Pte Ltd  
(As Trustee-Manager of Keppel Infrastructure Trust (listed))  
– INED

Lee & Lee  
– Head of Corporate & Senior Partner

Shared Services For Charities Limited  
– Director

Azalea Asset Management Pte Ltd  
– Director

Singapore Institute of Directors  
– Vice-Chairman

Association of Small & Medium Enterprises  
– Honorary Secretary

Legal Service Commission  
– Member

Singapore Management University’s Enterprise Board  
– Member
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D. BOARD MEMBERSHIP (cont’d)
– Principle 4: Formal and transparent process of appointment of new Directors (cont’d)

The Board renewal is an ongoing process and the NC is responsible for identifying and recommending new Board 
members, after considering the necessary and desirable competencies. In its search and selection process for new 
directors, the NC considers the attributes including the diversity of skills (such as legal background), knowledge and 
experience (including experience in manufacturing and food business) on the Board. Other considerations include, 
but are not limited to background, gender, age, and ethnicity. The short-listed candidates would be required to 
furnish	their	curricula	vitae	stating	in	detail	their	qualification,	working	experience,	employment	history,	in	addition	to	
completing certain prescribed forms to enable the NC to assess the candidate’s independence status and compliance 
with the Company’s established internal guidelines. Thereafter, the NC will interview the candidates and make its 
recommendation to the Board for approval. In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, the new director will hold 
office	until	the	next	AGM	and,	if	eligible,	can	stand	for	re-election.

The NC may tap on its networking contacts and/or engage external search consultants to undertake research on, or 
to assess a candidate for new positions on the Board. The NC can engage other independent experts if necessary, to 
help it carry out its duties and responsibilities. Recommendations for new Board members are put to the Board for its 
consideration.

The Company does not have any alternate director on its Board.

E. BOARD PERFORMANCE
– Principle 5: Formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board, Board Committees and contributions of each Director

The	NC	has	formulated	an	evaluation	process	for	assessing	the	effectiveness	of	the	Board	and	Board	Committees	and	
the contributions of each Director. The assessment parameters include:

(a)	 attendance	at	Board	and	Board	Committees’	meetings;	

(b) participation in meetings and special contributions including Management’s access to the Director for guidance or 
exchange	of	views	outside	the	formal	environment	of	Board	meetings;	

(c)	 introducing	contacts	of	strategic	benefit	to	the	Group;	and

(d) progress of implementation of the board diversity policy.

The Board’s evaluation process is performed annually whereby questionnaires were sent by the external company 
secretarial agent to the Directors and the results of the evaluation were tabled to the NC for deliberation. The results 
of the performance evaluation showed that the overall performance of the Board, Board Committees and contribution 
of the individual Directors were in the categories of “consistently good”. The Chairman of the NC reported the results of 
the	evaluation	and	recommended	areas	for	improvement	to	the	Board	Chairman.	The	NC	and	the	Board	were	satisfied	
with the overall performance in FY2023.
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F. REMUNERATION MATTERS
– Principle 6: Formal and transparent procedure for fixing remuneration packages of Directors and key 

management personnel
– Principle 7: Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel should be appropriate but not excessive
– Principle 8: Remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration and procedure for setting remuneration

The RC comprises:

Mr Adrian Chan Pengee (Chairman)
Mdm Tan Guek Ming
Mr Koh Yew Hiap
Mr Tan Cher Liang
Mr Saw Meng Tee

All	five	members	of	the	RC	are	NEDs.	The	RC	has	a	majority	of	INEDs	including	the	RC	Chairman.	

The RC’s main responsibility is to review and recommend a framework of remuneration for the Board members and key 
executives of the Group that is appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation. The 
objective is to motivate and retain executives, link rewards to corporate and individual performance, attract the best 
talent in order to maximise shareholder value and align with the interest of other key stakeholders of the Company.

The remuneration of the EDs is based on service agreements signed upon their appointments. The service agreements 
will continue unless otherwise terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing. Under 
the	service	agreements,	the	EDs	are	entitled	to	a	share	of	profits	on	the	Group’s	profit	after	tax,	on	top	of	the	monthly	
salary and bonus. The remuneration of the EDs are not subject to shareholders’ approval.

The	NEDs	and	INEDs	receive	directors’	fees	determined	based	on	factors	such	as	duties	and	responsibilities,	effort	and	
time	spent	for	serving	on	the	Board	and	Board	Committees.	The	aggregate	directors’	fees	are	subject	to	final	approval	
by the shareholders at the AGM.

NEDs with additional duties as members or Chairman of Board Committees are remunerated based on the Directors’ 
Fee Structure. In FY2023, the NEDs were paid a basic yearly retainer fee of S$53,426 for their appointment as members 
of the Board. 

The Chairman of the AC was paid an annual fee of S$26,994 while the Chairman of the NC and RC was paid an annual 
fee of S$13,497 respectively. The members of the AC were paid annual fees of S$13,497 each while the members of NC 
and RC were paid annual fees of S$6,748 respectively. The additional fee paid to a director who acts as the Lead ID was 
S$2,249. Non-INEDs were paid an all-in annual fee of S$13,497 for their appointment as members of the AC, NC and RC 
respectively. EDs are not entitled to director’s fee.

On 22 April 2022, the Company had obtained its shareholders’ approval for the adoption of two new share schemes, 
Food Empire Holdings Limited Employee Share Option Scheme (“2022 Option Scheme”) and Food Empire Holdings 
Limited Performance Share Plan (“2022 Award Plan”).

The 2022 Option Scheme applies to eligible employees and Directors of the Group, other than the Controlling 
shareholders who are not Directors or employees. The participation of Directors who are Controlling shareholders, 
associates of Controlling shareholders or nominated by the Controlling shareholders of the Group in the 2022 Option 
Scheme is subject to independent shareholders’ approval. Additional information on the previous and current share 
option schemes can be found on pages 46 to 50 and 112 to 116 of the annual report.

The 2022 Award Plan applies to eligible employees and Directors of the Group, other than the Group NEDs (including IDs). 
Controlling Shareholders and their Associates are not eligible to participate in the 2022 Award Plan. Additional information 
on the 2022 Award Plan can be found on pages 51 and 116 to 117 of the annual report.
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F. REMUNERATION MATTERS (cont’d)
– Principle 6: Formal and transparent procedure for fixing remuneration packages of Directors and key 

management personnel (cont’d)
– Principle 7: Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel should be appropriate but not excessive (cont’d)
– Principle 8: Remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration and procedure for setting remuneration (cont’d)

Although the Code recommends the disclosure of amounts and breakdown of remuneration of each individual Director, 
Group	CEO	and	top	five	key	management	personnel	on	a	named	basis,	the	Board	has	decided	not	to	adopt	this	practice	
because it is of the view that such disclosure may be detrimental to the Group’s interest as it may lead to poaching of 
executives within a highly competitive industry and may compromise the personal safety of the individuals concerned 
as	they	travel	to	or	work	within	some	emerging	markets.	 It	also	wishes	to	maintain	confidentiality	of	remuneration	
within	the	Group	for	more	harmonious	and	effective	human	resources	management	and	deployment	of	executives	
across the many countries the Group operates in. 

The	aggregate	total	remuneration	paid	to	the	top	five	key	management	personnel	(who	are	not	the	Directors	or	the	
Group CEO) was S$5,442,990 in FY2023.

The	Company	has	 implemented	the	clawback	provision	for	 its	key	office	holders.	The	clawback	will	be	triggered	by	
events	such	as	material	violation	of	risk	limits,	misstatement	of	financial	results,	misconduct	or	fraud.

The Company engages external remuneration consultant to advise the Board on remuneration matters from time to 
time. In FY2023, an independent external consultant, Asia Rem LLP has provided professional advice related to the 
performance share plan for the Company. The consultant is not related to the Company or any of its Directors. In its 
deliberations, the RC also took into consideration industry practices and norms in compensation.

The breakdown of the remuneration of the INEDs and NEDs for FY2023 is set out in the table below:

Name of Director Base/Fixed Salary

Variable/
Performance-

related Income/
Bonuses Directors’ Fees Benefits in Kind

(S$) (S$) (S$) (S$)

Mr Saw Meng Tee – – $96,166 –
Mr Tan Cher Liang – – $87,168 –
Mr Adrian Chan Pengee – – $87,168 –
Mdm Tan Guek Ming – – $66,923 –
Mr Koh Yew Hiap – – $66,923 –
Mr Ong Kian Min – – $66,923 –

The remuneration of the Directors for FY2023 is shown below:-

Remuneration Bands No. of Directors in Remuneration Bands

S$3,500,000 to S$3,999,999 1
S$3,250,000 to S$3,499,999 1
Below S$250,000 6

Note: There were 8 directors in FY2023.
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F. REMUNERATION MATTERS (cont’d)
– Principle 6: Formal and transparent procedure for fixing remuneration packages of Directors and key 

management personnel (cont’d)
– Principle 7: Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel should be appropriate but not excessive (cont’d)
– Principle 8: Remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration and procedure for setting remuneration (cont’d)

Remuneration Bands Remuneration of top five key management personnel

S$1,750,000 to S$1,999,999 1
S$1,500,000 to S$1,749,999 0
S$1,250,000 to S$1,499,999 1
S$1,000,000 to S$1,249,999 0 
S$750,000 to S$999,999 1 
S$500,000 to S$749,999 2
S$250,000 to S$499,999 0

To	maintain	confidentiality	of	remuneration,	the	names,	amounts	and	breakdown	of	remuneration	of	the	EDs	and	the	
top	five	key	executives	are	not	stated.	

There are no employees who are substantial shareholders of the Company or immediate family members of a Director 
or the Group CEO or a substantial shareholder whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000 during FY2023.

The RC and the Board are of the view that the level and structure of remuneration of the Directors and key management 
personnel are aligned with the long-term interests and risk management policies of the Company.

The	Board	believes	that	the	remuneration	information	disclosed	is	sufficient	for	shareholders	to		 have	 an	 adequate	
appreciation	of	the	remuneration	of	the	Directors,	Group	CEO	and	top	five	key	management	personnel.

The	Board	also	believes	that	there	is	sufficient	transparency	on	the	Company’s	remuneration	policies,	level	and	mix	of	
remuneration, the procedures for setting remuneration and the relationships between remuneration performance and 
value creation are consistent with the intent of Principle 8.1 of the Code.

Singapore Exchange Regulation (SGX RegCo) has recently amended the Main Board Listing Rule on remuneration 
disclosures	and	this	amendment	will	take	effect	for	annual	reports	prepared	for	financial	year	ending	on	or	after	31	
December 2024, where the Company is required to disclose the exact amount and breakdown of remuneration paid 
to each individual director and the CEO by the Company and its subsidiaries (if any) in the 2024 annual report. The 
Company	will	make	the	appropriate	disclosures	when	the	new	Main	Board	Listing	Rule	1207(10D)	takes	effect.

G. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
– Principle 9: Sound systems of risk management and internal controls

The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the Management of the Group is accountable to the Board. The 
Board is committed to providing timely information to the shareholders and the public with a balanced, clear and 
understandable	assessment	of	the	Group’s	financial	updates,	position	and	prospects	on	a	quarterly	basis.	

The Company believes that presenting a balanced view of the Company’s performance, position and prospects is 
imperative	to	maintaining	shareholders’	confidence	and	trust.	

The Management provides quarterly management reports to the Board members and also presents to the Board the 
Group’s quarterly and full year accounts and the AC reports on the results for review and approval. In compliance with 
the SGX-ST’s requirement for half yearly reporting, the Board approves the half year and full results and authorises the 
release of the results to SGX-ST and the public via SGXNet.

The Board also reviews legislation and regulatory compliance reports from the Management to ensure that the Group 
complies with relevant statutory reporting requirements.
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G. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (cont’d)
– Principle 9: Sound systems of risk management and internal controls (cont’d)

The Board is also responsible for the governance of risk and sets the tone and direction for the Group in the way risks 
are managed in the Group’s businesses. The Board has ultimate responsibility for approving the strategy of the Group 
in a manner which addresses key stakeholders’ expectations and does not expose the Group to an unacceptable level 
of risk.

The Board approves the key risk management policies and ensures a sound system of risk management and internal 
controls and monitors performance against them. In addition to determining the approach to risk governance, the 
Board	sets	and	instils	the	right	risk	focused	culture	throughout	the	Group	for	effective	risk	governance.

The	Board	has	approved	a	Group	Risk	Management	Framework	for	the	identification	of	key	risks	within	the	business	
which	is	aligned	with	the	ISO	31000:2018	Risk	Management	framework.	To	enhance	the	effectiveness	of	the	enterprise	
risk management (“ERM”) framework, the Group implemented Orion ERM system, a third-party software that automates 
the risk management, internal control and assurance functions and enables these functions to be managed on an 
integrated platform.

The AC oversees risk governance which includes the following roles and responsibilities: 

(1)	 proposes	the	risk	governance	approach	and	risk	policies	for	the	Group	to	the	Board;

(2)	 reviews	the	risk	management	methodology	adopted	by	the	Group;

(3)	 reviews	 the	 strategic,	 financial,	 operational,	 regulatory,	 compliance,	 information	 technology	 (“IT”) and other 
emerging	risks	relevant	to	the	Group	identified	by	Management;	and

(4) reviews Management’s assessment of risks and Management’s action plans to mitigate such risks.

The AC assumed the function of the Board risk committee to oversee the Group’s ERM framework and policies.

Management	 presented	 an	 annual	 assurance	 report	 to	 the	AC	 and	 the	Board	 on	 the	Group’s	 risk	 profile,	 the	 risk	
mitigation action plans and the results of various assurance activities carried out on the adequacy of Group’s internal 
controls	 including	financial,	operational,	compliance	and	IT	controls	and	risk	management	systems.	Such	assurance	
activities include control self-assessments performed by Management, internal, external audits and external 
certifications	conducted	by	various	external	professional	service	firms.

The	Board	has	obtained	a	written	confirmation	from	the	Executive	Chairman,	Group	CEO	and	Group	CFO	that:

(1)	 the	financial	records	have	been	properly	maintained	and	the	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	
Group’s	operations	and	finances;	and

(2)	 the	Group	maintains	effective	and	adequate	risk	management	and	internal	control	systems.

The Executive Chairman, Group CEO and Group CFO have obtained assurances from the respective risk and control 
owners.

Based on the risk management framework and internal controls established and maintained by the Group, works 
performed	 by	 the	 internal,	 external	 auditors	 and	 external	 certification	 firms	 and	 annual	 reviews	 performed	 by	
Management,	various	Board	Committees	and	the	Board,	the	Board	(with	the	concurrence	of	the	AC)	is	satisfied	that	the	
Group’s	risk	management	and	internal	control	systems	addressing	financial,	operational,	compliance	and	IT	risks,	were	
adequate	and	effective	as	at	31	December	2023.
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G. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (cont’d)
– Principle 9: Sound systems of risk management and internal controls (cont’d)

The Board and the AC are also responsible for (a) monitoring the Company’s risk of becoming subject to, or violating, 
any	Sanction	Law;	and	(b)	ensuring	timely	and	accurate	disclosures	to	SGX-ST	and	other	relevant	authorities.	

The	Group	has	in	place	adequate	and	effective	internal	controls	to	monitor,	address	and	mitigate	sanction	related	risks.	
The Company will continue to monitor all markets and update shareholders on any material impact of such risk on the 
financials	and	operations	of	the	Group,	if	any,	and	also	the	cessation	of	sanctions-related	risk	via	announcement	to	
SGXNet.

The Board notes that system of internal controls and risk management established by the Company provides 
reasonable,	but	not	absolute,	assurance	 that	 the	Company	will	not	be	adversely	affected	by	any	event	 that	can	be	
reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its business objectives. However, the Board also notes that no system of 
internal controls and risk management can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor 
judgement in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

H. AUDIT COMMITTEE
– Principle 10: Establishment of AC with written terms of reference

The AC comprises:

Mr Saw Meng Tee (Chairman)
Mdm Tan Guek Ming
Mr Tan Cher Liang
Mr Koh Yew Hiap
Mr Adrian Chan Pengee

All	five	members	of	the	AC	are	NEDs.	The	AC	has	a	majority	of	INEDs,	including	the	AC	Chairman.	The	AC	members	
including	 the	 AC	 Chairman	 have	 recent	 and	 relevant	 accounting	 or	 related	 financial	 management	 expertise	 or	
experience.

None of the AC members were previous partners or directors of the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young LLP 
(“EY” or “External Auditors”),	within	a	period	of	two	(2)	years	or	hold	any	financial	interest	in	EY.

During the year, the AC carried out its functions in accordance with its written terms of reference.

The AC meets with Management and/or the auditors of the Group on a regular basis to discuss and review:

(a) the audit plan of the External Auditors of the Group, the results of their examination and evaluation of the Group’s 
systems	of	internal	accounting	controls,	their	independence	and	the	non-audit	services	provided	by	them;

(b)	 risk	or	exposure	that	exists	and	the	steps	Management	has	taken	to	minimise	these	risks	to	the	Group;

(c)	 the	Group’s	financial	results	for	submission	to	the	Board;

(d)	 the	assistance	given	by	the	Group’s	officers	to	the	External	Auditors;

(e)	 the	remuneration	and	terms	of	engagement	of	the	External	Auditors;

(f) the re-appointment or removal of the External Auditors and recommend it to the Board for obtaining approval 
from	the	shareholders;

(g)	 the	Group’s	interested	person	transactions	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	the	SGX-ST	Listing	Manual;

(h)	 the	assurance	from	the	Executive	Chairman,	Group	CEO	and	Group	CFO	on	the	financial	records	and	financial	
statements;
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H. AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont’d)
– Principle 10: Establishment of AC with written terms of reference (cont’d)

(i)	 the	significant	financial	reporting	issues	and	judgements	so	as	to	ensure	integrity	of	the	financial	statements	and	
financial	results	announcements	relating	to	the	financial	performance	of	the	Company;

(j)	 the	financial	statements	of	 the	Company	and	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	 the	Group	before	their	
submission	to	the	Board	of	Directors	and	the	External	Auditors’	report	on	those	financial	statements;	

(k)	 the	 adequacy	 and	 effectiveness	 of	 the	 Group’s	 material	 internal	 controls,	 including	 financial,	 operational,	
compliance and IT controls as well as sanction-related risk controls and risk management systems via reviews 
carried	out	by	the	internal	auditors;

(l)	 the	audit	plans	of	the	internal	auditors;	

(m)	 the	results	of	their	internal	audit;	and

(n)	 the	 independence,	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	 the	external	audit	 results	and	 internal	audit	 function	of	 the	
Group.

Apart	from	the	duties	listed	above,	the	AC	has	the	authority	to	commission	and	review	the	findings	of	internal	investigations	
into any matter where there is suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any law, rule 
or	regulation	which	has	or	is	likely	to	have	a	material	impact	on	the	Group’s	operating	results	or	financial	position.

In performing its functions, the AC has:

(a) full access to and co-operation from the Management and has full discretion to invite any Director and executive 
officer	to	attend	its	meetings;	

(b)	 been	given	reasonable	resources	to	enable	it	to	discharge	its	duties	and	responsibilities	properly;	and

(c) the express authority to conduct investigation into any matters within its terms of reference.

During FY2023, the AC held four meetings. The AC meets with the External Auditors without the presence of Management 
at least once annually.

The AC has reviewed the internal procedures set up by the Company to identify and report, and where necessary, seek 
approval for interested person transactions to ensure they are fair and reasonable and on arm’s length basis, and with 
the assistance of the Management, reviewed interested person transactions. The AC is of the opinion that the internal 
procedures have been complied with.

The	 External	 Auditors	 provided	 regular	 updates	 and	 periodic	 briefings	 to	 the	 AC	 on	 changes	 or	 amendments	 to	
accounting standards to enable the members of the AC to keep abreast of such changes and its corresponding impact 
on	the	financial	statements,	if	any.

The total fees paid to EY (including overseas EY entities) for FY2023 are as disclosed in the table below:

US$’000 % of total audit fees

Audit Fees 325 77.8
Non-Audit Fees 93 22.2
Total Fees Paid 418 100.0
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H. AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont’d)
– Principle 10: Establishment of AC with written terms of reference (cont’d)

The	AC	has	reviewed	the	non-audit	services	provided	by	the	External	Auditors	and	is	satisfied	with	the	independence	
of the External Auditors.

Different	auditors	have	been	appointed	 for	some	of	 the	overseas	subsidiaries.	The	names	of	 these	audit	firms	are	
disclosed	under	Note	[15]	of	the	financial	statements.	This	matter	has	been	reviewed	by	the	AC	and	the	Board	and	both	
are	satisfied	that	these	appointments	did	not	compromise	the	standard	and	effectiveness	of	the	audit	of	the	Group.

The Group has complied with Rules 712 and 716 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual in relation to its external auditors.

The AC has recommended to the Board that EY be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming AGM 
of the Company.

The	AC	has	established	the	Whistle-blowing	policy	where	staff	of	the	Group	may,	in	confidence,	raise	concerns	about	
possible	improprieties	in	matters	of	financials	that	might	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Group,	such	as	actions	that	
may	lead	to	incorrect	financial	reporting,	unlawful	and/or	otherwise	amount	to	serious	improper	conduct	according	
to Company policy. The AC is responsible for oversight and monitoring of any whistleblowing incident. The Company 
ensures	the	identity	of	the	whistleblower	is	kept	confidential	and	will	provide	protection	to	the	whistleblower	against	
detrimental or unfair treatment.

Significant financial statement reporting matters

In	the	review	of	the	Company’s	financial	statements	for	FY2023,	the	AC	considered	a	number	of	significant	matters	and	
has discussed with Management the accounting principles that were applied and their judgement of items that might 
affect	the	financial	statements.	

The	following	key	audit	matters	impacting	the	financial	statements	were	discussed	with	Management	and	the	External	
Auditor of the Company and were reviewed by the AC:

Significant matters How the AC reviewed these matters

1. Revenue  
recognition

The AC reviewed Management’s approach and assessment of the internal controls over the 
recognition	of	 revenue.	 The	AC	was	 satisfied	 that	Management’s	 approach	and	assessment	of	
internal controls over revenue recognition were appropriate. 

Please refer to pages 53 to 54 of the External Auditors’ report and Note 2.20 (Material accounting 
policy	information),	Note	3.2c	(Significant	accounting	estimates	and	judgements)	and	Note	4	(Note	
on	Revenue)	of	the	financial	statements	for	further	details.

2. Recoverability  
of trade  
receivables

The AC considered Management’s approach and methodology used in the evaluation of the 
Group’s trade receivables for impairment. The Group determines expected credit losses for 
trade	receivables	by	making	debtor-specific	assessment	for	credit-impaired	debtors	and	using	
provision	 matrix	 method	 for	 outstanding	 trade	 receivables.	 The	 AC	 was	 satisfied	 that	 the	
approach and methodology used by Management in the process was appropriate.

Please refer to page 54 of the External Auditors’ report and Note 2.13 (Material accounting 
policy	information),	Note	3.2b	(Significant	accounting	estimates	and	judgements)	and	Note	23	
(Note	on	Trade	Receivables)	of	the	financial	statements	for	further	details.

3. Impairment  
assessment  
of intangible  
assets

The AC considered Management’s approach and methodology applied to the valuation model in 
impairment assessment of the Group’s intangible assets, including the key assumptions for growth 
rates,	cash-flow	expectations	and	the	discount	rates	used.	The	AC	was	satisfied	that	the	approach	
and methodology in the impairment assessment used by Management were appropriate.

Please refer to page 55 of the External Auditors’ report and Note 2.12 (Material accounting 
policy	information),	Note	3.2a	(Significant	accounting	estimates	and	judgements)	and	Note	17	
(Note	on	Intangible	Assets)	of	the	financial	statements	for	further	details.
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H. AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont’d)
– Principle 10.4: Internal audit function

The	 Group	 outsources	 its	 internal	 audit	 function	 to	 a	 professional	 service	 firm,	 Yang	 Lee	 &	 Associates	 (“YLA” or 
“Internal Auditor”).	 YLA	 is	 a	professional	 services	firm	 that	 specialises	 in	 the	provision	of	 internal	 audit,	 ERM	and	
sustainability	 reporting	advisory	services.	The	firm	was	set	up	 in	year	2005	and	currently	maintains	an	outsourced	
internal audit portfolio of SGX-ST listed companies in distribution, manufacturing, services, food & beverage and 
property development industries. The Internal Auditor is guided by the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing (IIA Standards) issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors. YLA is a corporate member of 
the	Institute	of	Internal	Auditors	Singapore	and	is	staffed	with	professionals	with	knowledge	and	experience	in	internal	
audit, risk management and other relevant disciplines.

The	 Internal	Auditor	 reports	directly	 to	 the	AC	and	 internal	control	weaknesses	 identified	during	 the	 internal	audit	
reviews and the recommended corrective actions are reported to the AC periodically. The AC approves the hiring, 
removal, evaluation and compensation to the Internal Auditor. The Internal Auditor has unfettered access to all the 
Group’s documents, records, properties and personnel, including access to the AC.

The	AC	 reviews	 and	 approves	 the	 internal	 audit	 scope	 and	plan	 to	 ensure	 that	 there	 is	 sufficient	 coverage	 of	 the	
Group’s activities. It also oversees the implementation of the internal audit plan and ensures the Internal Auditor has 
appropriate standing and that Management provides the necessary co-operation and adequate resources to enable 
the Internal Auditor to perform its function. 

The Internal Auditor completed two reviews during FY2023 in accordance with the internal control testing plan developed 
and	approved	by	the	Board	under	the	Group’s	risk	management	framework.	The	findings	and	recommendations	of	the	
Internal Auditor, Management’s responses, and Management’s implementation of the recommendations have been 
reviewed and discussed with the AC.

The	AC	reviewed	and	confirmed	that	YLA	is	a	suitable	professional	service	firm	to	meet	the	Company’s	internal	audit	
obligations,	having	regard	to	the	adequacy	of	resources,	independence	and	experience	of	the	firm	and	the	assigned	
engagement	director,	number	and	experience	of	supervisory	and	professional	staff	assigned	to	internal	audits.

The AC meets with the Internal Auditor without the presence of Management at least once annually.

I. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT
– Principle 11: Shareholder rights and conduct of general meetings

The Group’s corporate governance culture and awareness promotes fair and equitable treatment of all shareholders. 

The	Group	 is	 committed	 to	 providing	 shareholders	with	 adequate,	 timely	 and	 sufficient	 information	 pertaining	 to	
changes in the Group’s business which could have a material impact on the Company’s share price.

Shareholders	are	given	the	opportunity	to	participate	effectively	and	vote	at	general	meetings	of	the	Company	where	
relevant rules and procedures governing the meetings are clearly communicated. A relevant intermediary may appoint 
more than two proxies to attend and vote at the AGM. The Company reserves the rights to allow any observers to 
attend its AGM.

Price	 sensitive	 information	 is	first	publicly	 released	via	SGXNet	before	any	meeting	with	any	group	of	 investors	or	
analysts. Results are announced within the mandatory period on a half yearly basis to SGX-ST. The Company also 
practices releasing quarterly business updates to SGX-ST.
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I. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT (cont’d)
– Principle 11: Shareholder rights and conduct of general meetings (cont’d)

The Company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise shareholders’ rights and 
have	the	opportunity	to	communicate	their	views	on	matters	affecting	the	Company.	The	Company	gives	shareholders	
a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects. 

The Company has an internal guide in determining the quantum of any dividend payable. The declaration of dividend 
is	subject	to	various	factors	such	as	the	Group’s	profitability,	free	cash	flow	and	capital	commitment.	If	the	Company	
declares	a	final	dividend	at	an	annual	general	meeting	and	the	dividend	is	approved	by	shareholders,	it	usually	be	paid	
to the shareholders within 30 days after the date of the annual general meeting.

All shareholders (except those who own the shares through nominees) of the Company will receive annual report, 
circulars and notices of general meeting of the Company. The notices are also advertised in newspapers and available 
at SGX-ST’s website. The Constitution of the Company allows a member of the Company to appoint one or two proxies 
to attend and vote at all general meetings on his/her behalf.

Resolutions to be passed at general meetings are always separate and distinct in terms of issue so that shareholders 
are able to exercise their right to approve or deny the issue or motion. Shareholders can also exercise their right to vote 
in absentia by the use of proxies. The Company has been conducting electronic poll voting for all resolutions passed at 
the general meetings of shareholders for greater transparency in the voting process. Shareholders or their proxies are 
briefed by the appointed polling agent on the poll voting procedures at the AGM. The appointed scrutineer will ensure 
that	the	poll	process	is	properly	carried	out	and	the	counting	of	the	votes	is	verified	by	the	scrutineer.

The Chairmen of the AC, NC and RC are present and available to address questions at the AGM. The External Auditors 
shall be present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries by shareholders.

The Company Secretary prepares minutes of general meetings, which incorporates substantial comments or queries 
questions from shareholders and responses from the Board and the Management, where relevant. The minutes of 
general meetings will be published on the SGXNet within one (1) month from the date of the meeting. The Company 
also makes available minutes of general meetings to shareholders upon their requests.

2024 AGM and EGM

The Company will hold its upcoming AGM and EGM physically to engage with its shareholders.

– Principle 12: Engagement with shareholders

The Company’s substantial shareholders including the institutional shareholder whose shareholding exceeds 5% other 
than the Controlling shareholders are shown in the Statistics of Shareholding on page 139 of the annual report.

The Company has in place an Investor Relations (“IR”) policy outlining the principles and practices adopted in the 
course of its IR activities, including communication with shareholders and the investment community. The policy 
reflects	 avenues	 for	 communication	 between	 shareholders	 and	 the	 Company,	 including	 shareholders’	 meetings,	
the Company’s annual report and sustainability report, the information available on the Company’s website, results 
announcements, meetings with analysts and media, and describes how shareholders may contact the Company should 
they have questions. The policy thus allows for an ongoing exchange of views with shareholders, thereby promoting 
timely,	effective	and	transparent	communication.
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J. MANAGING STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS
– Principle 13: Engagement with stakeholders

The Company’s key stakeholders are listed in its Sustainability Report. They are the Company’s shareholders, its 
employees and workers, its consumers, its suppliers and business partners, communities, government and regulators, 
and	its	financiers.	

The Company recognises the importance of developing and growing our employees and is committed to ensure that all 
learning, training and development activities and programmes are made available to all our full-time employees. The 
Company encourages our employees to pursue relevant training programmes to build up their competencies and for 
career development opportunities. 

The type of training and development programmes extended to our employees include new employee induction 
programme, On-the-Job training, in-house training, external training, management/leadership development, seminar 
& conferences, technical skill training, workplace health and safety training and etc. In addition, the company provides 
professional memberships to employees for their self-development and to stay abreast with the latest development in 
their	professional	fields.	

The Sustainability Report also outlines how relationships with these key stakeholders are managed.

The Company has a Stakeholder Engagement Policy in place. The policy shows how the Company engages its key 
stakeholders regularly through various channels to understand their key interests and needs and expectations and 
respond promptly to their concerns. Stakeholders can communicate or write to the Company via its corporate website.

The Group’s other policies including the Board Diversity Policy, the IR Policy and Whistle-blowing Policy facilitate the 
Group’s engagement with its key stakeholders. The Sustainability Report outlines the Group’s policies, practices, 
performance and targets in relation to its Economic and Environmental, Social and Governance activities. Developed 
with reference to the Global Reporting Initiative Standards 2016 (Core option), the Group endeavours to communicate 
how sustainability is embedded in its business practices and value chain across its operations in the report. 

The Board is supported by a Sustainability Steering Committee chaired by the NED, Mr Ong Kian Min. The Sustainability 
Committee comprises two board members, Group Executive Chairman, Group CFO and COO. The Sustainability Steering 
Committee	provides	direction	and	targets	and,	lead	and	co-ordinate	the	annual	reporting	effort	by	the	Sustainability	
Working Committee.

The	Group	has	commenced	an	internal	review	process	for	its	sustainability	reporting	and	prioritised	the	gaps	identified	
for the sustainability working team to follow up for closure over the next couple of years. At the same time, relevant 
TCFD	factors	were	identified	for	qualitative	analysis	this	year.

The Sustainability Report also covers amongst others:

(a) the Company’s working emphasis to ensure food safety for consumers

(b) the safety, health and environment policy for the Group’s employees

(c) the training and development plan for employees

(d)	 the	Company’s	initiatives	and	effort	to	employ	eco-friendly	and	sustainable	value	chain	process

(e) the Company’s outreach and interaction with the relevant communities

(f) the Company’s zero tolerance policy towards fraud, bribery and corruption.

Detailed	information	on	the	Group’s	efforts	on	sustainability	management	in	FY2023	will	be	disclosed	in	the	Sustainability	
Report for FY2023. The Company will comply with Rule 711A of the SGX-ST Listing Manual and targets to issue its 
Sustainability Report for FY2023 on a standalone basis within the timeline stipulated by the SGX-ST. It will be published 
on the Company’s corporate website and made available on the SGXNet.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
(SGX-ST LISTING MANUAL REQUIREMENTS)

(i) Dealing in Securities

The	Company	has	in	place	an	internal	policy	prohibiting	share	dealings	by	Directors	and	officers	of	the	Group	while	in	
possession of unpublished material or price sensitive information during the period commencing one month prior to 
the	announcement	of	the	Company’s	half	year	and	annual	financial	results	and	two	weeks	before	the	announcement	
of its 1st quarter and 3rd quarter business updates announcements and ending on the date of the announcement of the 
relevant	results	or	business	updates.	Directors	and	officers	of	the	Group	are	expected	to	observe	the	insider	trading	
laws at all times even when dealing in securities within the permitted trading period.

The	Directors	and	officers	of	the	Group	are	strongly	discouraged	to	deal	 in	the	Company’s	securities	on	short-term	
considerations.

During FY2023, the Company has complied with the best practices on dealing in securities in accordance with Rule 
1207(19) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual.

(ii) Material Contracts

Other	than	those	disclosed	in	the	financial	statements,	the	Group	did	not	enter	into	any	material	contracts	involving	
interests of the Directors or Controlling shareholders and no such material contracts still subsist at the end of the 
financial	year.

(iii) Risk Management Policies and Processes

Operating in Emerging Markets

The Group’s sales are generated mainly from developing countries where economic, social, political and regulatory 
frameworks are less developed, resulting in uncertainties that could have a direct or indirect impact on sales and 
profitability.

The Group is also subject to changes in policies by the government of these countries, which may have an impact 
through	 (i)	 changes	 in	 laws	 and	 regulations;	 (ii)	 changes	 in	 custom	 and	 import	 tariff;	 (iii)	 restrictions	 on	 currency	
conversions	and	remittances;	and	(iv)	the	stability	of	the	banking	system.	

The Group and its in-country teams constantly monitor ongoing macro environment of key markets to identify potential 
areas of problems and develop suitable strategies around them, including the possibility of rationalising some business 
operations if the situation warrants.

The Group maintains an internal control system which includes policies and procedures and information systems to 
mitigate this risk.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales, purchases or operating costs by operating units in 
currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. 

The Group maintains an internal control and monitoring system which includes policies and procedures and information 
systems to mitigate this risk.

The Group closely monitors its macro operating environment and will consider entering into appropriate hedging 
transactions to mitigate the exchange risk exposure, if necessary.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (cont’d)
(SGX-ST LISTING MANUAL REQUIREMENTS) (cont’d)

(iii) Risk Management Policies and Processes (cont’d)

Credit Risk of Customers

In the normal course of its business, the Group extends credit terms to its customers, primarily to those located in 
developing	countries.	In	the	event	of	any	significant	devaluation	or	depreciation	of	the	currencies	of	these	markets	or	
if	any	major	customer	encounters	financial	difficulties,	the	Group	would	be	exposed	to	the	risk	of	non-collectability	of	
some of its trade receivables.

The Group maintains an internal control system which includes policies and procedures and information systems to 
mitigate this risk.

Under its credit policy, credit evaluations are performed for new customers and ongoing evaluation is also performed 
for existing customers. Other key mitigating controls include credit limits established, regular review and follow up on 
trade receivables ageing.

Dependence on Key Personnel

The	EDs	and	the	country/general	managers	in	the	Group’s	key	markets	have	contributed	significantly	to	the	success	of	
the	Group.	The	loss	of	the	services	of	any	one	of	these	key	personnel	without	suitable	replacement	will	adversely	affect	
the	Group’s	operations	and	financial	performance.

The Group maintains an internal control system which includes measures on human resources, policies and procedures 
and information systems to mitigate this risk.

The Group has implemented remuneration packages aimed at retaining existing personnel and conducts regular 
performance reviews to reward key management personnel who contribute to the success of the Group. 

Investment Risk

In the normal course of its business, the Group may invest in setting up new businesses or production plants and by 
way of acquisition of existing businesses. Investments in unfamiliar territories, new businesses or products could carry 
a high risk of failure due to a lack of visibility and knowledge of the business nature and market. Besides the initial 
capital,	the	Group	may	also	have	to	support	the	new	investments	financially	post	acquisition.

The Group maintains an internal control system which includes policies and procedures and information systems to 
mitigate this risk.

Under	its	investment	policy,	a	delegation	of	authority	matrix	is	established	for	approval	of	different	levels	of	investments.	
Due diligence exercises are conducted prior to acquisition and exposure to investment risk is monitored through 
regular reporting to Management and the Board on investment performance. 

Information Technology Risk

The Group has implemented IT management controls and security controls so as to ensure an appropriate level of 
security awareness at all times by users of the Group’s IT systems.

The Group has also put in place appropriate policies and control procedures to manage the risk of data privacy breaches.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (cont’d)
(SGX-ST LISTING MANUAL REQUIREMENTS) (cont’d)

(iii) Risk Management Policies and Processes (cont’d)

Sanctions-related Risk

The Group may be, or may become expose to various sanctions-related risks through various means such as sanctions-
related law or regulation.

The	Group	has	in	place	adequate	and	effective	internal	controls,	where	practicable,	to	monitor,	address	and	mitigate	
sanctions-related risk.

(iv) Interested Person Transactions

Interested person transactions (“IPT”)	carried	out	during	the	financial	year	which	falls	under	Chapter	9	of	the	SGX-ST	
Listing Manual are as follows:- 

Aggregate value of all IPT 
during the financial year 
under review (excluding 
transactions less than 

$100,000 and transactions 
conducted under 

shareholder’s mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all 
IPT conducted under 

shareholder’s mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920 

(excluding transactions 
less than $100,000)

2023 2022 2023 2022
Name of interested person Nature of relationship US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

a) Triple Ace Ventures 
Limited and its 
subsidiaries

Companies associated to  
Mr Sudeep Nair  
(Group CEO and ED)

 – Payment of lease liabilities 1,479 2,047 – –

b) UDI Marketing Sdn Bhd Company associated 
to Universal Integrated 
Corporation Consumer 
Products Pte Ltd 
(Controlling Shareholder)

 – Sales of goods 621 952 – –

c) PT Indokemika Jayatama Company associated 
to Universal Integrated 
Corporation Consumer 
Products Pte Ltd  
(Controlling Shareholder)

 – Sales of goods 1,100 784 – –

d) Ever Resources 
International (Hong Kong) 
Limited

Company associated 
to Universal Integrated 
Corporation Consumer 
Products Pte Ltd  
(Controlling Shareholder)

 – Purchase of goods 5,518 3,343 – –
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-APPOINTMENT

Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the information relating to the Directors who are seeking  
re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 to the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST is set out below:

Name Tan Cher Liang (INED) Ong Kian Min (NED) Adrian Chan Pengee (INED)

Date of appointment 24 April 2020 8 April 2000 1 January 2022

Date of last re-appointment 26 April 2021 26 April 2021 22 April 2022

Age 72 63 59

Country of principal residence Singapore Singapore Singapore

The Board’s comments on  
the re-appointment

Based on the recommendation of the 
NC, the Board (save for Mr Tan Cher 
Liang who abstained from deliberating 
his own re-election) proposes to the 
Company’s shareholders to approve 
the re-election of Mr Tan as a Director. 
Mr Tan will remain Chairman of NC 
and member of AC and RC.

Based on the recommendation of the 
NC, the Board (save for Mr Ong Kian 
Min who abstained from deliberating 
his own re-election) proposes to the 
Company’s shareholders to approve 
the re-election of Mr Ong as a Director. 
Mr Ong will remain member of the NC.

Based on the recommendation of the 
NC, the Board (save for Mr Chan who 
abstained from deliberating his own 
re-election) proposes to the Company’s 
shareholders to approve the re-election 
of Mr Chan as a Director. Mr Chan will 
remain Chairman of RC and member of 
AC and NC.

Whether the appointment is 
executive, and if so, the area of 
responsibility

Non-Executive Non-Executive Non-Executive

Job title (e.g. Lead ID,  
AC Chairman, AC Member etc.)

INED and Chairman of NC and 
member of AC and RC

NED and member of the NC INED, Chairman of RC and member 
of AC and NC

Professional qualifications Fellow	of	The	Association	of	Certified	
& Chartered Accountants (UK)

Bachelor of Laws (Hons)(Ext), 
University of London, UK

Bachelor of Science (Hons), Imperial 
College of Science & Technology, 
London, UK

Bachelor of Laws (Honours) from 
National University of Singapore

Working experience and  
occupation(s) in the past 10 years

Held Directorship in various public 
listed companies, private and non-
profit	making	companies

From October 2000 to present: 
Consultant, Drew & Napier LLC 

From January 2010 to present: 
Executive Director, Kanesaka Sushi 
Private Limited 

Head of Corporate Department & 
Senior Partner at Lee & Lee Advocates 
& Solicitors

Shareholding interest in the listed 
issuer and its subsidiaries

Nil 1,020,000 (direct interest) Nil

Any relationship (including  
immediate family relationships)  
with any existing director, existing 
executive director, the issuer and/
or substantial shareholder of 
the listed issuer or of any of its 
principal subsidiaries

None None None

Conflict of interest (including any 
competing business)

No No No

Undertaking (in the format set out 
in Appendix 7.7) under Rule 720(1) 
has been submitted to the Company

Yes Yes Yes
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-APPOINTMENT (cont’d)

Other principal commitments including directorships

Name Tan Cher Liang (INED) Ong Kian Min (NED) Adrian Chan Pengee (INED)

Past  
(for the 
last 5 
years)

Independent Director, Ezra Holdings Ltd Breadtalk Group Limited
Penguin International Ltd 
GMG Global Ltd 
Hupsteel Limited 
Jaya Holdings Limited 
One Eternity Foundation Company Limited
Alpha Advisory Pte. Ltd.
GPTW Institute (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
OUE Hospitality REIT Management Pte. Ltd.

Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority 
Nobel Design Holdings Ltd 
Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd 
AEM Holdings Ltd

Present Advisor, Boardroom Pte Ltd 
Independent Director, IPC Corporation Ltd
Independent Director, Hiap Seng Industries Limited
Independent Chairman, Jumbo Group Limited
Independent Director, Kingsmen Creatives Ltd 
Independent Chairman, Vibrant Group Ltd 
Independent Director, Wilton Resources Corp Ltd 
Director, D S Lee Foundation 
Director, D S Lee Singapore General Pte Ltd 
Director, D S Lee Specialists Group Pte Ltd 
Director, Deli Sumatra Legacy Co Pte Ltd 
Director, DSLSG Investment Co Pte Ltd 
Director, E-Bridge Pre-School Pte Ltd 
Director, EtonHouse Community Fund Ltd 
Director, Grand Hotel SG Legacy Pte Ltd
Trustee, Kwan Im Thong Hood Cho Temple 
Director, The Nyalas Rubber Estates Limited

Independent Director, YHI International Limited
Director, JEKKA-MOLLE Pte. Ltd.
Director, Kanesaka Sushi Private Limited
Director, QEnergy Pte Ltd
Independent Director, OUE Hospitality Trust 
Management Pte. Ltd.
Non-executive Deputy Chairman and 
Independent Director, Silverlake Axis Ltd
Independent Director, OUE REIT Management 
Pte. Ltd.

Shared Services For Charities Limited 
Hong Fok Corporation Limited 
Azalea Asset Management Pte. Ltd. 
Want Want Holdings Ltd 
Best World International Limited 
First Reit Management Limited 
Singapore Institute of Directors 
Singapore Management University’s Enterprise 
Board
Keppel Infrastructure Fund Management Pte Ltd

Information required pursuant to Listing Rule 704(7)
Name Tan Cher Liang (INED) Ong Kian Min (NED) Adrian Chan Pengee (INED)

(a) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a 
petition under any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction was filed 
against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at 
the time when he was a partner or at any time within 2 years from 
the date he ceased to be a partner?

No No No

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a 
petition under any law of any jurisdiction was filed against an 
entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive, at the time when he was a 
director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity or 
at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director 
or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the 
winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that entity is the 
trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the ground of 
insolvency?

No No No

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied judgement against him? No No No

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty which is punishable with 
imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings 
(including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) 
for such purpose?

No No No

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore  
or elsewhere, involving a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in 
Singapore or elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which 
he is aware) for such breach?

No No No

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-APPOINTMENT (cont’d)

Information required pursuant to Listing Rule 704(7) (cont’d)

Name Tan Cher Liang (INED) Ong Kian Min (NED) Adrian Chan Pengee (INED)

(f) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, 
judgement has been entered against him in 
any civil proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere 
involving a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, 
or a finding of fraud, misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject 
of any civil proceedings (including any pending 
civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving 
an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part?

No No No

(g) Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore 
or elsewhere of any offence in connection with 
the formation or management of any entity or 
business trust?

No No No

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualified from 
acting as a director or an equivalent person of any 
entity (including the trustee of a business trust), 
or from taking part directly or indirectly in the 
management of any entity or business trust?

No No No

(i) Whether he has ever been the subject of 
any order, judgement or ruling of any court, 
tribunal or governmental body, permanently or 
temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any 
type of business practice or activity?

No No No

(j) Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been 
concerned with the management or conduct, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:

Yes. Mr Tan Cher Liang has been an Independent 
Director of Vibrant Group Limited (“VGL”) 
since 5 November 2003. A special auditor was 
appointed on 21 August 2018 to investigate into 
irregularities as well as the assets and accounting 
records of Blackgold International Holdings Pty 
Ltd (“Blackgold”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
“Blackgold Group”). Blackgold was listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) in 2011 and 
became VGL’s wholly-owned subsidiary following 
VGL’s acquisition in July 2017 and delisted from 
ASX thereafter.

On 14 August 2020, the SGX-ST issued a 
Regulatory announcement after its review of the 
special report received on 24 January 2019 which 
uncovered	 (i)	 potential	 significant	misstatements	
in	 Blackgold	 Group’s	 financial	 statements	 and	
(ii) Blackgold management may have potentially 
falsified	accounting	records	and	announced	false	
financial	statements	on	the	ASX	where	Blackgold	
was listed. In the announcement, the SGX-ST 
stated that (a) it has reported the accounting 
irregularities in Blackgold Group and conduct of 
Blackgold’s statutory auditors to the accounting 
authorities and (b) it is concerned about the 
findings	 relating	 to	 Blackgold	 management	 and	
therefore requires SGX-ST companies to consult it 
before the appointment of Blackgold management 
as a Director or key management.

Mr Tan was at no time a subject of the special 
audit. Mr Tan, together with his fellow members 
of the audit committee and board of directors of 
VGL, oversaw the special audit.

No No, except that Mr Chan 
was a director of Best World 
International Limited when 
it was investigated by the 
Singapore Exchange Limited 
for a breach of Rule 703(1)(a) of 
the SGX-ST Listing Manual for 
failing to disclose the group’s 
involvement in the operations 
of one of its major customers, 
Changsha Best Commodity 
Trading Co., which was material 
information concerning the 
group necessary to be disclosed 
to avoid the establishment of a 
false market in the company’s 
securities.

Mr Chan was a non-executive 
independent director of AEM 
Holdings Limited, a listed 
company in Singapore, which 
announced in May 2007 
that seven of its employees 
(including the then Chief 
Executive	 Officer)	 were	 under	
investigation by the CPIB and 
he had assisted the CPIB in their 
investigations. The then Chief 
Executive	Officer	was	eventually	
charged and convicted for 
corruption in 2012.

(i) any corporation which has been investigated 
for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement governing corporations in 
Singapore or elsewhere; or

(ii) any entity (not being a corporation) which 
has been investigated for a breach of any law 
or regulatory requirement governing such 
entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement governing business 
trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement that relates to the 
securities or futures industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere, in connection with any matter 
occurring or arising during that period when 
he was so concerned with the entity or 
business trust?

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any 
current or past investigation or disciplinary 
proceedings, or has been reprimanded or issued 
any warning, by the Monetary Authority of 
Singapore or any other regulatory authority, 
exchange, professional body or government 
agency, whether in Singapore or elsewhere?

No No No

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The	 directors	 are	 pleased	 to	 present	 their	 statement	 to	 the	members	 together	with	 the	 audited	 consolidated	 financial	
statements of Food Empire Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance 
sheet	and	statement	of	changes	in	equity	of	the	Company	for	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023.

OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the directors,

(i)	 the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	the	Group	and	the	balance	sheet	and	statement	of	changes	in	equity	of	the	
Company	are	drawn	up	so	as	to	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position	of	the	Group	and	of	the	Company	as	at	
31	December	2023	and	the	financial	performance,	changes	in	equity	and	cash	flows	of	the	Group	and	changes	in	equity	
of	the	Company	for	the	year	ended	on	that	date;	and

(ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they fall due.

DIRECTORS

The	Directors	of	the	Company	in	office	at	the	date	of	the	statement	are:

Tan Wang Cheow
Sudeep Nair
Tan Guek Ming
Koh Yew Hiap
Ong Kian Min
Tan Cher Liang
Saw Meng Tee
Adrian Chan Pengee

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Except for the Food Empire Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme (the “2012 Option Scheme” and “2022 Option Scheme”) 
and the Food Empire Holdings Limited Performance Share Plan (the “2022 Award Plan”), neither at the end of nor at any 
time	during	the	financial	year	was	the	Company	a	party	to	any	arrangement	whose	objects	are,	or	one	of	whose	objects	
is,	to	enable	the	Directors	of	the	Company	to	acquire	benefits	by	means	of	the	acquisition	of	shares	or	debentures	of	the	
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The	following	directors	of	the	Company,	who	held	office	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year,	had,	according	to	the	register	of	
directors’ shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967, an interest in shares 
and share options of the Company, as stated below:

Shares held in the name  
of the Directors

Shareholdings in which 
Directors are deemed  

to have an interest

Shares held in 
the name of 
the Directors

Shareholdings 
in which 
Directors 

are deemed 
to have an 

interest

Name of Director

At the 
beginning  
of the year

At the end  
of the year

At the 
beginning  
of the year

At the end  
of the year

As at  
21 January 

2024

As at  
21 January 

2024

The Company
Ordinary shares
Tan Wang Cheow – – 120,814,600 115,814,600 – 115,814,600
Sudeep Nair 5,700,000 5,700,000 60,076,399 60,076,399 5,700,000 60,076,399
Tan Guek Ming 27,547,400 27,547,400 93,267,200 88,267,200 27,547,400 88,267,200
Ong Kian Min 820,000 920,000 – – 920,000 –

Share options held in the 
name of the Directors

Share options 
held in the 

name of the 
Directors

Name of Director

At the 
beginning  
of the year

At the end  
of the year

As at  
21 January 

2024

The Company
Options to subscribe for ordinary shares exercisable from  

8 March 2014 to 7 March 2023 at S$0.669 per share 

Sudeep Nair 1,500,000 – –

Options to subscribe for ordinary shares exercisable from  
16 March 2019 to 15 March 2028 at S$0.679 per share

Sudeep Nair 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Ong Kian Min (1) 100,000 – –

Options to subscribe for ordinary shares exercisable from  
15 March 2020 to 14 March 2029 at S$0.556 per share

Sudeep Nair 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Ong Kian Min (2) 100,000 100,000 100,000

Options to subscribe for ordinary shares exercisable from  
6 March 2021 to 5 March 2030 at S$0.667 per share

Sudeep Nair 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Ong Kian Min (3) 100,000 100,000 100,000
Saw Meng Tee (3) 100,000 100,000 100,000

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (cont’d)

Share options held in the 
name of the Directors

Share options 
held in the 

name of the 
Directors

Name of Director
At the beginning  

of the year
At the end  
of the year

As at  
21 January 2024

The Company
Options to subscribe for ordinary shares exercisable from  

1 June 2023 to 31 May 2027 at S$0.536 per share

Adrian Chan Pengee 50,000 50,000 50,000
Ong Kian Min 50,000 50,000 50,000
Saw Meng Tee 50,000 50,000 50,000
Tan Cher Liang 50,000 50,000 50,000

Options to subscribe for ordinary shares exercisable from  
1 June 2024 to 31 May 2028 at S$1.004 per share

Adrian Chan Pengee – 50,000 50,000
Ong Kian Min – 50,000 50,000
Saw Meng Tee – 50,000 50,000
Tan Cher Liang – 50,000 50,000
(1) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares expire on 15 March 2023.
(2) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares expire on 14 March 2024.
(3) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares expire on 5 March 2025.

Share options held in the 
name of the Directors

Share options 
held in the 

name of the 
Directors

Name of Director
At the beginning  

of the year
At the end  
of the year

As at  
21 January 2024

Share awards granted based on the performance conditions from  
1 June 2022 to 31 December 2024

Sudeep Nair 657,211 657,211 657,211

Share awards granted based on the performance conditions from  
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 

Sudeep Nair – 632,771 632,771

Share awards granted based on the performance conditions from  
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026

Sudeep Nair – – 357,718

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967, Mr Tan Wang Cheow and Mdm Tan Guek Ming are deemed to 
have	an	interest	in	the	Company’s	subsidiaries	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year.

Except	as	disclosed	in	this	statement,	no	director	who	held	office	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	had	interests	in	shares,	share	
options,	warrants	or	debentures	of	the	Company,	or	of	related	corporations,	either	at	the	beginning	of	the	financial	year,	or	
date	of	appointment	if	later,	or	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year,	nor	as	at	21	January	2024.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Food Empire Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme (the “2012 Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 27 April 2012, which has since expired on 22 April 2022.

The Food Empire Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme (the “2022 Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 22 April 2022. 

The 2012 Option Scheme and 2022 Option Scheme are administered by the Remuneration Committee (“RC”).

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued or transferred pursuant to 2012 Options Scheme and 2022 Option 
Scheme, when aggregated with the aggregate number of shares that are granted under any other share option schemes or 
share	plans	of	the	Company,	shall	not	exceed	fifteen	per	cent	(15%)	of	the	total	number	of	all	issued	shares	(excluding	Shares	
held by the Company as treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) on the day preceding that date.

Unissued shares under 2012 Option Scheme and 2022 Option Scheme

Unissued	shares	of	the	Company	under	the	2012	Option	Scheme	and	2022	Option	Scheme	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	
were as follows:

Number 
of 

holders 
at year 

end

Number 
of options 

outstanding 
at 1.1.2023

Number 
of options 

granted 
during the 
financial 

year

Number 
of options 

lapsed 
during the 
financial 

year

Number 
of options 
exercised 
during the 
financial 

year

Number 
of options 

outstanding 
at 31.12.2023

Exercise 
price per 

share  
S$ Exercise period

2012 Option Scheme
2013 Options – 2,930,000 – (1,500,000) (1,430,000) – 0.669 8 March 2014  

to 7 March 2023

2016 Options 4 680,000 – – (250,000) 430,000 0.308 4 July 2017  
to 3 July 2026

2017 Options 6 550,000 – – – 550,000 0.693 23 May 2018  
to 22 May 2027

2018 Options 8 3,650,000 – – (400,000) 3,250,000 0.679 16 March 2019  
to 15 March 2028

2019 Options 16 4,090,000 – – (160,000) 3,930,000 0.556 15 March 2020  
to 14 March 2029

2020 Options 18 4,640,000 – – (60,000) 4,580,000 0.667 6 March 2021  
to 5 March 2030

16,540,000 – (1,500,000) (2,300,000) 12,740,000

2022 Option Scheme
2022 Options 19 3,450,000 – – (80,000) 3,370,000 0.536 1 June 2023  

to 31 May 2032

2023 Options 20 – 3,300,000 – – 3,300,000 1.004 1 June 2024  
to 31 May 2033

3,450,000 3,300,000 – (80,000) 6,670,000

19,990,000 3,300,000 (1,500,000) (2,380,000) 19,410,000

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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SHARE OPTIONS (cont’d)

Unissued shares under 2012 Option Scheme and 2022 Option Scheme (cont’d)

The options granted to Directors of the Company and participants who received 5% or more of the total number of options 
available under the 2012 Option Scheme and 2022 Option Scheme are as follows:

Name of Director

Aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement of 
2012 Option Scheme 

and 2022 Option 
Scheme to end of 

financial year

Aggregate options 
exercised since 

commencement of 
2012 Option Scheme 

and 2022 Option 
Scheme to end of 

financial year

Aggregate options 
lapsed/cancelled since 

commencement of 
2012 Option Scheme 

and 2022 Option 
Scheme to end of 

financial year

Aggregate options 
outstanding as at end 

of financial year

2012 Option Scheme
Saw Meng Tee 100,000 – – 100,000
Ong Kian Min 500,000 (200,000) (100,000) 200,000
Sudeep Nair 7,500,000 (1,500,000) (1,500,000) 4,500,000

2022 Option Scheme
Adrian Chan Pengee 100,000 – – 100,000
Ong Kian Min 100,000 – – 100,000
Saw Meng Tee 100,000 – – 100,000
Tan Cher Liang 100,000 – – 100,000

Since	the	commencement	of	the	2012	Option	Scheme	and	2022	Option	Scheme	till	the	end	of	the	financial	year:

• 26,350,000 options were granted for 2012 Option Scheme

• 6,750,000 options were granted for 2022 Option Scheme

• No options had been granted to the controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates

• No options had been granted to the Directors appointed by the controlling shareholders

• No options that entitle the holder to participate, by virtue of the options, in any share issue of any other corporation 
had been granted

• No participant other than Mr Sudeep Nair has been granted 5% or more of the total options available under the 2012 
Option Scheme

Except as disclosed above, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options as at the end of 
the	financial	year.	There	are	no	options	granted	at	a	discount	during	the	financial	year.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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Performance Share Plan

The Food Empire Holdings Limited Performance Share Plan (the “2022 Award Plan”) was approved and adopted at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 22 April 2022.

The 2022 Award Plan is administered by the Remuneration Committee (“RC”).

The total number of shares over which the RC may grant new awards on any date, when aggregated with:

(a) the total number of new shares allotted and issued and/or to be allotted and issued and issued shares (including 
treasury	shares)	delivered	and/or	to	be	delivered,	pursuant	to	Awards	already	granted	under	the	Plan;

(b) the total number of shares subject to any other share option schemes or share plans of the Company

shall	not	exceed	fifteen	per	 cent	 (15%)	of	 the	 total	number	of	 issued	shares	 (excluding	shares	held	by	 the	Company	as	
treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) on the date preceding the date of the relevant new Award.

Unvested shares under 2022 Award Plan

Unvested	shares	of	the	Company	under	the	2022	Award	Plan	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	were	as	follows:

Number 
of share 
awards 

holders at 
year end

Balance  
as at  

1.1.2023

Number  
of shares  
awards 
granted 

during the 
financial year

Number  
of shares 
awards 
vested  

during the 
financial year

Number  
of shares 
awards  

not cancelled 
during the 

financial year

Balance  
as at 

31.12.2023
Performance 
condition period

2022 Award Plan
2022 Share Awards 1 657,211 – – – 657,211 1 June 2022 to  

31 December 2024

2023 Share Awards 1 – 632,771 – – 632,771 1 January 2023 to 
31 December 2025

657,211 632,771 – – 1,289,982

The share awards granted to Directors of the Company under the 2022 Award Plan are as follows:

Name of Director

Aggregate number of  
share awards granted since 

commencement of 2022 
Award Plan to end of the 

financial year

Aggregate number of 
share awards vested since 

commencement of 2022 
Award Plan to end of the 

financial year

Aggregate number of  
shares awards cancelled 

since commencement of 2022 
Award Plan to end of  

financial year

2022 Award Plan
Sudeep Nair 1,289,982 – –

Since	the	commencement	of	the	2022	Award	Plan	till	the	end	of	the	financial	year:

• 1,289,982 share awards were granted for 2022 Award Plan

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B (5) of the Singapore Companies Act 1967. The 
functions performed by the Audit Committee are detailed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Tan Wang Cheow

Director

Sudeep Nair

Director

Singapore
20 March 2024

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FOOD EMPIRE HOLDINGS LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We	have	audited	the	financial	statements	of	Food	Empire	Holdings	Limited	(the	“Company”)	and	its	subsidiaries	(collectively,	
the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2023, the statements 
of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of 
comprehensive	 income	 and	 consolidated	 cash	 flow	 statement	 of	 the	Group	 for	 the	 year	 then	 ended,	 and	 notes	 to	 the	
financial	statements,	including	material	accounting	policy	information.

In	our	opinion,	 the	accompanying	consolidated	financial	 statements	of	 the	Group,	 the	balance	sheet	and	 the	statement	
of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 
(the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(I)) so as to give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated	financial	position	of	the	Group	and	the	financial	position	of	the	Company	as	at	31	December	2023	and	of	the	
consolidated	financial	performance,	consolidated	changes	in	equity	and	consolidated	cash	flows	of	the	Group	and	changes	
in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) 
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the 
ethical	requirements	that	are	relevant	to	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements	in	Singapore,	and	we	have	fulfilled	our	other	
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	opinion.

Key audit matters

Key	audit	matters	are	those	matters	that,	in	our	professional	judgement,	were	of	most	significance	in	our	audit	of	the	financial	
statements	of	the	current	period.	These	matters	were	addressed	in	the	context	of	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements	as	a	
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We	have	 fulfilled	our	 responsibilities	described	 in	 the	Auditor’s	 responsibilities	 for	 the	 audit	 of	 the	financial	 statements	
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed	to	respond	to	our	assessment	of	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements.	The	results	of	our	
audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion 
on	the	accompanying	financial	statements.

1. Revenue recognition

We	 refer	 to	 Note	 2.20	 (Material	 accounting	 policy	 information),	 Note	 3.2c	 (Significant	 accounting	 estimates	 and	
judgements) and Note 4 (Note on Revenue).

Revenue is measured taking into account of discounts and rebates earned by customers on the Group’s sales, which 
give rise to variable consideration under SFRS(I) 15. Variable consideration is estimated and is recognised as revenue to 
the	extent	that	it	is	highly	probable	that	a	significant	reversal	in	revenue	recognised	up-to-date	will	not	occur	when	the	
discount	and	rebate	amounts	are	subsequently	finalised.	In	addition,	due	to	the	multitude	and	variety	of	contractual	
terms across the Group’s operating markets, the estimation of variable consideration arising from discounts and 
rebates is considered to be complex and judgemental. As such, we considered this to be a key audit matter. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FOOD EMPIRE HOLDINGS LIMITED (cont’d)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

Key audit matters (cont’d)

1. Revenue recognition (cont’d)

As part of our audit procedures, we evaluated the appropriateness of the Group’s revenue recognition accounting 
policies.	We	obtained	an	understanding	of	the	revenue	recognition	process,	performed	a	walkthrough	of	the	significant	
class	of	transactions	and	evaluated	the	design	of	the	relevant	internal	controls	for	effectiveness.	We	also	tested	the	
effectiveness	 of	 the	management’s	 internal	 controls	 over	 the	 timing	 of	 the	 revenue	 recognition	 and	 gross	 or	 net	
presentation	of	revenue.	In	addition,	we	read	significant	sales	contracts	and	revenue	arrangements,	and	performed	
inquiries of management to understand the potential impact of the various terms on revenue recognition, and to also 
determine	if	the	arrangement	is	appropriately	identified	as	a	contract	in	accordance	with	SFRS(I)	15.

In respect of discounts and rebates and the relating variable consideration recognised during the year, we checked 
to the terms of agreements and other supporting documents. We assessed the appropriateness of the method used 
and the reasonableness of data and assumptions used such as historical experience and purchasing patterns in the 
estimation of variable consideration and determination of the amount of revenue to be recognised. We also assessed 
the adequacy of disclosures in Note 2.20.

2. Recoverability of trade receivables

We	 refer	 to	 Note	 2.13	 (Material	 accounting	 policy	 information),	 Note	 3.2b	 (Significant	 accounting	 estimates	 and	
judgements) and Note 23 (Note on Trade Receivables).

Trade	receivable	balances	of	US$38,161,000	are	significant	 to	 the	Group	as	 they	represented	13.0%	of	 the	Group’s	
net assets as at 31 December 2023. The collectability of trade receivables is a key element of the Group’s working 
capital management, which is managed on an ongoing basis by management. The Group determines expected credit 
losses	 for	 trade	 receivables	by	making	debtor-specific	assessment	 for	 credit-impaired	debtors	and	using	provision	
matrix method for the remaining group of debtors. In determining the estimated credit loss allowance for the Group’s 
trade receivables as at year end, management had considered various factors such as the age of the outstanding 
balances,	 historical	 payment	 and	 credit	 loss	 patterns	over	 an	 appropriate	period,	 facts	 and	 circumstances	 specific	
to the countries and economic environments where the Group operates, correlation between economic conditions 
and historical credit losses, as well as the forecast of future macro-economic conditions over the expected life of the 
Group’s	trade	receivables,	which	require	significant	management	judgement.	This	estimation	is	further	affected	by	the	
economic	uncertainty	brought	on	by	the	ongoing	conflict	between	Russia	and	Ukraine.	Accordingly,	we	determined	that	
this is a key audit matter. 

As part of our audit procedures, we assessed the Group’s processes and key controls relating to the monitoring of trade 
receivables, including the process in determining whether a debtor is credit-impaired. We also considered ageing of the 
receivables to identify collection risks. We evaluated management’s assumptions and inputs used in the computation 
of historical credit loss rates and reviewed data and information that management had used to make forward-looking 
adjustments,	 including	consideration	on	 impact	arising	 from	 the	ongoing	conflict	between	Russia	and	Ukraine.	We	
requested	trade	receivable	confirmations	and	reviewed	for	collectability	by	way	of	obtaining	evidence	of	subsequent	
receipts from the trade receivables. We held discussions with management on their assessment of the recoverability of 
long	outstanding	receivables	in	particular	receivables	that	could	be	affected	by	the	ongoing	conflict	between	Russia	and	
Ukraine, analysed trend of collections and assessed management’s assumptions used to determine expected credit 
losses	for	such	trade	receivables	notably	through	consideration	of	their	specific	profiles	and	risks.	

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures on the trade receivables and the related credit risk in Note 37a.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FOOD EMPIRE HOLDINGS LIMITED (cont’d)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

Key audit matters (cont’d)

3. Impairment assessment of intangible assets

We	 refer	 to	 Note	 2.12	 (Material	 accounting	 policy	 information),	 Note	 3.2a	 (Significant	 accounting	 estimates	 and	
judgements) and Note 17 (Note on Intangible Assets). 

As at 31 December 2023, intangible assets comprise goodwill of US$6,684,000 and brand of US$2,116,000, representing 
2.3% and 0.7% of the Group’s net assets respectively. The Group annually carries out an impairment assessment using 
a	 value-in-use	model	which	 is	 based	 on	 discounted	 cash	 flows	 of	 the	 cash	 generating	 units	 (“CGU”).	Management	
estimated the recoverable value using assumptions in respect of future market and economic conditions to estimate 
expected	revenue	and	margin,	inflation	rate,	discount	rates	and	economic	growth.	As	disclosed	in	Note	17,	the	Group’s	
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s CGU or group of CGUs. As intangible assets impairment assessment requires 
management	to	apply	significant	judgement	in	determining	the	key	assumptions,	especially	in	the	current	economic	
uncertainty, we determined this a key audit matter.

As part of our audit procedures, we assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions applied by the Group in 
determining the recoverable amounts of each CGU. In particular, we tested the underlying assumptions by comparing 
to historical results for reasonableness, with considerations of the impact on growth forecasts due to the ongoing 
conflict	between	Russia	and	Ukraine.	We	involved	our	internal	specialist	to	assess	the	reasonableness	of	discount	rates	
and long-term growth rates used by the Group by checking the discount rate to comparable companies and comparing 
the long-term growth rate to external economic data. We also considered the risk of potential management bias by 
using	our	own	set	of	assumptions	in	developing	a	range	of	possible	values	to	evaluate	management’s	point	estimates;	
and performed sensitivity analysis on reasonably possible reduction in the assumed growth rates. 

We also considered the adequacy of the note disclosures concerning those key assumptions to which the outcome of 
the impairment test is most sensitive. 

Other information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report,	but	does	not	include	the	financial	statements	and	our	auditor’s	report	thereon.

Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	other	information	and	we	do	not	express	any	form	of	assurance	
conclusion thereon.

In	connection	with	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	our	responsibility	is	to	read	the	other	information	and,	in	doing	so,	
consider	whether	the	other	information	is	materially	inconsistent	with	the	financial	statements	or	our	knowledge	obtained	in	
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management	 is	responsible	 for	 the	preparation	of	financial	statements	that	give	a	true	and	fair	view	 in	accordance	with	
the	provisions	of	the	Act	and	SFRS(I),	and	for	devising	and	maintaining	a	system	of	internal	accounting	controls	sufficient	
to	 provide	 a	 reasonable	 assurance	 that	 assets	 are	 safeguarded	 against	 loss	 from	unauthorised	use	 or	 disposition;	 and	
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial	statements	and	to	maintain	accountability	of	assets.

In	preparing	the	financial	statements,	management	is	responsible	for	assessing	the	Group’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The	directors’	responsibilities	include	overseeing	the	Group’s	financial	reporting	process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FOOD EMPIRE HOLDINGS LIMITED (cont’d)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our	objectives	are	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	statements	as	a	whole	are	free	from	material	
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually	or	in	the	aggregate,	they	could	reasonably	be	expected	to	influence	the	economic	decisions	of	users	taken	on	the	
basis	of	these	financial	statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	design	
and	perform	audit	procedures	responsive	to	those	risks,	and	obtain	audit	evidence	that	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	Group’s	
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit	evidence	obtained,	whether	a	material	uncertainty	exists	related	to	events	or	conditions	that	may	cast	significant	
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required	 to	draw	attention	 in	our	auditor’s	 report	 to	 the	 related	disclosures	 in	 the	financial	 statements	or,	 if	 such	
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

• Evaluate	 the	overall	presentation,	 structure	and	content	of	 the	financial	 statements,	 including	 the	disclosures,	 and	
whether	 the	financial	 statements	 represent	 the	underlying	 transactions	 and	events	 in	 a	manner	 that	 achieves	 fair	
presentation.

• Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	or	business	activities	
within	the	Group	to	express	an	opinion	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	We	are	responsible	for	the	direction,	
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We	communicate	with	the	directors	regarding,	among	other	matters,	the	planned	scope	and	timing	of	the	audit	and	significant	
audit	findings,	including	any	significant	deficiencies	in	internal	control	that	we	identify	during	our	audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From	 the	matters	 communicated	with	 the	 directors,	we	 determine	 those	matters	 that	were	 of	most	 significance	 in	 the	
audit	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	current	period	and	are	therefore	the	key	audit	matters.	We	describe	these	matters	
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of	doing	so	would	reasonably	be	expected	to	outweigh	the	public	interest	benefits	of	such	communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FOOD EMPIRE HOLDINGS LIMITED (cont’d)

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lim Tze Yuen.

Ernst & Young LLP

Public Accountants  
and Chartered Accountants

Singapore
20 March 2024
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Note 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 4 425,715 398,362
Cost of sales (284,264) (279,519)

Gross profit 141,451 118,843

Selling and marketing expenses (31,591) (28,668)
General and administrative expenses (38,927) (37,458)

Results from operating activities 70,933 52,717

Other income 5 1,087 19,604
Other expenses 6 (1,658) (3,041)
Net	finance	income/(costs) 7 796 (1,226)
Share	of	profits	of	associates	and	joint	venture 1,341 2,652

Profit before taxation 8 72,499 70,706
Income tax expense 9 (16,035) (10,638)
Profit for the year 56,464 60,068

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 56,508 60,097
Non-controlling interest (44) (29)

56,464 60,068

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (in cents) 11 10.75 11.28

Diluted earnings per share (in cents) 11 10.59 11.26

The	accompanying	accounting	policies	and	explanatory	notes	form	an	integral	part	of	the	financial	statements.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023
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2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Profit	for	the	year 56,464 60,068

Other comprehensive income:
Items	that	may	be	reclassified	subsequently	to	profit	or	loss:
Foreign currency translation loss (14,013) (101)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint venture (437) (1,253)
Exchange	differences	realised	on	disposal	of	subsidiaries – 326

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (14,450) (1,028)
Total comprehensive income for the year 42,014 59,040

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 42,058 59,073
Non-controlling interest (44) (33)

42,014 59,040

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023
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Group Company
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 103,341 101,251 – –
Right-of-use assets 13 11,592 13,094 215 284
Investments in subsidiaries 15 – – 44,485 44,485
Investments in associates and joint venture 16 12,625 11,830 – –
Intangible assets 17 8,800 8,302 – –
Amount due from joint venture (non-trade) 21 4,040 1,000 – –
Other receivables 24 389 – – –
Deferred tax assets 18 3,861 3,675 – –

144,648 139,152 44,700 44,769

Current Assets
Inventories 19 76,720 74,030 – –
Prepaid operating expenses 5,872 5,605 24 17
Deposits 654 480 – –
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 20 – – 14,331 31,433
Amounts due from associates and joint venture  

(non-trade) 21 1,133 1,713 – –
Amounts due from related parties (trade) 22 191 274 – –
Trade receivables 23 38,161 31,477 – –
Other receivables 24 4,240 3,168 10 –
Cash and cash equivalents 25 131,286 125,596 37,649 1,070

258,257 242,343 52,014 32,520

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 December 2023
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Group Company
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Current Liabilities
Trade payables and accruals 26 49,770 48,358 6,097 5,901
Other payables 29 3,683 4,412 281 –
Lease liabilities 13 2,170 1,710 39 37
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 28 15,033 13,478 – –
Amounts due to subsidiaries (non-trade) 20 – – 21 53
Amount due to joint venture (non-trade) 21 178 – – –
Amounts due to associates (trade) 27 188 213 – –
Amount due to a related party (non-trade) 22 792 754 – –
Income tax payable 5,009 2,368 103 50

76,823 71,293 6,541 6,041

Net Current Assets 181,434 171,050 45,473 26,479

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities 13 2,507 4,652 77 113
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 28 21,387 24,776 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 18 7,695 5,175 – –

31,589 34,603 77 113
Net Assets 294,493 275,599 90,096 71,135

Equity
Share capital 30 47,502 46,168 47,502 46,168
Treasury shares 30 (14,001) (6,569) (14,001) (6,569)
Reserves 31 262,141 237,105 56,595 31,536

295,642 276,704 90,096 71,135

Non-controlling interest (1,149) (1,105) – –
Total Equity 294,493 275,599 90,096 71,135

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 December 2023
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Group
Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

Accumulated 
profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity
2023 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2023 46,168 (6,569) (12,404) 3,667 245,842 276,704 (1,105) 275,599

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – 56,508 56,508 (44) 56,464

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation loss – – (14,013) – – (14,013) – (14,013)
Share of other comprehensive 

income of associates and 
joint venture – – (437) – – (437) – (437)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – (14,450) – 56,508 42,058 (44) 42,014

Contributions by and 
distributions to owners

Value of employee services 
received from the issuance  
of share options and  
share awards – – – 663 – 663 – 663

Dividends paid to shareholders  
of the Company – – – – (17,294) (17,294) – (17,294)

Exercise of share options (Note 30) 1,334 – – (317) – 1,017 – 1,017
Purchase of treasury shares 

(Note 30) – (7,595) – – – (7,595) – (7,595)
Treasury shares reissued 

pursuant to equity 
compensation plan – 163 – (74) – 89 – 89

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners, 
representing total 
transactions with owners  
in their capacity as owners 1,334 (7,432) – 272 (17,294) (23,120) – (23,120)

Balance as at  
31 December 2023 47,502 (14,001) (26,854) 3,939 285,056 295,642 (1,149) 294,493

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Group
Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

Accumulated 
profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity
2022 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2022 45,420 (4,242) (11,380) 3,769 194,149 227,716 (1,157) 226,559

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – 60,097 60,097 (29) 60,068

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation loss – – (97) – – (97) (4) (101)
Share of other comprehensive 

income of associates and 
joint venture – – (1,253) – – (1,253) – (1,253)

Exchange	differences	realised	on	
disposal of subsidiaries – – 326 – – 326 – 326

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – (1,024) – 60,097 59,073 (33) 59,040

Contributions by and 
distributions to owners

Value of employee services 
received from the issuance 
of share options and 
share awards – – – 326 – 326 – 326

Dividends paid to shareholders  
of the Company – – – – (8,648) (8,648) – (8,648)

Exercise of share options (Note 30) 748 – – (184) – 564 – 564
Purchase of treasury shares 

(Note 30) – (2,327) – – – (2,327) – (2,327)
Expiry of share options – – – (244) 244 – – –

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners 748 (2,327) – (102) (8,404) (10,085) – (10,085)

Changes in ownership interest  
in subsidiaries

Capitalisation of loan from 
non-controlling interest of 
a subsidiary – – – – – – 197 197

Disposal of subsidiaries – – – – – – (112) (112)
Total changes in ownership 

interests in subsidiaries – – – – – – 85 85
Total transactions with owners 

in their capacity as owners 748 (2,327) – (102) (8,404) (10,085) 85 (10,000)

Balance as at  
31 December 2022 46,168 (6,569) (12,404) 3,667 245,842 276,704 (1,105) 275,599

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023
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Company
Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Share-based 
payment 
reserve

Accumulated 
profits

Total  
equity

2023 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2023 46,168 (6,569) 913 3,667 26,956 71,135

Profit for the year – – – – 41,579 41,579

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation gain – – 502 – – 502
Total comprehensive income  

for the year – – 502 – 41,579 42,081

Contributions by and distributions  
to owners

Value of employee services received from 
the issuance of share options and 
share awards – – – 663 – 663

Dividends paid to shareholders of 
the Company – – – – (17,294) (17,294)

Exercise of share options 1,334 – – (317) – 1,017
Purchase of treasury shares – (7,595) – – – (7,595)
Treasury shares reissued pursuant to 

equity compensation plan – 163 – (74) – 89
Total contributions by and 

distributions to owners, 
representing total transactions with 
owners in their capacity as owners 1,334 (7,432) – 272 (17,294) (23,120)

Balance as at 31 December 2023 47,502 (14,001) 1,415 3,939 51,241 90,096

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023
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Company
Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Share-based 
payment 
reserve

Accumulated 
profits

Total  
equity

2022 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2022 45,420 (4,242) (151) 3,769 13,898 58,694

Profit for the year – – – – 21,462 21,462

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation gain – – 1,064 – – 1,064
Total comprehensive income  

for the year – – 1,064 – 21,462 22,526

Contributions by and distributions  
to owners

Value of employee services received  
from the issuance of share options  
and share awards – – – 326 – 326

Dividends paid to shareholders of 
the Company – – – – (8,648) (8,648)

Exercise of share options 748 – – (184) – 564
Purchase of treasury shares – (2,327) – – – (2,327)
Expiry of share options – – – (244) 244 –
Total contributions by and 

distributions to owners, 
representing total transactions with 
owners in their capacity as owners 748 (2,327) – (102) (8,404) (10,085)

Balance as at 31 December 2022 46,168 (6,569) 913 3,667 26,956 71,135

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023
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2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit	before	taxation 72,499 70,706
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 8,362 8,549
Depreciation of investment properties 14 – 74
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 13 2,453 1,886
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6/5 36 (10)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 15 – (15,287)
Interest income 7 (4,335) (933)
Interest expenses 7 3,539 2,159
Write-back of impairment loss on trade receivables 23 (112) (119)
Impairment loss/(write-back of impairment loss) on other receivables 24 1 (7)
Inventories written-down/(written-back) 19 328 (178)
Share	of	profits	of	associates	and	joint	venture (1,341) (2,652)
(Write-back of impairment loss)/impairment loss on brand 17 (498) 2,041
Impairment loss on investment in an associate 16 – 1,000
Value of employee services received from the issuance  

of share options and share awards 663 326
Exchange realignment (1,939) 3,326

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 79,656 70,881
Changes in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (6,417) 10,788
Increase in inventories (12,180) (1,910)
Increase in trade and other payables 2,220 2,126

Cash flows from operations 63,279 81,885
Income taxes paid (12,695) (9,060)

Net cash flows from operating activities 50,584 72,825

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 3,713 933
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,519) (13,797)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 16 85
Prepayment of right-of-use assets (644) (386)
Net	cash	inflow	on	disposal	of	subsidiaries 15 – 20,232
Dividends received from associates 108 65
Loan to joint venture (3,040) (1,000)
Proceeds from third-party loan – 14,800
Proceeds from disposal of an associate – 500
Investment in joint venture – (2,450)

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities (12,366) 18,982

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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The	accompanying	accounting	policies	and	explanatory	notes	form	an	integral	part	of	the	financial	statements.

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (3,913) (2,259)
Proceeds from issuance of shares 1,017 564
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company (17,294) (8,648)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (1,979) (2,204)
Repayment of principal portion of interest-bearing loans and borrowings (78,546) (76,914)
Proceeds from interest-bearing loans and borrowings 76,679 65,568
Proceeds from reissuance of treasury shares pursuant to equity compensation plan 89 –
Purchase of treasury shares (7,595) (2,327)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (31,542) (26,220)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,676 65,587
Effect	of	exchange	rate	changes	on	cash	and	cash	equivalents (986) (548)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 125,596 60,557

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 25 131,286 125,596

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The	financial	statements	of	Food	Empire	Holdings	Limited	(the	“Company”)	and	its	subsidiaries	(collectively,	the	“Group”)	
for the year ended 31 December 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 20 
March 2024.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).

The	 registered	 office	 of	 the	 Company	 is	 located	 at	 1	 Harbourfront	 Avenue,	 Keppel	 Bay	 Tower,	 #14-07,	 Singapore	
098632.	The	principal	place	of	business	of	the	Company	is	located	at	31	Harrison	Road,	#08-01,	Food	Empire	Building,	
Singapore 369649.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and other details of the subsidiaries 
are	disclosed	in	Note	15	to	the	financial	statements.	

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

2.1 Basis of preparation

The	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 of	 the	 Group	 have	 been	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	 Singapore	 Financial	
Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(I)). 

The	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	a	historical	cost	basis	except	as	disclosed	in	the	accounting	policies	
below.	The	consolidated	financial	statements	provide	comparative	information	in	respect	of	the	previous	period.

The	Company’s	functional	currency	is	Singapore	Dollars	(“S$”	or	“SGD”)	while	the	financial	statements	are	presented	in	
United	States	Dollars	(“US$”	or	“USD”).	The	Group	adopted	USD	as	the	presentation	currency	as	it	is	more	reflective	of	
the business operations of the Group, where transactions are mostly in USD. 

All values in the tables are rounded to the nearest thousand (US$’000), except when otherwise stated. 

2.2 Adoption of new and amended standards and interpretations

The	accounting	policies	adopted	are	consistent	with	those	of	the	previous	financial	year	except	in	the	current	financial	
year,	 the	 Group	 has	 adopted	 all	 the	 new	 and	 revised	 standards	 which	 are	 effective	 for	 annual	 financial	 periods	
beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2023.	The	adoption	of	these	standards	did	not	have	any	material	effect	on	the	financial	
performance or position of the Company.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

The	Group	has	not	adopted	the	following	standards	applicable	to	the	Group	that	have	been	issued	but	not	yet	effective:

Description
Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-7: Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-21: Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Date to be determined

The	directors	expect	that	the	adoption	of	the	standards	above	will	have	no	material	impact	on	the	financial	statements	
in the year of initial application.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combination

(a) Basis of consolidation

The	consolidated	financial	 statements	 comprise	 the	financial	 statements	of	 the	Company	and	 its	 subsidiaries	
as at 31 December 2023. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its	involvement	with	the	investee	and	has	the	ability	to	affect	those	returns	through	its	power	over	the	investee.	
Specifically,	the	Group	controls	an	investee	if,	and	only	if,	the	Group	has:

 – Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee) 

 – Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee

 – The	ability	to	use	its	power	over	the	investee	to	affect	its	returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption 
and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

 – The contractual arrangements with the other vote holders of the investee

 – Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

 – The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
financial	 statements	 from	 the	 date	 the	 Group	 gains	 control	 until	 the	 date	 the	 Group	 ceases	 to	 control	 the	
subsidiary.

Profit	or	loss	and	each	component	of	OCI	are	attributed	to	the	equity	holders	of	the	parent	of	the	Group	and	to	
the	non-controlling	interests,	even	if	this	results	in	the	non-controlling	interests	having	a	deficit	balance.	When	
necessary,	adjustments	are	made	to	the	financial	statements	of	subsidiaries	to	bring	their	accounting	policies	in	
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash 
flows	relating	to	transactions	between	members	of	the	Group	are	eliminated	in	full	on	consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controlling	interest	and	other	components	of	equity,	while	any	resultant	gain	or	loss	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	
Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combination (cont’d)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill

Business	combinations	are	accounted	for	by	applying	the	acquisition	method.	Identifiable	assets	acquired	and	
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the 
services are received. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or 
liability,	will	be	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, are recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, 
or	at	the	non-controlling	interest’s	proportionate	share	of	the	acquiree’s	identifiable	net	assets.	

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount 
of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest 
in	the	acquiree	(if	any),	over	the	net	fair	value	of	the	acquiree’s	identifiable	assets	and	liabilities	is	recorded	as	
goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain 
purchase	in	profit	or	loss	on	the	acquisition	date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated	to	the	Group’s	cash-generating	units	that	are	expected	to	benefit	from	the	synergies	of	the	combination.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by 
assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the 
goodwill relates. 

2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of 
the Company.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are 
adjusted	to	reflect	the	changes	in	their	relative	interests	in	the	subsidiary.	Any	difference	between	the	amount	by	which	
the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.6 Foreign currency

The	financial	statements	are	presented	in	United	States	Dollars.	Each	entity	in	the	Group	determines	its	own	functional	
currency	and	items	included	in	the	financial	statements	of	each	entity	are	measured	using	that	functional	currency.

(a) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating 
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. 

Exchange	differences	arising	on	the	settlement	of	monetary	items	or	on	translating	monetary	items	at	the	end	of	
the	reporting	period	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	Exchange	differences	arising	on	monetary	items	that	form	
part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations are recognised initially in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is 
reclassified	from	equity	to	profit	or	loss	of	the	Group	on	disposal	of	the	foreign	operation.

(b) Consolidated financial statements

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into USD at the rate of 
exchange	ruling	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	and	their	profit	or	loss	are	translated	at	the	exchange	rates	
prevailing	at	the	date	of	the	transactions.	The	exchange	differences	arising	on	the	translation	are	recognised	in	
other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income 
relating	to	that	particular	foreign	operation	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	

2.7 Investment in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has 
rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee	and	has	the	ability	to	affect	those	returns	through	its	
power over the investee.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment losses.

2.8 Investment in associates and joint ventures

An	associate	is	an	entity	over	which	the	Group	has	the	power	to	participate	in	the	financial	and	operating	policy	decisions	
of the investee but does not have control or joint control of those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.

The	considerations	made	in	determining	significant	influence	or	joint	control	are	similar	to	those	necessary	to	determine	
control over subsidiaries. The Group’s investment in its associate and joint venture are accounted for using the equity 
method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying 
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint 
venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately. 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.8 Investment in associates and joint ventures (cont’d)

The	statement	of	profit	or	loss	reflects	the	Group’s	share	of	the	results	of	operations	of	the	associate	or	joint	venture.	
Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change 
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when 
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the 
Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture. 

The	aggregate	of	the	Group’s	share	of	profit	or	loss	of	an	associate	and	a	joint	venture	is	shown	on	the	face	of	the	
statement	of	profit	or	loss	outside	operating	profit	and	represents	profit	or	loss	after	tax	and	non-controlling	interests	
in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture. 

The	financial	statements	of	the	associate	or	joint	venture	are	prepared	for	the	same	reporting	period	as	the	Group.	
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment 
loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there 
is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the 
Group	calculates	the	amount	of	impairment	as	the	difference	between	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	associate	or	joint	
venture	and	its	carrying	value,	and	then	recognises	the	loss	in	profit	or	loss.

Upon	loss	of	significant	influence	over	the	associate	or	joint	control	over	the	joint	venture,	the	Group	measures	and	
recognises	 any	 retained	 investment	 at	 its	 fair	 value.	Any	difference	between	 the	 carrying	 amount	of	 the	 associate	
or	 joint	venture	upon	loss	of	significant	 influence	or	 joint	control	and	the	fair	value	of	the	retained	investment	and	
proceeds	from	disposal	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and 
equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Freehold properties – 10–50 years
Leasehold properties – Over the remaining term of lease between 1–60 years
Plant and machinery – 5–15 years
Furniture	and	fittings	and	other	equipment – 3–15 years
Factory	and	office	equipment – 5–10 years
Computers – 3–5 years
Motor vehicles – 3–5 years
Forklifts – 10 years
Leasehold improvements – 5–10 years

Capital work-in-progress included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not yet 
available for use.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.9 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

The	 residual	 value,	 useful	 life	 and	 depreciation	 method	 are	 reviewed	 at	 each	 financial	 year	 end,	 and	 adjusted	
prospectively, if appropriate. 

An	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 is	derecognised	upon	disposal	or	when	no	future	economic	benefits	are	
expected	from	its	use.	Any	gain	or	loss	on	derecognition	of	the	asset	is	included	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	year	the	asset	is	
derecognised.

2.10 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial acquisition, intangible assets are carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible 
assets,	excluding	capitalised	development	costs,	are	not	capitalised	and	expenditure	is	reflected	in	the	profit	or	loss	in	
the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The	useful	lives	of	the	intangible	assets	are	assessed	as	indefinite.

Intangible	assets	with	indefinite	useful	lives	or	not	yet	available	for	use	are	tested	for	impairment	annually,	or	more	
frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired either individually or at 
the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an 
indefinite	useful	life	is	reviewed	annually	to	determine	whether	the	useful	life	assessment	continues	to	be	supportable.	
If	not,	the	change	in	useful	life	from	indefinite	to	finite	is	made	on	a	prospective	basis.

Brand

The brand, Petrovskaya Sloboda was acquired in a business combination in 2007. The useful life of the brand is 
estimated	to	be	indefinite	because	based	on	the	current	market	share	of	the	brand,	management	believes	there	is	no	
foreseeable	limit	to	the	period	over	which	the	brand	is	expected	to	generate	net	cash	inflows	for	the	Group.

2.11 Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the	financial	instrument.	

At	initial	recognition,	the	Group	measures	a	financial	asset	at	its	fair	value	plus	transaction	costs	that	are	directly	
attributable	to	the	acquisition	of	the	financial	asset.	

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of 
third	party,	if	the	trade	receivables	do	not	contain	a	significant	financing	component	at	initial	recognition.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.11 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial assets (cont’d)

Subsequent measurement

Investments in debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset 
and	the	contractual	cash	flow	characteristics	of	 the	asset.	The	Group	has	debt	 instruments	which	are	held	at	
amortised cost.

Amortised cost

Financial	assets	that	are	held	for	the	collection	of	contractual	cash	flows	where	those	cash	flows	represent	solely	
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised 
cost	using	the	effective	interest	method,	less	impairment.	Gains	and	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	when	
the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

Derecognition

A	financial	asset	is	derecognised	where	the	contractual	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	has	expired.	On	
derecognition	of	a	financial	asset	in	its	entirety,	the	difference	between	the	carrying	amount	and	the	sum	of	the	
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income 
is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	

(b) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of	the	financial	instrument.	The	Group	determines	the	classification	of	its	financial	liabilities	at	initial	recognition.

All	financial	liabilities	are	recognised	initially	at	fair	value	plus	directly	attributable	to	transaction	costs.

Subsequent measurement

After	 initial	 recognition,	 financial	 liabilities	 are	 subsequently	 measured	 at	 amortised	 cost	 using	 the	 effective	
interest	method.	Gains	 and	 losses	 are	 recognised	 in	 profit	 or	 loss	when	 the	 liabilities	 are	 derecognised,	 and	
through the amortisation process. 

Derecognition

A	financial	liability	is	derecognised	when	the	obligation	under	the	liability	is	discharged	or	cancelled	or	expired.	
On	derecognition,	the	difference	in	the	respective	carrying	amounts	and	the	consideration	paid	is	recognised	in	
profit	or	loss.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount. 

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value-in-use	and	is	determined	for	an	individual	asset,	unless	the	asset	does	not	generate	cash	inflows	that	are	largely	
independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount 
of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised 
in	profit	or	loss.	Impairment	losses	relating	to	goodwill	cannot	be	reversed	in	future	periods.

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through	profit	or	 loss	and	financial	guarantee	contracts.	ECLs	are	based	on	the	difference	between	the	contractual	
cash	flows	due	in	accordance	with	the	contract	and	all	the	cash	flows	that	the	Group	expects	to	receive,	discounted	at	
an	approximation	of	the	original	effective	interest	rate.	The	expected	cash	flows	will	include	cash	flows	from	the	sale	of	
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs	are	recognised	in	two	stages.	For	credit	exposures	for	which	there	has	not	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 
next	12-months	(a	12-month	ECL).	For	those	credit	exposures	for	which	there	has	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the 
exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For	trade	receivables	and	contract	assets,	the	Group	applies	a	simplified	approach	in	calculating	ECLs.	Therefore,	the	
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted	for	forward-looking	factors	specific	to	the	debtors	and	the	economic	environment.

The	Group	considers	a	financial	asset	in	default	when	contractual	payments	are	90	days	past	due.	However,	in	certain	
cases,	the	Group	may	also	consider	a	financial	asset	to	be	in	default	when	internal	or	external	information	indicates	
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements	held	by	the	Group.	A	financial	asset	is	written	off	when	there	is	no	reasonable	expectation	of	recovering	
the	contractual	cash	flows.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	on	hand	and	cash	with	banks	or	financial	institutions,	including	fixed	deposits	
that	are	readily	convertible	to	known	amount	of	cash	and	which	are	subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	of	changes	in	value.	
These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

• Raw materials: costs of direct materials and goods purchased for resale are stated on a weighted average basis.

• Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing 
overheads based on normal operating capacity. These costs are assigned on a weighted average basis.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value of 
inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.16 Provisions

General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	embodying	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation	and	the	
amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Provisions	are	reviewed	at	the	end	of	each	reporting	period	and	adjusted	to	reflect	the	current	best	estimate.	If	it	is	
no	 longer	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	resources	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation,	the	provision	 is	
reversed.	If	the	effect	of	the	time	value	of	money	is	material,	provisions	are	discounted	using	a	current	pre-tax	rate	that	
reflects,	where	appropriate,	the	risks	specific	to	the	liability.	When	discounting	is	used,	the	increase	in	the	provision	due	
to	the	passage	of	time	is	recognised	as	a	finance	cost.

2.17 Financial guarantee

A	financial	guarantee	contract	is	a	contract	that	requires	the	issuer	to	make	specified	payments	to	reimburse	the	holder	
for	a	loss	it	incurs	because	a	specified	debtor	fails	to	make	payment	when	due	in	accordance	with	the	terms	of	a	debt	
instrument. 

Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly 
attributable	to	the	issuance	of	the	guarantee.	Subsequent	to	initial	recognition,	financial	guarantees	are	measured	at	
the higher of the amount of expected credit loss determined in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.13 and the 
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised over the period of 
the guarantee.

2.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing 
costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing 
costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.19 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 
right	to	control	the	use	of	an	identified	asset	for	a	period	of	time	in	exchange	for	consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities representing the obligations to make lease payments 
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying leased assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 
term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Leasehold land – 33–60 years
Office	and	factory	premises – 2–3 years
Motor vehicles – 2–3 years

If	ownership	of	the	leased	asset	transfers	to	the	Group	at	the	end	of	the	lease	term	or	the	cost	reflects	the	exercise	of	
a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The accounting policy for impairment is disclosed in Note 2.12. 
The Group’s right-of-use assets are presented within Note 13.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments	to	be	made	over	the	lease	term.	The	lease	payments	include	fixed	payments	(including	in-substance	fixed	
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 
term	reflects	the	Group	exercising	the	option	to	terminate.	Variable	lease	payments	that	do	not	depend	on	an	index	or	
a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or 
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement 
date,	the	amount	of	lease	liabilities	is	increased	to	reflect	the	accretion	of	interest	and	reduced	for	the	lease	payments	
made.	In	addition,	the	carrying	amount	of	lease	liabilities	is	remeasured	if	there	is	a	modification,	a	change	in	the	lease	
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used 
to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 13.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.19 Leases (cont’d)

As lessee (cont’d)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those leases that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies 
the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.20 Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue	is	recognised	when	the	Group	satisfies	a	performance	obligation	by	transferring	a	promised	good	or	
service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance 
obligation	may	be	satisfied	at	a	point	 in	 time	or	over	 time.	The	amount	of	 revenue	recognised	 is	 the	amount	
allocated	to	the	satisfied	performance	obligation.	

 (a) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria for acceptance have been 
satisfied.	The	goods	are	often	sold	with	a	right	of	return	and	with	retrospective	volume	rebates	based	on	the	
aggregate sales over a period of time.

The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated transaction price, which comprises the contractual 
price, net of discounts and rebates. Based on the Group’s experience with similar types of contracts, variable 
consideration is typically constrained and is included in the transaction only to the extent that it is highly probable 
that	a	significant	reversal	in	the	amount	of	cumulative	revenue	recognised	will	not	occur	when	the	uncertainty	
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting date, the Group updates its assessment of the estimated transaction price, including 
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained. The corresponding amounts are 
adjusted against revenue in the period in which the transaction price changes.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023



Food Empire Annual Report 2023 79

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.20 Revenue (cont’d)

(b) Others

Other	revenue	is	recognised	when	the	Group	satisfies	its	performance	obligation	upon	the	rendering	of	services.

2.21 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plans

The	Group	participates	in	the	national	pension	schemes	as	defined	by	the	laws	of	the	countries	in	which	it	has	
operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central Provident Fund 
scheme	 in	 Singapore,	 a	 defined	 contribution	 pension	 scheme.	 Contributions	 to	 defined	 contribution	 pension	
schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

(b) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to the employees. 
The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 
period.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination	benefits	are	employee	benefits	provided	in	exchange	for	the	termination	of	an	employee’s	employment	
as a result of either an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement 
date	or	an	employee’s	decision	to	accept	an	offer	of	benefits	in	exchange	for	the	termination	of	employment.

A	 liability	and	expense	 for	a	 termination	benefit	 is	 recognised	at	 the	earlier	of	when	the	entity	can	no	 longer	
withdraw	the	offer	of	those	benefits	and	when	the	entity	recognises	related	restructuring	costs.	Initial	recognition	
and	subsequent	changes	to	termination	benefits	are	measured	in	accordance	with	the	nature	of	the	employment	
benefits,	short-term	employee	benefits,	or	other	long-term	employee	benefits.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.21 Employee benefits (cont’d)

(d) Employee equity compensation benefits

Employee share option plans

Employees (including senior executives and Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share 
options as consideration for services rendered (‘equity-settled share based payment transactions’). 

The cost of these equity-settled share based payment transactions with employees is measured by reference 
to the fair value of the options at the date on which the options are granted which takes into account market 
condition	and	non-vesting	conditions.	This	cost	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss,	with	a	corresponding	increase	in	the	
share-based payment reserve, over the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date 
until	the	vesting	date	reflects	the	extent	to	which	the	vesting	period	has	expired	and	the	Group’s	best	estimate	
of	the	number	of	options	that	will	ultimately	vest.	The	charge	or	credit	to	profit	or	loss	for	a	period	represents	
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in 
employee	benefits	expense.	The	employee	share	option	reserve	is	transferred	to	accumulated	profits	upon	expiry	
of the share option.

Where the employee share option plan is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense that otherwise would have been recognised for services received over the remaining vesting period 
is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either 
the entity or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if 
they	were	a	modification	of	the	original	award,	as	described	in	the	previous	paragraph.	All	cancellations	of	equity-
settled transaction awards are treated equally. 

2.22 Taxes

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the 
Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current	income	taxes	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	except	to	the	extent	that	the	tax	relates	to	items	recognised	
outside	 profit	 or	 loss,	 either	 in	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 or	 directly	 in	 equity.	 Management	 periodically	
evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are 
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred	tax	is	provided	using	the	liability	method	on	temporary	differences	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	
between	the	tax	bases	of	assets	and	liabilities	and	their	carrying	amounts	for	financial	reporting	purposes.

Deferred	tax	liabilities	are	recognised	for	all	temporary	differences,	except:

• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 
a	 transaction	 that	 is	not	a	business	 combination	and,	 at	 the	 time	of	 the	 transaction,	 affects	neither	 the	
accounting	profit	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss;	and

• in	 respect	 of	 taxable	 temporary	 differences	 associated	with	 investments	 in	 subsidiaries,	 associates	 and	
interests	in	joint	ventures,	where	the	timing	of	the	reversal	of	the	temporary	differences	can	be	controlled	
and	it	is	probable	that	the	temporary	differences	will	not	reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future.	
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.22 Taxes (cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

Deferred	tax	assets	are	recognised	for	all	deductible	temporary	differences,	carry	forward	of	unused	tax	credits	
and	unused	 tax	 losses,	 to	 the	extent	 that	 it	 is	probable	 that	 taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	 the	
deductible	 temporary	differences,	and	 the	carry	 forward	of	unused	 tax	 credits	and	unused	 tax	 losses	 can	be	
utilised except:

• where	the	deferred	tax	asset	relating	to	the	deductible	temporary	difference	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects	neither	the	accounting	profit	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss;	and	

• in	respect	of	deductible	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries,	associates	and	
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary	differences	will	reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future	and	taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	
the	temporary	differences	can	be	utilised.	

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 
no	longer	probable	that	sufficient	taxable	profit	will	be	available	to	allow	all	or	part	of	the	deferred	tax	asset	to	be	
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at end of each reporting period and are recognised to 
the	extent	that	it	has	become	probable	that	future	taxable	profit	will	allow	the	deferred	tax	asset	to	be	recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of each reporting period. 

Deferred	tax	relating	to	items	recognised	outside	profit	or	loss	is	recognised	outside	profit	or	loss.	Deferred	tax	
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

(c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

• where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the	expense	item	as	applicable;	and

• receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

2.23 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their geographical locations 
which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the 
respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company 
who regularly reviews the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment 
performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 33, including the factors used to 
identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.24 Share capital and share issuance expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (cont’d)

2.25 Treasury shares

The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at costs and deducted from 
equity.	No	gain	or	loss	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	on	the	purchase,	sale,	issue	or	cancellation	of	the	Group’s	own	
equity	instruments.	Any	difference	between	the	carrying	amount	of	treasury	shares	and	the	consideration	received,	
if	reissued,	is	recognised	directly	in	equity.	Voting	rights	related	to	treasury	shares	are	nullified	for	the	Group	and	no	
dividends are allocated to them respectively.

2.26 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a)	 a	possible	obligation	that	arises	from	past	events	and	whose	existence	will	be	confirmed	only	by	the	occurrence	
or	non-occurrence	of	one	or	more	uncertain	future	events	not	wholly	within	the	control	of	the	Group;	or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i)	 it	is	not	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	embodying	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	
obligation;	or	

(ii)	 the	amount	of	the	obligation	cannot	be	measured	with	sufficient	reliability.

A	contingent	asset	is	a	possible	asset	that	arises	from	past	events	and	whose	existence	will	be	confirmed	only	by	the	
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The	preparation	of	the	Group’s	consolidated	financial	statements	requires	management	to	make	judgements,	estimates	
and	assumptions	that	affect	the	reported	amounts	of	revenues,	expenses,	assets	and	liabilities,	and	the	disclosure	of	
contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 
result	in	outcomes	that	could	require	a	material	adjustment	to	the	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	or	liability	affected	in	
the future periods.

3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

Management	 is	of	 the	opinion	 that	 there	 is	no	significant	 judgement	made	 in	 the	process	of	applying	 the	Group’s	
accounting policies.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period	are	discussed	below.	The	Group	based	its	assumptions	and	estimates	on	parameters	available	when	the	financial	
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change 
due	to	market	changes	or	circumstances	arising	beyond	the	control	of	the	Group.	Such	changes	are	reflected	in	the	
assumptions when they occur.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(a) Impairment of intangible assets 

As	disclosed	in	Note	17	to	the	financial	statements,	the	recoverable	amounts	of	the	cash-generating	units	which	
goodwill and brands have been allocated to are determined based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-
use	calculations	are	based	on	a	discounted	cash	flow	model.	The	recoverable	amount	is	most	sensitive	to	the	
discount	 rates	used	 for	 the	discounted	 cash	flow	model	 as	well	 as	 the	expected	 future	 cash	 inflows	and	 the	
growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. The key assumptions applied in the determination of the value-in-
use	are	disclosed	and	further	explained	in	Note	17	to	the	financial	statements.

The carrying amount of the intangible assets as at 31 December 2023 is US$8,800,000 (2022: US$8,302,000).

(b) Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days 
past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate 
the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, 
historical default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and 
ECLs	is	a	significant	estimate.	The	amount	of	ECLs	is	sensitive	to	changes	in	circumstances	as	well	as	forecasted	
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also 
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s 
trade receivables is disclosed in Note 23.

The carrying amount of trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 is US$38,161,000 (2022: US$31,477,000).

(c) Variable consideration arising from discounts and rebates

Revenue is measured taking into account of discounts and rebates earned by customers on the Group’s sales, 
which give rise to variable consideration under SFRS(I) 15. Variable consideration is estimated and is constrained 
to	the	extent	that	it	is	highly	probable	that	a	significant	reversal	in	the	amount	of	cumulative	revenue	recognised	
will not occur when the associated uncertainty is subsequently resolved. 

The Group provides rebates to some of its customers if the customers reach a certain threshold of purchase. The 
Group applied the “most likely amount method” to estimate the variable consideration to which it will be entitled.

For	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023,	the	Group	recognised	revenue	amounting	to	US$425,715,000	
(2022: US$398,362,000).

(d) Uncertainty arising from on-going conflict between Russia and Ukraine

As	at	the	date	of	the	financial	statements,	the	armed	conflict	between	Russia	and	Ukraine	is	still	ongoing.	As	the	
situation	remains	volatile	and	may	evolve,	the	Group	is	closely	monitoring	the	financial	impact	to	its	Russia	and	
Ukraine	operations.	Based	on	the	information	available	and	the	Group’s	current	financial	position	and	resources,	
the Group has assessed that the use of the going concern assumption remains reasonable.
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4. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue

Group segments Sale of goods Rental income Others Total revenue
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Primary geographical 
markets

Russia 143,260 148,384 – – – – 143,260 148,384
Ukraine, Kazakhstan  

and CIS markets 110,732 91,476 5 4 – – 110,737 91,480
South-East Asia 101,605 92,225 – 455 29 38 101,634 92,718
South Asia 49,128 39,599 – – – 1 49,128 39,600
Others 20,740 25,824 – – 216 356 20,956 26,180
Total 425,465 397,508 5 459 245 395 425,715 398,362

Timing of transfer of 
goods or services

At a point in time 425,465 397,508 – – 245 395

Rental income from the Group’s operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the 
contract.

5. OTHER INCOME

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Foreign exchange gain – 3,163
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 10
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 15,287
Write-back of impairment loss on brand 498 –
Miscellaneous income 589 1,144

1,087 19,604

6. OTHER EXPENSES

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Foreign exchange loss 1,622 –
Impairment loss on investment in an associate – 1,000
Impairment loss on brand – 2,041
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 36 –

1,658 3,041
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7. NET FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS)

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income from:
 – Bank deposits 4,335 933

Interest expenses on:
 – Bank loans (2,518) (1,725)
 – Lease liabilities (511) (209)
 – Others (510) (225)

796 (1,226)

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

The	following	items	have	been	included	in	arriving	at	profit	before	taxation:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Audit fees paid to:
 – Auditors of the Company 207 179
 – Other auditors 200 213

Non-audit fees paid to:
 – Auditors of the Company 85 80
 – Other auditors 90 91

Directors’ fee:
 – Directors of the Group 367 315

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,362 8,549
Depreciation of investment properties – 74
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,453 1,886
Write-back of impairment loss on trade receivables (112) (119)
Impairment loss/(write-back of impairment loss) on other receivables 1 (7)
Inventories written-down/(written-back) 328 (178)
Advertising and promotion expenses 11,189 8,446
Legal and professional fees 1,642 2,033
Office	upkeep	and	administrative	expenses 2,154 2,412
Employee	benefits	expense	(Note	32) 58,174 56,915
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Major components of income tax expenses

The major components of income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Consolidated income statement
Current income tax
 – Current income taxation 13,805 10,778
 – Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years 156 (109)

13,961 10,669

Deferred income tax
 – Origination	and	reversal	of	temporary	differences 940 (271)
 – Under provision in respect of prior years 1,134 240

2,074 (31)
Income	tax	expense	recognised	in	profit	or	loss 16,035 10,638

Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

A	reconciliation	between	tax	expense	and	the	product	of	accounting	profit	multiplied	by	the	applicable	corporate	tax	
rate for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Accounting	profit	before	tax 72,499 70,706

Tax	at	the	domestic	rates	applicable	to	profits	in	the	countries	where	the	Group	operates 17,934 14,632
Adjustments:

Non-deductible expenses 2,271 1,903
Income not subject to taxation (4,806) (4,800)
Effect	of	partial	tax	exemption	and	tax	relief (691) (650)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 1 206
Under/(over) provision of current taxation in respect of prior years 156 (109)
Under provision of deferred taxation in respect of prior years 1,134 240
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses and capital allowances – (766)
Others 36 (18)

Income	tax	expense	recognised	in	profit	or	loss 16,035 10,638

The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.
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10. DIVIDENDS

Group and Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Declared and paid during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares:
 – Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2022: S$0.0440 (2021: S$0.0162) per share 17,294 6,368
 – Special exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2022: S$Nil (2021: S$0.0058) per share – 2,280

Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 December:
Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting:
 – Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2023: S$0.0500 (2022: S$0.0440) per share 19,483 17,294
 – Special exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2023: S$0.0500 (2022: S$Nil) per share 19,483 –

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic	earnings	per	share	are	calculated	by	dividing	 the	profit	 for	 the	year,	net	of	 tax,	attributable	 to	ordinary	
equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial	year.

The	following	table	reflects	the	profit	and	share	data	used	in	the	computation	of	basic	earnings	per	share	for	the	
years ended 31 December:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Net	profit	for	the	year	used	in	computing	basic	earnings	per	share 56,508 60,097

No. of shares ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
used in basic earnings per share computation* 525,581 532,604

*	 The	weighted	average	number	of	shares	takes	into	account	the	weighted	average	effect	of	changes	in	treasury	shares	transactions	during	the	year.
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE (cont’d)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted	earnings	per	share	are	calculated	by	dividing	the	profit	for	the	year,	net	of	tax,	attributable	to	original	
equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial	year	plus	the	weighted	average	number	of	ordinary	shares	that	would	be	issued	on	the	conversion	of	all	
the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The	following	table	reflects	the	profit	and	shares	data	used	in	the	computation	of	dilutive	earnings	per	share	for	
the years ended 31 December:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Net	profit	for	the	year	used	in	computing	diluted	earnings	per	share 56,508 60,097

No. of shares ’000

Weighted average number of shares issued,  
used in basic earnings per share computation* 525,581 532,604

Dilutive	effect	of	share	options 7,904 1,128
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  

used in diluted earnings per share computation* 533,485 533,732

*	 The	weighted	average	number	of	shares	takes	into	account	the	weighted	average	effect	of	changes	in	treasury	shares	transactions	during	the	year.

In 2022, 11,864,000 share options granted to employees under the existing employee share option plans had not 
been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they were anti-dilutive. There were none 
in 2023.

Since	 the	 end	of	 the	 financial	 year,	 senior	 executives	 have	 exercised	 the	 options	 to	 acquire	 6,085,000	 (2022:	
1,580,000)	ordinary	shares.	There	were	no	significant	transactions	involving	ordinary	shares	or	potential	ordinary	
shares	since	the	reporting	date	and	before	the	completion	of	these	financial	statements.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

The	Group’s	property,	plant	and	equipment	include	borrowing	costs	arising	from	bank	loans	made	specifically	for	the	
purpose	of	the	construction	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment.	During	the	financial	year,	the	borrowing	costs	
capitalised and included in capital work-in-progress amounted to US$374,000 (2022: US$99,000). 

As at 31 December 2023, land and buildings consist of freehold properties of US$15,754,000 (2022: US$16,058,000) and 
leasehold properties of US$19,128,000 (2022: US$19,551,000).

The following are the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment that are mortgaged to obtain bank loans:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Land and buildings 24,420 24,848
Plant and machinery 40,355 43,852
Other equipment 2,648 2,588
Capital work-in-progress 247 739

67,670 72,027

Information on the borrowing facilities of the Group is disclosed in Note 28.

13. LEASES

Group as a lessee

The	Group	has	 lease	contracts	 for	various	 items	of	 leasehold	 land,	office	and	 factory	premises	and	motor	vehicles	
used in its operations. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. 
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets. There are several lease contracts 
that include extension and termination options, which are further discussed below.

The	Group	also	has	certain	leases	of	machinery,	storage	facilities	and	office	premises	with	lease	terms	of	12	months	
or	less	and	leases	of	office	equipment	with	low	value.	The	Group	applies	the	‘short-term	lease’	and	‘lease	of	low-value	
assets’ recognition exemptions for these leases.
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13. LEASES (cont’d)

Group as a lessee (cont’d)

(a) Carrying amounts of right-of-use assets

Leasehold 
land

Office and 
factory 

premises
Motor 

Vehicles Total
Group US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2022 7,112 2,022 380 9,514
Additions 566 5,539 – 6,105
Depreciation (168) (1,641) (77) (1,886)
Disposals – (4) – (4)
Disposal of subsidiaries – (350) (18) (368)
Effects	of	lease	modifications	 – (6) – (6)
Exchange realignment (17) (243) (1) (261)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 7,493 5,317 284 13,094
Additions 644 1,297 – 1,941
Depreciation (184) (2,195) (74) (2,453)
Effects	of	lease	modifications	 – (38) – (38)
Exchange realignment (3) (955) 6 (952)
At 31 December 2023 7,950 3,426 216 11,592

Motor 
Vehicles

Company US$’000

At 1 January 2022 357
Depreciation (72)
Exchange realignment (1)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 284
Depreciation (74)
Exchange realignment 5
At 31 December 2023 215
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13. LEASES (cont’d)

Group as a lessee (cont’d)

(b) Lease liabilities

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 6,362 3,514 150 187
Additions 1,297 5,719 – –
Accretion of interest 511 209 3 3
Payments (2,490) (2,413) (40) (40)
Disposal of subsidiaries – (390) – –
Effects	of	lease	modifications (38) (6) – –
Exchange realignment (965) (271) 3 –
At 31 December 4,677 6,362 116 150

Current 2,170 1,710 39 37
Non-current 2,507 4,652 77 113

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 37b.

(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 2,453 1,886
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 7) 511 209
Lease expense not capitalised in lease liabilities and included in general  

and administrative expenses:
 – Expense relating to short-term leases 1,115 1,297
 – Expense relating to low-value assets 24 28

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 4,103 3,420

(d) Total cash outflow

The	Group	had	total	cash	outflows	for	 leases,	 including	short-term	leases	and	 low-value	assets,	amounting	to	
US$4,273,000 (2022: US$4,124,000). The Group also had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities of US$1,297,000 (2022: US$5,719,000) in 2023.
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13. LEASES (cont’d)

Group as a lessee (cont’d)

(e) Extension options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are 
negotiated	by	management	to	provide	flexibility	in	managing	the	leased-asset	portfolio	and	align	with	the	Group’s	
business needs. Management exercises judgement in determining whether these extension and termination 
options are reasonably certain to be exercised. 

Set out below are the undiscounted potential future rental payments relating to periods following the exercise 
date of extension and termination options that are not included in the lease term:

Group
Within  

five years
More than 
five years Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
2023
Extension options expected not to be exercised – 3,165 3,165

2022
Extension options expected not to be exercised – 3,181 3,181

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000
Cost
At 1 January – 15,197
Disposal of subsidiaries – (14,737)
Exchange realignment – (460)
At 31 December – –

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January – 1,171
Charge for the year – 74
Disposal of subsidiaries – (1,192)
Exchange realignment – (53)
At 31 December – –

Net carrying amount
At 31 December – –

Income statement:
Rental income from investment properties:
 – Minimum lease payments – 455

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from:
 – Rental generating properties – 157
 – Non-rental generating properties – 13
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont’d)

Disposal of investment properties

During the previous year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed of its investment properties via the sale 
of	its	wholly-owned	Singapore	subsidiary,	Food	Empire	Real	Estates	Pte	Ltd,	as	disclosed	in	Note	15	to	the	financial	
statements.

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 44,485 44,485

Composition of the Group

Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December are as follows:

Percentage of equity  
held by the Group

Name of company 2023 2022
(Country of incorporation) Principal activities % %

Held by the Company

Future Enterprises Pte Ltd (1)  
(Singapore)

Sales and marketing of instant food  
and beverages

100 100

EPIQ Food Services Pte Ltd (1)  
(Singapore)

Investment holding 100 100

Future Investment Holdings Pte Ltd (1)  
(Singapore) 

Investment holding 100 100

Held by Future Enterprises Pte Ltd

FER (HK) Limited (3)  
(Hong Kong)

Investment holding 100 100

WELLDis LLP *(5)  
(Kazakhstan)

Distribution, procurement, wholesale and 
trade of beverage products

100 100

Empire Manufacturing Sdn Bhd (2)  
(Malaysia)

Manufacturing food and beverages and 
real estate activities relating to own or 
lease property

100 100

Food Excellence Specialist Sdn Bhd (2)  
(Malaysia)

Manufacturing food and beverages 100 100

Mei Ka Fei (Hohhot) Trade Co., Ltd (9)  
(People’s Republic of China)

Trading (import and export) of 
Group’s products

100 100

Empire Food Trading Co Ltd (8)  
(Mongolia)

General trading 100 100
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Composition of the Group (cont’d)

Percentage of equity  
held by the Group

Name of company 2023 2022
(Country of incorporation) Principal activities % %

Held by Future Enterprises Pte Ltd (cont’d)

Empire International Sdn Bhd (2)  
(Malaysia)

International procurement centre, procuring 
and selling of raw materials, processed and 
non-processed	food	and	finished	goods

100 100

FES Products LLC (11)  
(Russia)

Manufacturing and distribution of instant 
food and beverages

100 100

FES (Vietnam) Co., Ltd (2)  
(Vietnam)

Manufacturing and distribution of instant 
food and beverages

100 100

FES UKR LLC (2)  
(Ukraine)

Production, preparation, packaging and 
distribution of instant beverages

100 100

Ukragroinvest-2005 LLC (5)  
(Ukraine)

Dormant 100 100

FE Foods Philippines Inc. (4)  
(Philippines)

Dormant 100 100

FE Global DMCC (10)  
(United Arab Emirates – Dubai)

Marketing	management,	foodstuff	
&	beverages,	snack	food,	tea,	coffee,	
confectionary and chocolate trading

100 100

FE Food (Cambodia) Co., Ltd. (6)  
(Cambodia)

Wholesale of food and beverages 100 –

Held by FER (HK) Limited

FES International FZE (10)  
(United Arab Emirates – Dafza)

Dormant 100 100

Held by Ukragroinvest-2005 LLC

FE Production Ltd (5)  
(Ukraine)

Manufacturing of food products 100 100
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Composition of the Group (cont’d)

Percentage of equity  
held by the Group

Name of company 2023 2022
(Country of incorporation) Principal activities % %

Held by Future Investment Holdings Pte Ltd

Coffee	One	Coffee	System	Pte	Ltd (1)  
(Singapore)

Wholesale trade of a variety of goods without 
dominant products and selling rights to use 
intellectual property against royalty rights

51 51

Empire Manufacturing Kazakhstan LLP (5)  
(Kazakhstan)

Production	and	sales	of	instant	coffee	
and tea

100 –

Hallyu Ventures Pte Ltd (1)  
(Singapore)

Investment holding company 51 51

Jointly held by EPIQ Food Services Pte Ltd 
and Future Investment Holdings Pte Ltd

Global Food Excellence Ltd (7)  
(Nigeria)

Marketing support of Group’s products 100 100

Indus	Coffee	Private	Limited (2)  
(India)

Manufacturing and packaging of 
instant coffee

100 100

(1) Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore.
(2)	 Audited	by	associated	firms	of	Ernst	&	Young	LLP,	Singapore.
(3) Audited by Chow & Ng CPA Limited.
(4) Audited by Ayson Accounting and Business Center. 
(5) Not required to be audited by the law of its country of incorporation.
(6) Audited by BG Associates Ltd.
(7) Audited by UHY Maaji and Co. 
(8) Audited by Peace and Perfect Audit LLC.
(9) Audited by Hohhot Jing Xiang Lian He Accounting Firm.
(10) Audited by Rao & Ross Chartered Accountants.
(11) Audited by TSATR – Audit Services LLC.

* WELLDis LLP is audited by Grant Thornton LLP, Kazakhstan for the purposes of group reporting.
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Disposal of subsidiaries

During the previous year ended 31 December 2022, the interests in the following subsidiaries were disposed of:

Equity interest  
disposed by the Group

Name of subsidiaries disposed %

BVBA Food Expert 100
Food Empire Real Estates Pte Ltd 100
Tea Avenue (Private) Limited 72
Tea Avenue Pte Ltd 72

The value of assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as follows:

2022
US$’000

Current
Assets 2,550
Liabilities (17,228)
Net current liabilities (14,678)

Non-current
Assets 21,040
Liabilities (600)
Net non-current assets 20,440

Carrying value of net assets 5,762

The	cash	flow	effect	of	the	disposal	was	as	follows:	

2022
US$’000

Cash consideration 20,937
Net assets derecognised (5,762)
Derecognition of non-controlling interest 112
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 15,287

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries
Cash consideration 20,937
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries (705)
Net	cash	inflow	from	disposal	of	subsidiaries 20,232
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE

The Group’s investments in associates and joint venture are summarised below:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Investments in associates
Caffe	Bene	Co.,	Ltd. – –
Triple Ace Ventures Limited 3,588 4,472
Empire Teas (PVT) Ltd 5,322 4,748
Other associates – 311

8,910 9,531

Investment in joint venture
Tea House LLP 3,715 2,299

12,625 11,830

Details of the associates and joint venture are as follows:

Percentage of equity  
held by the Group

Name of company 2023 2022
(Country of incorporation) Principal activities % %

Held by subsidiaries

Caffe	Bene	Co.,	Ltd. (1)  
(South Korea)

Coffee	house	chain	 19.18 19.18

Triple Ace Ventures Limited (2)  
(British Virgin Islands)

Investment holding 50.00 50.00

Empire Teas (PVT) Ltd (3)  
(Sri Lanka) 

Exporter of bulk, packet and bagged tea 30.00 30.00

101	Caffe	S.r.l. (4)  
(The Republic of Italy)

Distribution	of	coffee	paraphernalia	
including pods, pads and capsules through 
its franchise network

22.48 22.48

Positive Food Ventures Private Limited (5)  
(India)

Manufacturing and marketing  
ready-to-drink beverages

33.13 33.13

Tea House LLP (6)  
(Kazakhstan)

Production and sale of tea and infusions 50.50 50.50

(1) Audited by Dong-A & Song-Kang Accounting Corporation, Korea. 
(2) Audited by N.D,S & Co, Chartered Accountants, India. 
(3) Audited by Ernst & Young, Sri Lanka.
(4) Audited by BDO, Italy. 
(5) Positive Food Ventures Private Limited has changed their auditor from M. P. & Associates, India in 2022 to Chirag Sehgal & Co., Chartered 

Accountants in 2023.
(6) Not required to be audited by the law of its country of incorporation.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE (cont’d)

The	summarised	financial	information	in	respect	of	the	Group’s	material	associates	and	joint	venture	based	on	their	
financial	 statements	 and	 a	 reconciliation	with	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the	 investment	 in	 the	 consolidated	financial	
statements are as follows:

Summarised balance sheet
Caffe Bene  

Co., Ltd.
Triple Ace  

Ventures Limited
Empire Teas  

(PVT) Ltd
Tea House  

LLP
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Current assets 1,910 3,064 2,543 1,967 48,314 41,104 11,954 4,054
Non-current assets 5,411 7,002 8,417 11,143 6,611 5,806 1,870 2,033
Total assets 7,321 10,066 10,960 13,110 54,925 46,910 13,824 6,087

Current liabilities (13,550) (12,123) (3,709) (4,116) (35,651) (27,154) (2,121) (2,242)
Non-current liabilities (11,987) (14,586) (74) (50) (1,534) (3,931) (8,340) (1,223)
Total liabilities (25,537) (26,709) (3,783) (4,166) (37,185) (31,085) (10,461) (3,465)
Net (liabilities)/assets (18,216) (16,643) 7,177 8,944 17,740 15,825 3,363 2,622

Proportion of the 
Group’s ownership 19.18% 19.18% 50.00% 50.00% 30.00% 30.00% 50.50% 50.50%

Group’s share of net  
(liabilities)/assets (3,493) (3,192) 3,588 4,472 5,322 4,748 1,698 1,324

Goodwill on acquisition 8,440 8,440 – – – – – 962
Fair value adjustment 

on acquisition 2,123 2,123 – – – – 1,998 –
Impairment loss (4,281) (4,281) – – – – – –
Accumulated share of 

unrecognised losses 880 579 – – – – – –
Others (3,669) (3,669) – – – – 19 13

Carrying amount of the 
investments – – 3,588 4,472 5,322 4,748 3,715 2,299

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Caffe Bene  

Co., Ltd.
Triple Ace  

Ventures Limited
Empire Teas  

(PVT) Ltd
Tea House  

LLP
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 10,327 13,047 2,785 3,528 87,618 56,016 12,399 11,032
(Loss)/profit	after	tax	 (1,625) (468) 359 1,240 442 8,445 705 (366)
Other comprehensive income 52 718 (2,126) 437 1,834 (4,389) 36 41
Total comprehensive income (1,573) 250 (1,767) 1,677 2,276 4,056 741 (325)
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE (cont’d)

Aggregate information about the Group’s investments in associates that are not individually material are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Loss for the year (1,825) (2,162)
Other comprehensive income (57) 431
Total comprehensive income (1,882) (1,731)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group received dividend income from Empire Teas (PVT) Ltd of 
US$108,000 (2022: US$65,000).

Acquisition of a joint venture
During the previous year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Future Enterprises Pte Ltd 
(“FEPL”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 18 October 2022 to acquire a total of 50.50% equity interest 
in Tea House LLP (“Tea House”) (the “Acquisition”) for a cash consideration of US$2,450,000. During the year ended 31 
December 2023, the Group completed the purchase price allocation exercise of Tea House and recognised a gain on 
bargain purchase of US$1,036,000. The gain of bargain purchase is presented under the “share of results of associates 
and	joint	venture”	line	item	of	the	consolidated	income	statement.	The	Group	classified	Tea	House	as	a	joint	venture	as	
the Group has joint control of Tea House.

The	fair	value	of	the	identifiable	assets	and	liabilities	of	Tea	House	as	at	the	acquisition	date	were:
Fair value 

recognised  
on 

acquisition
2023

US$’000

Current assets 4,941
Non-current assets 4,060
Total assets 9,001

Current liabilities (2,091)
Non-current liabilities (8)
Total liabilities (2,099)

Total	identifiable	net	assets	at	fair	value 6,902

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 50.50%

Group’s	share	of	net	identifiable	assets 3,486
Bargain purchase on acquisition (1,036)
Total cash consideration paid 2,450

Impairment loss
During the previous year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised an impairment loss on investment in 
101	Caffe	S.r.l	of	US$1,000,000	to	reduce	the	net	carrying	amount	of	the	investment	to	its	recoverable	amount.	The	
recoverable amount is determined based on the associate’s value-in-use. The pre-tax discount rate and long-term 
growth rate used in the value-in-use calculations were 19.74% and 1.0% respectively.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group
Goodwill Brand Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 7,489 8,361 15,850

Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2022 805 4,702 5,507
Impairment loss – 2,041 2,041
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 805 6,743 7,548
Write-back of impairment loss – (498) (498)
At 31 December 2023 805 6,245 7,050

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2023 6,684 2,116 8,800

At 31 December 2022 6,684 1,618 8,302

Impairment testing of goodwill and brand

Goodwill and brand acquired through business combinations have been allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units 
(“CGUs”) or group of CGUs for impairment testing.

The carrying amounts of goodwill and brand allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs or group of CGUs are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Goodwill
 – Procurement business for the Group’s Russia operating segment 4,797 4,797
 – Manufacturing and trading businesses in Malaysia 1,887 1,887

6,684 6,684
Brand 2,116 1,618

8,800 8,302
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

The recoverable amounts of the Group’s CGUs or group of CGUs have been determined based on value-in-use 
calculations	using	cash	flow	projections	from	financial	budgets	approved	by	management	covering	a	five-year	period.	
The	pre-tax	discount	rate	applied	to	the	cash	flow	projections	and	the	forecasted	growth	rate	used	to	extrapolate	cash	
flow	projections	beyond	the	five-year	period	are	as	follows:

Goodwill Brand
Procurement business 
for the Group’s Russia 

operating segment 

Manufacturing and 
trading businesses 

in Malaysia
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Terminal growth rates 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
Pre-tax discount rates 30.05% 22.84% 23.27% 23.65% 36.01% 40.34%

Key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations

The calculations of value-in-use for the Group’s CGUs or group of CGUs are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Forecasted sales growth –	For	the	first	five	years	of	forecasted	sales	growth,	sales	are	based	on	actual	values	achieved	in	
the	years	preceding	the	start	of	the	budget	period.	These	are	adjusted	over	the	budget	period	of	the	next	five	years.	An	
average sales growth of 5% (2022: 5%) and 4% (2022: 5%) per annum were applied for brand and goodwill respectively 
for	the	next	five	years.

Royalty rate – Royalty rates are based on the median royalty rates of an average of comparable royalty rates extracted 
from a published database provider.

Terminal growth rates –	The	 forecasted	growth	 rates	beyond	 the	five	years	period	are	based	on	published	 industry	
research and do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the mature industry that the Group’s CGU or group 
of CGUs are in.

Pre-tax discount rates –	Discount	rates	represent	the	current	market	assessment	of	the	risks	specific	to	each	CGU	or	
group of CGUs, regarding the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets which have not been 
incorporated	in	the	cash	flow	estimates.	The	discount	rate	calculation	is	based	on	the	specific	circumstances	of	the	
Group and its operating segments and derived from its weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes into 
account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the Group’s 
investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings the Group is obliged to service. Segment-
specific	 risk	 is	 incorporated	 by	 applying	 individual	 beta	 factors.	 The	 beta	 factors	 are	 evaluated	 annually	 based	 on	
publicly available market data.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of value-in-use for the Group’s CGUs or group of CGUs, management believes that no 
reasonably possible change in all of the above key assumptions would cause the recoverable amounts of the units to 
materially fall below its carrying amount.

Impairment loss

During the year, the Group recognised a write-back of impairment loss of US$498,000 on its brand due to improvement 
in	 the	 performance	 of	 the	 brand.	 In	 previous	 financial	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2022,	 the	 Group	 recognised	 an	
impairment loss of US$2,041,000 on its brand.
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18. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax as at 31 December relates to the following:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities):
Provisions 1,850 2,178
Unutilised tax losses 480 2,700
Excess of net book value over tax written down value (7,974) (7,703)
Unrealised	profits	on	inventories 2,001 1,176
Others 103 399
Exchange realignment (294) (250)

(3,834) (1,500)

Presented as:
Deferred tax assets 3,861 3,675
Deferred tax liabilities (7,695) (5,175)

Deferred	tax	assets	and	deferred	tax	liabilities	are	offset	when	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	set-off	current	tax	
assets against current tax liabilities, and when deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to the same 
taxation authority. 

Deferred	 tax	assets	are	recognised	 to	 the	extent	 that	 realisation	of	 the	related	 tax	benefits	 through	 future	 taxable	
profits	are	probable.

Unrecognised tax losses

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has tax losses of approximately US$2,535,000 (2022: US$6,002,000) 
that	are	available	for	offset	against	 future	taxable	profits	of	the	companies	 in	which	the	 losses	arose,	 for	which	no	
deferred tax asset is recognised due to uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these unutilised tax losses is subject 
to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the respective 
countries in which the subsidiaries operate. The tax losses have no expiry date except for amounts of US$2,449,000 
(2022: US$5,303,000) which have expiry periods ranging from 1 to 10 years from the date that the losses were incurred.

Unrecognised	temporary	differences	relating	to	investments	in	subsidiaries

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax liability (2022: US$Nil) has been recognised for taxes that would 
be payable on the undistributed earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has determined that 
undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

Such	temporary	differences	for	which	no	deferred	tax	liability	has	been	recognised	amounted	to	US$83,681,000	(2022:	
US$57,194,000).

Tax consequences of proposed dividends

There are no income tax consequences (2022: US$Nil) attached to the dividends to the shareholders proposed by the 
Company	but	not	recognised	as	a	liability	in	the	financial	statements	(Note	10).
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19. INVENTORIES

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Balance sheet:
Raw materials 31,409 35,699
Packaging materials 10,319 10,979
Finished products/trading goods 34,992 27,352
Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value 76,720 74,030

Income statement:
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 229,510 223,301
Inclusive of the following charge:
 – Inventories written-down/(written-back) 328 (178)

The write-back of inventories was made when the related inventories were sold above their carrying amounts in 2022.

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES (NON-TRADE)

Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Amounts due from subsidiaries 14,331 31,433

Amounts due to subsidiaries (21) (53)

The amounts due from and due to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing, expected to be settled in cash and 
are repayable on demand.

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE (NON-TRADE)

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Non-current
Loan to joint venture 4,040 1,000

Current
Amount due from an associate 1,118 1,711

Amount due from joint venture 15 2

Amount due to joint venture (178) –
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21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE (NON-TRADE) (cont’d)

The Group has loans to associates that are impaired at the end of the reporting period. The movement in allowance 
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Loans to associates 5,364 5,359
Allowance for impairment (5,364) (5,359)

– –

Group
Individually impaired
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January 5,359 5,295
Addition 5 64
At 31 December 5,364 5,359

Amounts due from/(to) associates and joint venture (non-trade)

The current amount due from an associate is unsecured, non-interest bearing, expected to be settled in cash and is 
repayable on demand.

The current amount due from joint venture relates to the interest charged on the loan arrangement with the Group’s 
joint venture, Tea House LLP (Note 16). The amount is unsecured, interest bearing, expected to be settled in cash and 
is repayable on demand.

The current amount due to joint venture is unsecured, non-interest bearing, expected to be settled in cash and is 
repayable on demand.

Loans to associates and joint venture

Loan to joint venture is unsecured, bears interest at 8.4% per annum (2022: 4.0%) and expected to be settled in cash 
and is repayable in instalments from 2026 to 2029.

Loans to associates are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The loans are repayable either by 
cash or by issuance of common shares by the associates. The loans remain fully impaired as of 31 December 2023 and 
2022.
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22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED PARTIES

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Amounts due from related parties (trade) 191 274

Amount due to a related party (non-trade) (792) (754)

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are on 30 to 60 days’ credit terms. 

The amount due to a related party is unsecured, non-interest bearing and is repayable on demand.

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables 39,418 33,143
Allowance for expected credit losses (1,257) (1,666)

38,161 31,477

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms. They are recognised at their 
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Significant	trade	receivables	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	at	31	December	are	as	follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

United States Dollar 5,409 4,319
Euro – 270
Malaysia Ringgit 2,434 2,355

Expected credit losses

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables is computed based on lifetime ECL are 
as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January 1,666 1,730
Charge for the year 7 571
Written	off	 (4) –
Written back (119) (690)
Exchange realignment (293) 55
At 31 December 1,257 1,666
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24. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Staff	advances 236 100 – –
Tax recoverable 3,169 1,227 – –
Sundry receivables 1,262 1,878 10 –
Allowance for doubtful receivables (38) (37) – –

4,629 3,168 10 –

Current 4,240 3,168 10 –
Non-current 389 – – –

Group
Individually impaired
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January 37 37
Charge for the year 1 21
Written back – (28)
Exchange realignment – 7
At 31 December 38 37

Staff	advances	are	unsecured	and	non-interest	bearing.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash at banks and on hand 45,071 61,350 1,618 1,070
Short-term deposits 86,215 64,246 36,031 –
Cash and short-term deposits 131,286 125,596 37,649 1,070

Cash	at	banks	earns	interest	at	floating	rates	based	on	daily	bank	deposit	rates.	Short-term	deposits	earn	interest	at	
the respective short-term deposit rates.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (cont’d)

Significant	cash	and	short-term	deposits	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	at	31	December	are	as	follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

United States Dollar 4,442 1,684 803 817
Singapore Dollar 762 5,718 – –
Euro 303 352 – –
Malaysia Ringgit 1,056 1,244 – –
Russian Ruble – 4 – –

26. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables 28,981 26,818 461 68
Accruals 20,789 21,540 5,636 5,833
Total trade payables and accruals 49,770 48,358 6,097 5,901

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 60 days’ terms.

Significant	trade	payables	and	accruals	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	as	at	31	December	are	as	follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

United States Dollar 5,213 6,783 4,428 4,741
Singapore Dollar 1,699 1,443 – –
Euro 480 1,588 – –
Malaysia Ringgit 5,499 6,479 – –

27. AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES (TRADE)

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Amounts due to associates (trade) 188 213

The amounts due to associates are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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28. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Current
Revolving credit loans 3,621 4,239
Term loans 11,412 9,239

15,033 13,478

Non-current
Term loans 21,387 24,776

Total loans and borrowings 36,420 38,254

Group
Denomination Interest (p.a) Maturity 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Current Revolving Credit
Loan 1 USD SOFR + 1.60% to 2.25% 2024/2023 3,621 4,239

3,621 4,239

Current Term Loans
Loan 2 USD COF + 1.75% 2024/2023 1,530 210
Loan 3 USD SOFR + 2.45% 2024/2023 8,700 7,800
Loan 4 SGD 1.75% 2024/2023 1,182 1,229

11,412 9,239

Non-Current Term Loans
Loan 2 USD COF + 1.75% 2029 8,124 1,652
Loan 3 USD SOFR + 2.45% 2026 13,263 21,963
Loan 4 SGD 1.75% 2024 – 1,161

21,387 24,776

Total loans and borrowings 36,420 38,254

COF	 –	 Cost	of	Funds	is	the	difference	between	the	average	yield	of	interest	obtained	from	loans	and	the	average	
rate of interest paid for deposits and other such funds.

SOFR – The Secured Overnight Financing Rate is a benchmark interest rate for dollar-denominated derivatives and 
loans that will replace LIBOR.
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28. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (cont’d)

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Secured1 35,238 35,864
Unsecured2 1,182 2,390
Total loans and borrowings 36,420 38,254

1 The loans are secured by mortgages on the borrowing subsidiaries’ leasehold and freehold properties, plant, equipment and machineries, inventories, 
trade and other receivables and corporate guarantees issued by the ultimate holding company.

2 The loans are unsecured and are covered by corporate guarantees issued by the Company.

A	reconciliation	of	liabilities	arising	from	the	Group’s	financing	activities	is	as	follows:

Non-cash changes
1  

January  
2023

Cash  
flows

Foreign 
exchange 

movement

Accretion  
of  

interest

Disposal  
of 

subsidiaries

31  
December 

2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Loans and borrowings 38,254 (4,385) 33 2,518 – 36,420

Non-cash changes
1  

January  
2022

Cash  
flows

Foreign 
exchange 

movement

Accretion  
of  

interest

Disposal  
of 

subsidiaries

31  
December 

2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Loans and borrowings 49,806 (13,071) (34) 1,725 (172) 38,254

29. OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Rental and other deposits 233 172 – –
Advance payments received from customers 1,616 665 – –
Payables for purchase of property, plant and equipment 274 852 – –
Sundry payables 1,560 2,723 281 –
Total other payables 3,683 4,412 281 –

The sundry payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 120 days’ terms.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(a) Share capital

Group and Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of the year

548,072,999 (2022: 545,767,999) ordinary shares including treasury shares 46,168 45,420
Issued under employee share option

50,000 (2022: 2,105,000) ordinary shares issued at exercise price of S$0.308 15 618
1,430,000 (2022: 200,000) ordinary shares issued at exercise price of S$0.669 945 130
130,000 (2022: Nil) ordinary shares issued at exercise price of S$0.556 70 –
400,000 (2022: Nil) ordinary shares issued at exercise price of S$0.679 265 –
60,000 (2022: Nil) ordinary shares issued at exercise price of S$0.667 39 –

At end of the year
550,142,999 (2022: 548,072,999) ordinary shares including treasury shares 47,502 46,168

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

As at the end of the year, the total number of unissued ordinary shares of the Company under options granted 
to eligible employees and Directors under the 2012 Option Scheme and 2022 Option Scheme amounted to 
12,740,000 (2022: 16,540,000) and 6,670,000 (2022: 3,450,000) shares respectively. Details of outstanding options 
are set out in Note 32.

(b) Treasury shares

Group and Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

At beginning of the year
14,297,300 (2022: 8,569,400) treasury shares 6,569 4,242
Purchase of 10,101,300 (2022: 5,727,900) treasury shares 7,595 2,327
310,000 (2022: Nil) treasury shares reissued pursuant to equity compensation plan (163) –

At end of the year
24,088,600 (2022: 14,297,300) treasury shares 14,001 6,569

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31. RESERVES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Foreign currency translation reserve (26,854) (12,404) 1,415 913
Share-based payment reserve 3,939 3,667 3,939 3,667
Accumulated	profits 285,056 245,842 51,241 26,956

262,141 237,105 56,595 31,536

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve

The	 foreign	 currency	 translation	 reserve	 represents	 exchange	 differences	 arising	 from	 the	 translation	 of	 the	
financial	 statements	of	 foreign	operations	whose	 functional	 currencies	are	different	 from	 that	of	 the	Group’s	
presentation currency.

(b) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to employees (Note 32). 
The reserve is made up of the cumulative value of services rendered from employees recorded over the vesting 
period commencing from the grant date of equity-settled share options, and is reduced by the expiry or exercise 
of the share options.

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Salaries,	wages	and	other	staff	benefits 52,306 51,262
Employer’s	contribution	to	defined	contribution	plans,	including	Central	Provident	Fund 5,205 5,327
Value of employee services received from the issuance of share options and share awards 663 326

58,174 56,915

The Food Empire Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme (the “2012 Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted at the 
Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on 27 April 2012 which has since expired on 22 April 2022. 

The Food Empire Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme (the “2022 Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted at the 
Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 April 2022. 

The 2012 Option Scheme and 2022 Option Scheme applies to eligible employees and Directors of the Group, other than 
the controlling shareholders who are not Directors or employees. The participation of Directors who are controlling 
shareholders, associates of controlling shareholders or nominated by the controlling shareholders of the Group is 
subject to independent shareholders’ approval.

The	total	number	of	shares	in	respect	of	which	options	may	be	offered	shall	not	exceed	15%	of	the	Company’s	total	
issued share capital (excluding Shares held by the Company as treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) on the 
day	immediately	preceding	the	offer	date.

The	offer	price	of	the	options	may	be	set	at	market	price	or	at	a	price	which	is	greater	than	the	market	price	at	the	time	
of grant, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee (“RC”).

The	option	period	shall	commence	after	1	year	from	the	offer	date	if	the	offer	price	is	the	prevailing	market	price.

The 2012 Option Scheme and 2022 Option Scheme are administered by the RC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (cont’d)

Out of the 19,410,000 (2022: 19,990,000) outstanding options on 31 December 2023, 14,040,000 (2022: 15,100,000) 
share options are exercisable as at 31 December 2023.

The fair value of the share options as at the date of grant was estimated by an external valuer using Black Scholes 
Valuation Model and Trinomial Tree Model, taking into account the terms and conditions under which the options were 
granted. The inputs to the model used for the options granted are shown below:

(a) 2016 Options

Group
Grant – 10 years

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.00975
Expected volatility (%) 45.921
Risk-free rate (%) 1.474
Expected life of option (years) 5.6
Weighted average share price (S$) 0.308

(b) 2017 Options

Group
Grant – 10 years

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.0065
Expected volatility (%) 49.123
Risk-free rate (%) 1.654
Expected life of option (years) 5.78
Weighted average share price (S$) 0.693

(c) 2018 Options

Group
Grant – 10 years

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.00643
Expected volatility (%) 46.206
Risk-free rate (%) 2.163
Expected life of option (years) 5.89
Weighted average share price (S$) 0.679

(d) 2019 Options

Group
Grant – 10 years

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.00637
Expected volatility (%) 44.859
Risk-free rate (%) 2.080
Expected life of option (years) 6.05
Weighted average share price (S$) 0.556

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023
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32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (cont’d)

(e) 2020 Options

Group
Grant – 10 years

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.00642
Expected volatility (%) 43.268
Risk-free rate (%) 1.120
Expected life of option (years) 6.25
Weighted average share price (S$) 0.667

(f) 2022 Options

Group
Grant – 10 years

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.00816
Expected volatility (%) 43.530
Risk-free rate (%) 2.630
Expected life of option (years) 6.88
Weighted average share price (S$) 0.536

(g) 2023 Options

Group
Grant – 10 years

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.02997
Expected volatility (%) 35.500
Risk-free rate (%) 2.900
Expected life of option (years) 5.95
Weighted average share price (S$) 1.004

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that 
may	occur.	The	expected	volatility	reflects	the	assumption	that	 the	historical	volatility	 is	 indicative	of	 future	trends,	
which may not necessarily be the actual outcome. 

The Food Empire Holdings Limited Performance Share Plan (“2022 Award Plan”) was approved and adopted at the 
Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 April 2022. 

The 2022 Award Plan applies to eligible employees and Directors of the Group, other than the Group Non-Executive 
Directors (including independent Directors). Controlling Shareholders and their Associates are not eligible to participate 
in the 2022 Award Plan.

The	total	number	of	shares	in	respect	of	which	options	may	be	offered	shall	not	exceed	15%	of	the	Company’s	total	
issued share capital (excluding Shares held by the Company as treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) on the 
day	immediately	preceding	the	offer	date.

The participants of the 2022 Award Plan will receive shares provided that certain prescribed performance targets or 
vesting conditions are met within a prescribed performance period. The performance period for the awards granted is 
three years. The number of shares that will vest for each participant will be determined at the end of the performance 
period based on the level of attainment of the performance targets.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023



Food Empire Annual Report 2023 117

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (cont’d)

The 2022 Award Plan is administered by the RC.

Number of 
holders at 
year end

Number of 
share awards 
outstanding 

at  
1.1.2023

Number of 
share awards 

granted 
during the 

financial year

Number of 
share awards 
lapsed during 
the financial 

year

Number of 
share awards 
outstanding 

at  
31.12.2023

Performance 
condition period

2022 Award Plan
2022 Share Awards 1 657,211 – – 657,211 1 June 2022 to  

31 December 2024 
2023 Share Awards 1 – 632,771 – 632,771 1 January 2023 to  

31 December 2025
657,211 632,771 – 1,289,982

The fair value of the share awards as at the date of grant was estimated by an external valuer using Monte Carlo 
Simulation Model, taking into account the terms and conditions under which the awards were granted. The inputs to 
the model used for the awards granted are shown below:

(a) 2022 Share Awards

Group
Grant 

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.01075
Expected volatility (%) 39.4
Risk-free rate (%) 2.32
Weighted average share price (S$) 0.54

(b) 2023 Share Awards

Group
Grant

Average dividend per share (S$) 0.01058
Expected volatility (%) 38.7
Risk-free rate (%) 2.88
Weighted average share price (S$) 0.65

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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33. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For	management	purposes,	the	Group	is	organised	into	five	reportable	segments	based	on	geographical	locations.	The	
five	main	segments	are:

(i) Russia

(ii) Ukraine, Kazakhstan and CIS markets

(iii) South-East Asia

(iv) South Asia

(v) Others

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, the segment revenue and results for sale of ingredients 
are based on the physical location of the factories.

For all other sales, the segment revenue and results are based on the geographical locations of the customers. This 
is consistent with the manner which the Group’s chief operating decision makers review the segment results of the 
Group.

The Group regularly reviews each reportable segment results for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation	and	performance	assessment.	Segment	performance	is	evaluated	based	on	operating	profit	or	loss	which	
in	certain	respects,	as	explained	in	the	table	below,	 is	measured	differently	from	the	operating	profit	or	 loss	 in	the	
consolidated	financial	statements.

Transfer pricing between operating parties, are on arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third 
parties.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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33. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Segment revenue information based on the product segment of external customers are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Beverages 324,366 299,315
Ingredients 71,294 63,124
Others 30,055 35,923

425,715 398,362

Non-current assets information based on the geographical location of the assets are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Russia 12,359 14,965
Ukraine, Kazakhstan and CIS markets 1,314 1,586
South-East Asia 50,709 43,657
South Asia 59,343 62,428
Others 8 11

123,733 122,647

Non-current assets information presented above consist of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and 
intangible assets as presented in the consolidated balance sheet.

Information about major customers

Revenue from six major customers amounted to US$85,964,000 (2022: US$80,203,000), arising from sale of goods in 
the Russia, Ukraine, Kazakhstan and CIS markets segments.

34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital commitments

Capital	expenditure	contracted	for	as	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	but	not	recognised	in	the	financial	statements	
are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment 6,589 9,321

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (cont’d)

Guarantees

The Company has given corporate guarantees to banks amounting to US$142,440,000 (2022: US$142,658,000) to 
secure banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries.

Financial support

The	Company	has	agreed	to	provide	financial	support	to	certain	subsidiaries	to	meet	their	liabilities	as	and	when	they	
fall due and to subordinate the amounts due from them subject to the settlement of other liabilities.

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services and other transactions

In	 addition	 to	 the	 related	 party	 information	 disclosed	 elsewhere	 in	 the	 financial	 statements,	 the	 following	
significant	transactions	between	the	Group	and	related	parties	took	place	at	terms	agreed	between	the	parties	
during	the	financial	year:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Group
Triple Ace Ventures Limited and its subsidiaries (a)

 – Lease payments made to Triple Ace Ventures Limited and its subsidiaries 1,479 2,047

UDI Marketing Sdn Bhd (b)

 – Sale of goods 621 952

PT Indokemika Jayatama (b)

 – Sale of goods 1,100 784

Ever Resources International (Hong Kong) Limited (b)

 – Purchase of goods 5,518 3,343

Company
Subsidiaries
 – Management fees received 2,055 2,287

(a) Companies associated to one of the directors and substantial shareholders, Mr Sudeep Nair.
(b) Companies associated to Universal Integrated Corporation Consumer Products Pte Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Salaries,	wages	and	other	staff	benefits 9,109 8,910
Central Provident Fund contributions 37 35
Value of employee services received from the issuance of share options  

and share awards 438 220
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 9,584 9,165

Comprise amounts paid to:
Directors of the Group 5,496 5,633
Other key management personnel 4,088 3,532

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 9,584 9,165

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard 
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

In addition to their salaries, certain Directors also participate in the 2012 Option Scheme, 2022 Option Scheme 
and 2022 Award Plan granted under the Food Empire Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme and Food Empire 
Holdings Limited Performance Share Plan. For the exercise period, the terms and conditions of the share options 
granted to the Directors were the same as those granted to other employees of the Company as described in 
Note 32. 

As at 31 December, share options outstanding to the Directors and key management personnel of the Company 
are as follows:

Outstanding  
share options

2023 2022
’000 ’000

Directors 5,200 6,600
Key management personnel 7,370 5,270

12,570 11,870

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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36. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a) Fair value hierarchy

The Group categorises fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the valuation 
input used as follows:

(i) Level 1 –  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can 
access	at	the	measurement	date;

(ii) Level 2 –  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either	directly	(i.e.	as	prices)	or	indirectly	(i.e.	derived	from	prices);	and

(iii) Level 3 –  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair	value	measurements	that	use	inputs	at	different	hierarchy	levels	are	categorised	in	its	entirety	in	the	same	
level	of	the	fair	value	hierarchy	as	the	lowest	level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	entire	measurement.

There	have	been	no	transfers	between	Level	1,	Level	2	and	Level	3	fair	value	measurements	during	the	financial	
years ended 2023 and 2022.

(b) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from subsidiaries 
(non-trade), current amounts due from associates and joint venture (non-trade), amount due from a related party 
(trade), trade and other payables, current lease liabilities, and current interest-bearing loans and borrowings, 
amount due to a subsidiary (non-trade), amount due to a related party (non-trade) and amounts due to associates 
and joint venture (trade and non-trade) are reasonable approximation of fair values due to their short-term nature.

The carrying amounts of non-current lease liabilities and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are reasonable 
approximation of fair values as their interest rate approximate the market lending rate.

The carrying amount of non-current amount due from joint venture reasonably approximates fair value as the 
effect	of	discounting	these	cash	flows	based	on	the	expected	receipt	dates	is	not	significant.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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36. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

(c) Classification of assets and liabilities

Group

Financial 
assets/

(liabilities) 
at amortised 

cost

Non-
financial 
assets/

(liabilities) Total
2023 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment – 103,341 103,341
Right-of-use assets – 11,592 11,592
Investments in associates and joint venture – 12,625 12,625
Intangible assets – 8,800 8,800
Deferred tax assets – 3,861 3,861
Inventories – 76,720 76,720
Prepaid operating expenses – 5,872 5,872
Deposits 654 – 654
Amounts due from associates and joint venture (non-trade) 5,173 – 5,173
Amounts due from related parties (trade) 191 – 191
Trade receivables 38,161 – 38,161
Other receivables 1,224 3,405 4,629
Cash and cash equivalents 131,286 – 131,286

176,689 226,216 402,905

Liabilities
Trade payables and accruals (49,770) – (49,770)
Other payables (2,067) (1,616) (3,683)
Lease liabilities (4,677) – (4,677)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (36,420) – (36,420)
Amounts due to associates (trade) (188) – (188)
Amount due to joint venture (non-trade) (178) – (178)
Amount due to a related party (non-trade) (792) – (792)
Income tax payable – (5,009) (5,009)
Deferred tax liabilities – (7,695) (7,695)

(94,092) (14,320) (108,412)
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36. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

(c) Classification of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

Group

Financial 
assets/

(liabilities) 
at amortised 

cost

Non-
financial 
assets/

(liabilities) Total
2022 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment – 101,251 101,251
Right-of-use assets – 13,094 13,094
Investments in associates and joint venture – 11,830 11,830
Intangible assets – 8,302 8,302
Deferred tax assets – 3,675 3,675
Inventories – 74,030 74,030
Prepaid operating expenses – 5,605 5,605
Deposits 480 – 480
Amounts due from associates and joint venture (non-trade) 2,713 – 2,713
Amount due from a related party (trade) 274 – 274
Trade receivables 31,477 – 31,477
Other receivables 1,841 1,327 3,168
Cash and cash equivalents 125,596 – 125,596

162,381 219,114 381,495

Liabilities
Trade payables and accruals (48,358) – (48,358)
Other payables (3,747) (665) (4,412)
Lease liabilities (6,362) – (6,362)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (38,254) – (38,254)
Amount due to an associate (trade) (213) – (213)
Amount due to a related party (non-trade) (754) – (754)
Income tax payable – (2,368) (2,368)
Deferred tax liabilities – (5,175) (5,175)

(97,688) (8,208) (105,896)
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36. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

(c) Classification of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

Company

Financial 
assets/

(liabilities) 
at amortised 

cost

Non-
financial 
assets/

(liabilities) Total
2023 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Assets
Right-of-use assets – 215 215
Investments in subsidiaries – 44,485 44,485
Prepaid operating expenses – 24 24
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 14,331 – 14,331
Other receivables 10 – 10
Cash and cash equivalents 37,649 – 37,649

51,990 44,724 96,714

Liabilities
Trade payables and accruals (6,097) – (6,097)
Lease liabilities (116) – (116)
Amounts due to subsidiaries (non-trade) (21) – (21)
Other payables (281) – (281)
Income tax payable – (103) (103)

(6,515) (103) (6,618)

Company

Financial 
assets/

(liabilities) 
at amortised 

cost

Non-
financial 
assets/

(liabilities) Total
2022 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Assets
Right-of-use assets – 284 284
Investments in subsidiaries – 44,485 44,485
Prepaid operating expenses – 17 17
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 31,433 – 31,433
Cash and cash equivalents 1,070 – 1,070

32,503 44,786 77,289

Liabilities
Trade payables and accruals (5,901) – (5,901)
Lease liabilities (150) – (150)
Amounts due to subsidiaries (non-trade) (53) – (53)
Income tax payable – (50) (50)

(6,104) (50) (6,154)
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The	 Group	 and	 the	 Company	 are	 exposed	 to	 financial	 risks	 arising	 from	 its	 operations	 and	 the	 use	 of	 financial	
instruments.	The	key	financial	risks	 include	credit	risk,	 liquidity	risk,	 interest	rate	risk	and	foreign	currency	risk.	The	
Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks.

The Group and the Company does not apply hedge accounting.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial	risks	and	the	objectives,	policies	and	processes	for	the	management	of	these	risks.	

(a) Credit risk

Credit	risk	is	the	risk	of	loss	that	may	arise	on	outstanding	financial	instruments	should	a	counterparty	default	
on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other 
receivables.	For	other	financial	assets	(including	cash	and	cash	equivalents),	the	Group	and	the	Company	minimise	
credit risk by dealing with high credit rating counterparties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased 
credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy 
that	all	customers	who	wish	to	trade	on	credit	terms	are	subject	to	credit	verification	procedures.	 In	addition,	
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is 
not	significant.

The Group sells mainly to Russia, South-East Asia, Ukraine, Kazakhstan and CIS markets. Hence, risk is concentrated 
on the trade receivables in these countries.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a 
significant	increase	in	credit	risk	on	an	ongoing	basis	throughout	each	reporting	period.	

The	Group	has	determined	 the	default	 event	on	a	financial	 asset	 to	be	when	 the	 counterparty	 fails	 to	make	
contractual payments, within 90 days when they fall due, which are derived based on the Group’s historical 
information.

The Group considers “low risk” to be an investment grade credit rating with at least one major rating agency for 
those	investments	with	credit	rating.	To	assess	whether	there	is	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk,	the	Company	
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of 
initial recognition. The Group considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information which 
includes the following indicators:

 – Internal credit rating

 – External credit rating

 – Actual	 or	 expected	 significant	 adverse	 changes	 in	 business,	 financial	 or	 economic	 conditions	 that	 are	
expected	to	cause	a	significant	change	to	the	borrower’s	ability	to	meet	its	obligations

 – Actual	or	expected	significant	changes	in	the	operating	results	of	the	borrower

 – Significant	increases	in	credit	risk	on	other	financial	instruments	of	the	same	borrower

 – Significant	changes	 in	the	value	of	the	collateral	supporting	the	obligation	or	 in	the	quality	of	third-party	
guarantees or credit enhancements

 – Significant	changes	in	the	expected	performance	and	behaviour	of	the	borrower,	including	changes	in	the	
payment status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the operating results of the borrower.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d)

Regardless	of	the	analysis	above,	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	is	presumed	if	a	debtor	is	more	than	30	days	
past due in making contractual payment. 

The	Group	determined	that	its	financial	assets	are	credit-impaired	when:

 – There	is	significant	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	the	borrower

 – A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event

 – It	is	becoming	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	financial	reorganisation

 – There	is	a	disappearance	of	an	active	market	for	that	financial	asset	because	of	financial	difficulty.

The	 Group	 categorises	 a	 loan	 or	 receivable	 for	 potential	 write-off	 when	 a	 debtor	 fails	 to	 make	 contractual	
payments	more	than	150	days	past	due.	Financial	assets	are	written	off	when	there	is	no	reasonable	expectation	
of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. Where loans and receivables 
have	been	written	off,	the	Company	continues	to	engage	enforcement	activity	to	attempt	to	recover	the	receivable	
due.	Where	recoveries	are	made,	these	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

The following are credit risk management practices and quantitative and qualitative information about amounts 
arising	from	expected	credit	losses	for	each	class	of	financial	assets.

Trade receivables

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables, and contract assets using a 
provision matrix. The provision rates are determined based on the Group’s historical observed default rates 
analysed in accordance to days past due by grouping of customers based on geographical region. The loss 
allowance provision as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 incorporates forward-looking information such as forecast 
of	economic	conditions	where	the	gross	domestic	product	may	change	significantly	over	the	next	year.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d)

Trade receivables (cont’d)

Summarised below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using the 
provision matrix:

Current

1–30  
days  

past due

31–60  
days  

past due

61–90  
days  

past due

91–120 
days  

past due

121–150 
days  

past due

More 
than  

150 days Total
2023 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Gross carrying amount 34,156 3,467 492 44 1 1 1,257 39,418
Loss allowance provision – – – – – – (1,257) (1,257)

34,156 3,467 492 44 1 1 – 38,161

Current

1–30  
days  

past due

31–60  
days  

past due

61–90  
days  

past due

91–120 
days  

past due

121–150 
days  

past due

More 
than  

150 days Total
2022 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Gross carrying amount 27,694 3,251 501 – 22 21 1,654 33,143
Loss allowance provision (6) (4) (2) – – – (1,654) (1,666)

27,688 3,247 499 – 22 21 – 31,477

Information regarding loss allowance movement of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 23.

Exposure to credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented 
by	the	carrying	amount	of	each	financial	assets	in	the	balance	sheets.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d)

Credit risk concentration profile

The	Group	determines	concentrations	of	credit	risk	by	monitoring	the	country	and	industry	sector	profile	of	its	
trade	receivables	on	an	ongoing	basis.	The	credit	risk	concentration	profile	of	the	Group’s	trade	receivables	at	the	
end of the reporting period is as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Russia 7,848 7,048
Ukraine, Kazakhstan and CIS markets 11,126 8,505
South-East Asia 13,165 11,462
South Asia 5,737 4,176
Others 285 286

38,161 31,477

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment 
record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or 
entered	into	with	reputable	financial	institutions	or	companies	with	high	credit	ratings	and	no	history	of	default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information	regarding	financial	assets	that	are	either	past	due	or	impaired	is	disclosed	in	Notes	21,	23	and	24.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	Group	or	the	Company	will	encounter	difficulty	in	meeting	financial	obligations	due	
to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches 
of	the	maturities	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities.

At the end of reporting period, approximately 41% (2022: 35%) of the Group’s loans and borrowings will mature 
in	less	than	one	year	based	on	the	carrying	amount	reflected	in	the	financial	statements.

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by 
Management	to	finance	the	Group’s	operation	and	to	mitigate	the	effects	of	fluctuations	in	cash	flows.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Analysis	of	financial	instruments	by	remaining	contractual	maturities

The	tables	below	summarise	the	maturity	profile	of	the	Group’s	and	the	Company’s	financial	assets	and	liabilities	
at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

Group
Within  
1 year

Within  
1 to 5 years

More than  
5 years Total

2023 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables 39,385 – – 39,385
Deposits 654 – – 654
Amounts due from associates and joint venture (non-trade) 1,487 4,133 1,095 6,715
Amounts due from related parties (trade) 191 – – 191
Cash and cash equivalents 131,286 – – 131,286
Total	undiscounted	financial	assets 173,003 4,133 1,095 178,231

Financial liabilities:
Amounts due to associates (trade) (188) – – (188)
Amount due to joint venture (non-trade) (178) – – (178)
Amount due to a related party (non-trade) (792) – – (792)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (17,087) (22,821) (52) (39,960)
Lease liabilities (2,485) (2,161) (2,089) (6,735)
Trade and other payables (51,836) – – (51,836)
Total	undiscounted	financial	liabilities (72,566) (24,982) (2,141) (99,689)
Total	net	undiscounted	financial	assets/(liabilities) 100,437 (20,849) (1,046) 78,542

Group
Within  
1 year

Within  
1 to 5 years

More than  
5 years Total

2022 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables 33,318 – – 33,318
Deposits 480 – – 480
Amounts due from associates and joint venture (non-trade) 1,713 1,000 – 2,713
Amount due from a related party (trade) 274 – – 274
Cash and cash equivalents 125,596 – – 125,596
Total	undiscounted	financial	assets 161,381 1,000 – 162,381

Financial liabilities:
Amount due to an associate (trade) (213) – – (213)
Amount due to a related party (non-trade) (754) – – (754)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (13,826) (24,890) (535) (39,251)
Lease liabilities (2,181) (4,648) (1,980) (8,809)
Trade and other payables (52,105) – – (52,105)
Total	undiscounted	financial	liabilities (69,079) (29,538) (2,515) (101,132)
Total	net	undiscounted	financial	assets/(liabilities) 92,302 (28,538) (2,515) 61,249
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Analysis	of	financial	instruments	by	remaining	contractual	maturities	(cont’d)

Company
Within  
1 year

Within  
1 to 5 years

More than  
5 years Total

2023 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets:
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 14,331 – – 14,331
Other receivables 10 – – 10
Cash and cash equivalents 37,649 – – 37,649
Total	undiscounted	financial	assets 51,990 – – 51,990

Financial liabilities:
Trade payables and accruals (6,097) – – (6,097)
Other payables (281) – – (281)
Lease liabilities (41) (78) – (119)
Amounts due to subsidiaries (non-trade) (21) – – (21)
Total	undiscounted	financial	liabilities (6,440) (78) – (6,518)
Total	net	undiscounted	financial	assets/(liabilities) 45,550 (78) – 45,472

Company
Within  
1 year

Within  
1 to 5 years

More than  
5 years Total

2022 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets:
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 31,433 – – 31,433
Cash and cash equivalents 1,070 – – 1,070
Total	undiscounted	financial	assets 32,503 – – 32,503

Financial liabilities:
Trade payables and accruals (5,901) – – (5,901)
Lease liabilities (39) (116) – (155)
Amounts due to subsidiaries (non-trade) (53) – – (53)
Total	undiscounted	financial	liabilities (5,993) (116) – (6,109)
Total	net	undiscounted	financial	assets/(liabilities) 26,510 (116) – 26,394

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Company’s contingent liabilities and commitments. 
Financial guarantee contracts are recorded in the contractual maturity analysis based on the maximum amount 
guaranteed. They are allocated to the earliest date they can be drawn.

2023 2022

Company
1 year  
or less

Over  
1 year Total

1 year  
or less

Over  
1 year Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial guarantees 142,440 – 142,440 142,658 – 142,658
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest	rate	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	the	Group’s	and	the	Company’s	financial	
instruments	will	fluctuate	because	of	 changes	 in	market	 interest	 rates.	The	Group’s	exposure	 to	 interest	 rate	
risk	arises	primarily	from	interest-bearing	loans	and	borrowings	with	floating	interest	rates.	The	Group	monitors	
the interest rate on loans and borrowings closely to ensure that the loans and borrowings are maintained at 
favourable rates. At the end of the reporting period, the Group manages its interest risk by having a balanced 
portfolio	of	fixed	and	variable	rate	loans	and	borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

The	following	table	demonstrates	the	sensitivity	of	the	Group’s	profit	net	of	tax	to	a	reasonably	possible	change	
in interest rate, with all other variables held constant.

Group
Increase/

decrease in 
basis points

Effect on 
profit,  

net of tax
US$’000

2023
Cash and cash equivalents +10 131
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings +100 (262)

2022
Cash and cash equivalents +10 126
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings +100 (272)
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(c) Interest rate risk (cont’d)

The	 following	 tables	 set	 out	 the	 carrying	 amount,	 by	 maturity,	 of	 the	 Group’s	 and	 the	 Company’s	 financial	
instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

Within  
1 year

1–2  
years

2–3  
years

3–4  
years

4–5  
years

More than 
5 years Total

Group US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2023
Floating rate

Cash and cash equivalents 131,286 – – – – – 131,286
Interest-bearing loans 

and borrowings 15,033 14,031 4,792 1,230 1,282 52 36,420

2022
Floating rate

Cash and cash equivalents 125,596 – – – – – 125,596
Interest-bearing loans 

and borrowings 13,478 10,141 11,530 2,292 280 533 38,254

Company

2023
Floating rate

Cash and cash equivalents 37,649 – – – – – 37,649

2022
Floating rate

Cash and cash equivalents 1,070 – – – – – 1,070

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023



Surging Forward136

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales, purchases or operating costs by operating 
units in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. 

The Management ensures that the net exposure is maintained at an acceptable level by buying and selling foreign 
currencies	at	spot	rates	where	necessary	to	address	short-term	fluctuations.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The	following	table	demonstrates	the	sensitivity	of	the	Group’s	profit	before	tax	to	a	reasonably	possible	change	
in the Euro, Malaysia Ringgit (RM), Ukrainian Hryvnia (UAH), Russian Ruble (RUB), Indian Rupee (INR), Singapore 
Dollar (SGD) and Kazakhstan Tenge (KZT) against the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, with 
all variables held constant.

Group
Profit before tax

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Euro/USD  – strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) (7) (24)
 – weakened 5% (2022: 5%) 7 24

RM/USD  – strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) (209) (209)
 – weakened 5% (2022: 5%) 209 209

UAH/USD  – strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) 95 99
 – weakened 5% (2022: 5%) (95) (99)

RUB/USD  – strengthened 10% (2022: 10%) (902) (1,603)
 – weakened 10% (2022: 10%) 902 1,603

INR/USD  – strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) 1,308 1,722
 – weakened 5% (2022: 5%) (1,308) (1,722)

SGD/USD  – strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) 675 (1,268)
 – weakened 5% (2022: 5%) (675) 1,268

KZT/USD  – strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) 64 6
 – weakened 5% (2022: 5%) (64) (6)
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38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

A	gearing	ratio	with	a	specific	measurement	basis	has	been	disclosed	as	this	is	the	measure	used	to	monitor	capital.	The	
Group considers both capital and net debt as relevant components of funding, hence part of its capital management.

The Group monitors its capital structure as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 28) 36,420 38,254
Lease liabilities (Note 13) 4,677 6,362
Trade payables and accruals (Note 26) 49,770 48,358
Other payables (Note 29) 3,683 4,412
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) (131,286) (125,596)
Net cash (36,736) (28,210)
Equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company 295,642 276,704
Capital and net debt 258,906 248,494

Gearing Ratio -14% -11%

39. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2023	were	authorised	for	issue	in	accordance	with	a	resolution	
of the Directors on 20 March 2024.
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Class of equity securities : Ordinary share
No. of equity securities 
(excluding treasury shares) : 527,979,799
Voting rights : One vote per share

As at 11 March 2024, the total number of treasury shares held is 22,163,200. The treasury shares as a percentage of the total 
number of issued shares excluding treasury shares is 4.20%.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 11 MARCH 2024
(As recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
Tan Wang Cheow – – 115,814,600 21.94

Tan Guek Ming 27,547,400 5.22 88,267,200 16.72

Sudeep Nair 5,700,000 1.08 60,076,399 11.38

Ong Kian Min 1,020,000 0.19 – –

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 11 MARCH 2024
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
Tan Wang Cheow (1) – – 115,814,600 21.94

Tan Guek Ming (2) 27,547,400 5.22 88,267,200 16.72

Sudeep Nair (3) 5,700,000 1.08 60,076,399 11.38

FMR LLC on behalf of the managed
accounts of its direct and indirect 
subsidiaries & FIL Ltd. on behalf of 
the managed accounts of its direct 
and indirect subsidiaries 

– – 42,525,000  8.05

Anthoni Salim (4) – – 132,079,200 25.02

Trevose International Pte Ltd (5) – – 132,079,200 25.02

Universal Integrated Corporation
Consumer Products Pte. Ltd. 132,079,200 25.02 – –

Notes:
(1) Mr Tan Wang Cheow is deemed to have an interest in the 52,440,000 shares held by United Overseas Bank Nominees (Private) Limited. Mr Tan Wang Cheow 

is the spouse of Mdm Tan Guek Ming, and is deemed to have an interest in the 63,374,600 shares which Mdm Tan Guek Ming has an interest in.
(2) Mdm Tan Guek Ming is deemed to have an interest in the 35,827,200 shares held by DBS Nominees (Private) Limited. Mdm Tan Guek Ming is spouse of Mr 

Tan Wang Cheow, and is deemed to have an interest in the 52,440,000 shares which Mr Tan Wang Cheow has an interest in.
(3)	 Mr	Sudeep	Nair	is	deemed	to	have	an	interest	in	the	60,076,399	shares	held	by	DBSN	Services	Pte	Ltd,	DBS	Nominees	(Private)	Limited	and	Raffles	Nominees	

(Pte.) Limited.
(4) Mr Anthoni Salim is the controlling shareholder of Trevose International Pte Ltd, which is the sole shareholder of Universal Integrated Corporation Consumer 

Products Pte Ltd. Accordingly, Mr Anthoni Salim is deemed to have an interest in the shares held by Universal Integrated Corporation Consumer Products 
Pte Ltd.

(5) Trevose International Pte Ltd is the sole shareholder of Universal Integrated Corporation Consumer Products Pte Ltd. Accordingly, Trevose International Pte 
Ltd is deemed to have an interest in the shares held by Universal Integrated Corporation Consumer Products Pte Ltd.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at 11 March 2024, 31.87% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company has complied 
with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
As at 11 March 2024
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DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of 

Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 - 99  8 0.46 321 0.00

100 - 1,000  159 9.02 89,900 0.02

1,001 - 10,000  936 53.12 4,694,601 0.89

10,001 - 1,000,000  629 35.70 40,537,049 7.67

1,000,001 and above  30 1.70 482,757,928 91.42

Total 1,762 100.00 528,079,799 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  188,356,843 35.67

2 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  56,071,000 10.62

3 DBSN SERVICES PTE. LTD.  45,329,599 8.58

4 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED  44,307,820 8.39

5 TAN GUEK MING  27,547,400 5.22

6 MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  26,249,400 4.97

7 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  12,042,895 2.28

8 OON PENG HENG  9,433,600 1.79

9 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.  8,061,800 1.53

10 ESTATE OF TAN BIAN CHYE, DECEASED  7,480,800 1.42

11 KOH PUAY LING  7,400,000 1.40

12 SUDEEP NAIR  5,700,000 1.08

13 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD  5,259,471 1.00

14 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD  4,420,500 0.84

15 LIM SIEW KHENG  4,260,000 0.81

16 OON PENG LIM  4,163,300 0.79

17 OON PENG LAM  3,350,000 0.63

18 TAN SIOK CHER  2,810,000 0.53

19 ESTATE OF TAN SEOK WAH, DECEASED  2,580,000 0.49

20 OON PENG WAH  2,333,500 0.44

Total 467,157,928 88.48

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 11 March 2024
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FOOD EMPIRE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Company Registration No. 200001282G) 

(Incorporated In the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Food Empire Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will 
be	convened	and	held	at	ParkRoyal	Collection	Marina	Bay,	Atrium	Ballroom,	Level	5,	6	Raffles	Boulevard,	Singapore	039594	
on	Friday,	19	April	2024	at	3.00	p.m.	for	the	purpose	of	considering	and,	if	thought	fit,	passing	with	or	without	amendments,	
the following resolutions: 

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 together with the Auditor’s Report thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2. To	declare	a	first	and	final	dividend	of	S$0.05	per	ordinary	share	(one-tier	tax	exempt)	and	a	special	dividend	of	S$0.05	
per	ordinary	share	(one-tier	tax	exempt)	for	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2023.

(Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 115 of the Constitution of the Company:

Mr. Tan Cher Liang (Resolution 3)
Mr. Ong Kian Min (Resolution 4)
Mr. Adrian Chan Pengee (Resolution 5)

Mr. Tan Cher Liang will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of Nominating Committee and 
member of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and will be considered independent pursuant to Rule 704(8) of 
the Main Board Listing Rules of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

Mr. Ong Kian Min will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Nominating Committee 
and will be considered non-independent.

Mr. Adrian Chan Pengee will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of Remuneration Committee 
and member of Audit Committee and Nominating Committee and will be considered independent pursuant to Rule 704(8) of 
the Main Board Listing Rules of SGX-ST.

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$471,271.00 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: S$448,832.00).

(Resolution 6)

5. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the Company to 
fix	their	remuneration.

(Resolution 7)

6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
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AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To	consider	and	if	thought	fit,	to	pass	the	following	resolutions	as	Ordinary	Resolutions,	with	or	without	any	modifications:

7. Authority to issue shares 

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”) and Rule 806 of the Main 
Board Listing Rules of SGX-ST, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to: 

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“Shares”)	whether	by	way	of	rights,	bonus	or	otherwise;	and/or

	(ii)	 make	or	grant	offers,	agreements	or	options	(collectively,	“Instruments”) that might or would require shares  
  to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options,  
  warrants, debentures or other Instruments convertible into shares, 

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of 
the	Company	may	in	their	absolute	discretion	deem	fit;	and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in  
 pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted 
pursuant	to	this	Resolution)	to	be	issued	pursuant	to	this	Resolution	shall	not	exceed	fifty	per	centum	(50%)	of	
the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital of the 
Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares 
to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum 
(20%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital 
of	the	Company	(as	calculated	in	accordance	with	sub-paragraph	(2)	below);

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the 
aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) shall be based on the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing 
of this Resolution, after adjusting for: 

(a)	 new	shares	arising	from	the	conversion	or	exercise	of	any	convertible	securities;

(b)	 new	shares	arising	from	the	exercise	of	share	options	or	vesting	of	share	awards;	and	

(c)	 any	subsequent	bonus	issue,	consolidation	or	subdivision	of	shares;

provided that adjustments in accordance with (2)(a) or (2)(b) above is only to be made in respect of new shares 
arising from convertible securities, share options or share awards which were issued and outstanding or subsisting 
at the time this Resolution is passed.

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) 
and	the	Constitution	of	the	Company;	and	

(4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. [See Explanatory Note (i)] 

(Resolution 8)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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8. Authority to issue shares under the Food Empire Holdings Limited Employees’ Share Option Scheme  
 (“2012 Option Scheme”)

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered under 
the 2012 Option Scheme to issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be 
required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted by the Company under the 2012 Option Scheme 
approved by shareholders on 27 April 2012, provided always that the aggregate number of additional ordinary shares 
to be issued pursuant to the 2012 Option Scheme and all other share-based incentive schemes of the Company shall 
not	exceed	fifteen	per	centum	(15%)	of	the	total	number	of	issued	shares	(excluding	treasury	shares	and	subsidiary	
holdings, if any) in the capital of the Company from time to time and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied 
by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, 
whichever is earlier. [See Explanatory Note (ii)]

(Resolution 9)

9. Authority to grant options and to issue shares under the Food Empire Holdings Limited Employees’ Share Option  
 Scheme 2022 (“2022 Option Scheme”)

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to 
offer	and	grant	options	under	the	2022	Option	Scheme	and	to	issue	from	time	to	time	such	number	of	shares	in	the	
capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted or to be granted 
by the Company under the 2022 Option Scheme approved by shareholders on 22 April 2022, provided always that 
the aggregate number of additional ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to the 2022 Option Scheme and all other 
share-based	incentive	schemes	of	the	Company	shall	not	exceed	fifteen	per	centum	(15%)	of	the	total	number	of	issued	
shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital of the Company from time to time and 
that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. [See Explanatory Note (iii)]

(Resolution 10)

10. Authority to grant awards and to issue shares under the Food Empire Holdings Limited Performance Share Plan  
 (“2022 Award Plan”)

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to 
offer	and	grant	awards	under	the	2022	Award	Plan	and	to	issue	from	time	to	time	such	number	of	shares	in	the	capital	
of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to vesting of awards under the 2022 Award Plan approved by 
shareholders on 22 April 2022, provided always that the aggregate number of additional ordinary shares to be issued 
pursuant	to	the	2022	Award	Plan	and	all	other	share-based	incentive	schemes	of	the	Company	shall	not	exceed	fifteen	
per centum (15%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in 
the capital of the Company from time to time and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company 
in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the 
date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. [See 
Explanatory Note (iv)]

(Resolution 11)

By Order of the Board

Kevin Cho 
Company Secretary

Singapore
3 April 2024

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Explanatory Notes:

(i) The	Ordinary	Resolution	8	above,	if	passed,	will	empower	the	Directors	of	the	Company,	effective	until	the	conclusion	
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, 
whichever	 is	the	earlier,	 to	 issue	shares,	up	to	a	number	not	exceeding,	 in	total,	fifty	per	centum	(50%)	of	the	total	
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital of the Company, of 
which up to twenty per centum (20%) may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders. 

 For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary Resolution is 
passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share 
options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is 
passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

(ii) Although the 2012 Option Scheme expired on 22 April 2022, outstanding options granted prior to that date subsist and 
remain exercisable in accordance with the rules of the 2012 Option Scheme.

	 The	Ordinary	Resolution	9	above,	if	passed,	will	empower	the	Directors	of	the	Company,	effective	until	the	conclusion	of	
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is 
the earlier, to issue shares in the Company pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the 2012 Option Scheme 
and all other share-based incentive schemes of the Company up to a number not exceeding in aggregate (for the entire 
duration	of	the	2012	Option	Scheme)	fifteen	per	centum	(15%)	of	the	total	number	of	issued	shares	(excluding	treasury	
shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital of the Company from time to time.

(iii) The	Ordinary	Resolution	10	above,	if	passed,	will	empower	the	Directors	of	the	Company,	effective	until	the	conclusion	
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, 
whichever is the earlier, to issue shares in the Company pursuant to the exercise of options granted or to be granted 
under the 2022 Option Scheme and all other share-based incentive schemes of the Company up to a number not 
exceeding	 in	 aggregate	 (for	 the	 entire	 duration	of	 the	 2022	Option	 Scheme)	 fifteen	per	 centum	 (15%)	 of	 the	 total	
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital of the Company from 
time to time.

(iv) The	Ordinary	Resolution	11	above,	if	passed,	will	empower	the	Directors	of	the	Company,	effective	until	the	conclusion	
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, 
whichever is the earlier, to issue shares in the Company pursuant to the awards granted or to be granted under 
the 2022 Award Plan and all other share-based incentive schemes of the Company up to a number not exceeding 
in	aggregate	(for	the	entire	duration	of	the	2022	Award	Plan)	fifteen	per	centum	(15%)	of	the	total	number	of	issued	
shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the capital of the Company from time to time.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Notes:

General

1. This AGM will be held in a wholly physical format. There will be no option for the members to participate virtually.

 Printed copies of the Annual Report, this Notice of AGM and attached Proxy Form will be sent by post to members.  
 These documents have also been made available on the website of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading  
 Limited at (https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements) (“SGXNet”) and the Company’s website at  
 (www.foodempire.com).

2.  Arrangements relating to the conduct of the AGM, including:

(a) attendance at the AGM by the members, including the CPF/SRS investors, and where applicable, duly appointed 
proxies	and	representatives;	and	

(b)	 voting	at	 the	AGM	 (i)	 by	 the	members,	 including	 the	CPF/SRS	 investors,	 themselves;	 or	 (ii)	 through	 their	duly	
appointed proxy/proxies and representatives,

are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 3 April 2024 titled “General Meetings to be held on 19 April 2024” 
which has been uploaded together with this Notice of AGM, the Annual Report and the attached Proxy Form on SGXNet 
on the same day. The same may also be accessed at the Company’s website (www.foodempire.com).

3. Appointment of proxy/proxies

3.1. A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend, speak and vote  
	 at	the	AGM.	Where	such	member	appoints	two	proxies,	the	appointments	shall	be	invalid	unless	he/she/it	specifies	the	 
 proportion of his/her/its shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy in the Proxy Form.

 A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the  
	 AGM,	but	each	proxy	must	be	appointed	to	exercise	the	rights	attached	to	a	different	Share	or	Shares	held	by	such	 
 member. Where such member appoints more than two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless the member  
	 specifies	the	number	and	class	of	Shares	in	relation	to	which	each	proxy	has	been	appointed	in	the	Proxy	Form.

 “Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.

3.2. A member who wishes to appoint a proxy or proxies must complete the Proxy Form before submitting it in the manner  
 set out below. 

 The Proxy Form may be accessed at SGXNet and will also be made available on the Company’s website at  
 (www.foodempire.com).

 The Proxy Form must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:

(a)	 if	submitted	personally	or	by	post,	be	lodged	at	the	office	of	the	Company’s	Share	Registrar,	Boardroom	Corporate	 
&	Advisory	Services	Pte.	Ltd.,	at	1	Harbourfront	Avenue	#14-07,	Keppel	Bay	Tower,	Singapore	098632;	or

(b) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company’s Share Registrar at foodempire-agmegm2024@
boardroomlimited.com, 

	 and	in	each	case,	must	be	lodged	or	received	not	less	than	48	hours	before	the	time	fixed	for	the	AGM.

3.3. A member can choose to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy. 

3.4. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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3.5. The Proxy Form must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the Proxy Form is  
	 executed	by	a	corporation,	it	must	be	either	under	its	common	seal	or	signed	on	its	behalf	by	a	duly	authorised	officer	or	 
 attorney. Where the Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney (or other  
	 authority)	or	a	duly	certified	copy	 thereof	must	 (failing	previous	 registration	with	 the	Company),	 if	 the	Proxy	Form	 is	 
 submitted by post or sent personally, be lodged with the Proxy Form or, if the Proxy Form is submitted electronically by  
 email, be emailed with the Proxy Form, failing which the Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.

3.6. The Company shall be entitled to reject the Proxy Form if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or where  
	 the	true	intentions	of	the	appointor	are	not	ascertainable	from	the	instructions	of	the	appointor	specified	in	the	Proxy	 
 Form (including any related attachment).

3.7. In the case of a member whose Shares are entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register, the Company  
 may reject any Proxy Form lodged if such member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against  
	 his/her/its	name	in	the	Depository	Register	as	at	72	hours	before	the	time	appointed	for	holding	the	AGM,	as	certified	 
 by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

3.8. Completion and return of the Proxy Form does not preclude a member from attending, speaking and voting at the  
 AGM. The appointment of a proxy/proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the AGM in person, and  
 in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument  
 of proxy to the AGM.

3.9. CPF/SRS investors may:

(a) vote at the AGM if they are appointed as proxies by their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators and 
are advised to consult their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators if they require further information 
regarding	their	appointment	as	proxies;	or	

(b) appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy to vote on their behalf at the AGM, in which case they should approach 
their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 5.00 p.m. on 8 April 2024. 

4. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it  
	 thinks	fit	to	act	as	its	representative	at	the	AGM,	in	accordance	with	Section	179	of	the	Companies	Act	1967	of	Singapore.	

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or 
any adjournment thereof, a member (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the 
Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its 
agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and 
the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, 
listing rules, take-over rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member 
discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents or service 
providers), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and 
disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) 
for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, 
demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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NRIC/Passport/Company Registration No. 

FOOD EMPIRE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Company Registration No. 200001282G) 
(Incorporated In the Republic of Singapore)

or if no person is named in the above boxes, the Chairman of the AGM, as my/our* proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us* on my/
our*	behalf	at	the	AGM	of	the	Company	to	be	convened	and	held	at	ParkRoyal	Collection	Marina	Bay,	Atrium	Ballroom,	Level	5,	6	Raffles	
Boulevard, Singapore 039594 on Friday, 19 April 2024 at 3.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We* direct my/our* proxy/proxies* to vote for or against, or to abstain from voting on the resolution to be proposed at the AGM as 
indicated hereunder.

Voting will be conducted by poll. If you wish your proxy/proxies to cast all your votes “For” or “Against” or “Abstain” on the resolution to be proposed at the AGM, please 
tick “√” or a “ X” within the box provided. Alternatively, please indicate the number of Shares “For” or “Against” or “Abstain” in the “For” or “Against” or “Abstain” box. In 
any other case, the proxy/proxies may vote or abstain as the proxy/proxies deem fit on the resolution to be proposed at the AGM if no voting instruction is specified, 
and on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof.

(1)

PROXY FORM
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT:
1. This AGM will be held in a wholly physical format. There will be no option for the members to 

participate virtually. Printed copies of the Notice of AGM, the Annual Report and this Proxy Form 
will be sent by post to members. These documents will also be published on the Company’s website 
at (www.foodempire.com) and will also be made available on SGXNet.

2. Arrangements	relating	to	the	conduct	of	the	AGM,	including	(a)	attendance	at	the	AGM	in	person;	
(b)	voting	at	the	AGM	by	(i)	the	members,	including	the	CPF/SRS	investors,	themselves;	or	(ii)	their	
duly appointed proxy/proxies or representatives, are set out in the Company’s announcement 
dated 3 April 2024 titled “General Meetings to be held on 19 April 2024”. The announcement may be 
accessed on the SGXNet and at the Company’s website at the URL above.

3. Members	who	wish	to	exercise	their	voting	rights	at	the	AGM	may:	(a)	vote	at	the	AGM	themselves;	
or (b) appoint a proxy/proxies or representatives to vote at the AGM on their behalf.

4. This	Proxy	Form	is	not	valid	for	use	by	CPF/SRS	investors	and	shall	be	ineffective	for	all	intents	and	
purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

I/We*, (Name)

(Address)of

No. Resolutions For(1) Against(1) Abstain(1)

1 Adoption of Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2023

2 Proposed	first	and	final	dividend	and	special	dividend
3 Re-election of Mr Tan Cher Liang as a Director
4 Re-election of Mr Ong Kian Min as a Director
5 Re-election of Mr Adrian Chan Pengee as a Director
6 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$471,271.00
7 Re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors
8 Authority to issue shares

9 Authority to issue shares under the Food Empire Holdings Limited Employees’ 
Share Option Scheme (“2012 Option Scheme”)

10 Authority to grant options and to issue shares under the Food Empire Holdings 
Limited Employees’ Share Option Scheme 2022 (“2022 Option Scheme”)

11 Authority to grant awards and to issue shares under the Food Empire 
Holdings Limited Performance Share Plan (“2022 Award Plan”)

being a member/members* of Food Empire Holdings Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

*and/or

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members
Signature (s) of Member(s) or Common Seal of Corporate Member

Dated this _____________ day of _____________ 2024

* To delete as appropriate



NOTES:

1. A member should insert the total number of Shares. If a member has Shares entered against his/her/its name in the Depository 
Register	(as	defined	in	Section	81SF	of	the	Securities	and	Futures	Act	2001	of	Singapore),	he/she/it	should	insert	that	number	of	
Shares. If a member has Shares registered in his/her/its name in the Register of Members, he/she/it should insert that number of 
Shares. If a member has Shares entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in his/her/its 
name in the Register of Members, he/she/it should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against his/her/its name in the 
Depository Register and registered in his/her/its name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, this Proxy Form shall 
be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by the member.

2. A member who wishes to appoint a proxy or proxies must complete the Proxy Form before submitting it in the manner set out below. 
This Proxy Form may be accessed at the SGXNet and will also be made available on the Company’s website (www.foodempire.com).

3. A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM. 
Where	such	member	appoints	two	proxies,	the	appointments	shall	be	invalid	unless	he/she/it	specifies	the	proportion	of	his/her/
its shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy in the Proxy Form. 

 A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM, but 
each	proxy	must	be	appointed	to	exercise	the	rights	attached	to	a	different	Share	or	Shares	held	by	such	member.	Where	such	
member	appoints	more	than	two	proxies,	the	appointments	shall	be	invalid	unless	the	member	specifies	the	number	of	Shares	in	
relation to which each proxy has been appointed in the Proxy Form.

 “Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.

4. The Proxy Form must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:

	 (a)	 if	submitted	personally	or	by	post,	be	lodged	at	the	office	of	the	Company’s	Share	Registrar,	Boardroom	Corporate	&	Advisory	 
	 Services	Pte.	Ltd.,	at	1	Harbourfront	Avenue	#14-07,	Keppel	Bay	Tower,	Singapore	098632;	or	

 (b) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company’s Share Registrar at foodempire-agmegm2024@ 
 boardroomlimited.com,

	 and	in	each	case,	must	be	lodged	or	received	not	less	than	48	hours	before	the	time	fixed	for	the	AGM.

5. A member can choose to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy.

6. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

7. This Proxy Form must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where this Proxy Form is executed by 
a	corporation,	it	must	be	either	under	its	common	seal	or	signed	on	its	behalf	by	a	duly	authorised	officer	or	attorney.	Where	this	
Proxy	Form	is	signed	on	behalf	of	the	appointor	by	an	attorney,	the	power	of	attorney	(or	other	authority)	or	a	duly	certified	copy	
thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company), if this Proxy Form is submitted by post or sent personally, be lodged 
with this Proxy Form or, if this Proxy Form is submitted electronically by email, be emailed with this Proxy Form, failing which this 
Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.

8.	 A	corporation	which	is	a	member	may	authorise	by	resolution	of	its	directors	or	other	governing	body	such	person	as	it	thinks	fit	
to act as its representative at the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.

9. Completion and return of this Proxy Form does not preclude a member from attending, speaking and voting at the AGM. The 
appointment of a proxy/proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the AGM in person, and in such event, the 
Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the AGM. 

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out 
in the Notice of AGM dated 3 April 2024.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject this Proxy Form if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or where the true 
intentions	of	the	appointor	are	not	ascertainable	from	the	instructions	of	the	appointor	specified	in	the	Proxy	Form	(including	any	
related attachment). In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any Proxy Form 
lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register 
as	at	72	hours	before	the	time	appointed	for	holding	the	AGM,	as	certified	by	The	Central	Depository	(Pte)	Limited	to	the	Company.
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Tan Guek Ming 

Koh Yew Hiap

Tan Cher Liang

Adrian Chan Pengee

NOMINATING COMMITTEE 

Tan Cher Liang (Chairman)

Tan Wang Cheow

Ong Kian Min

Saw Meng Tee

Adrian Chan Pengee

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

Adrian Chan Pengee (Chairman)

Tan Guek Ming

Koh Yew Hiap

Saw Meng Tee

Tan Cher Liang

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Kevin Cho 

REGISTERED OFFICE 

1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07
Keppel Bay Tower
Singapore 098632
Telephone number : (65) 6536 5355
Fax number : (65) 6536 1360

BUSINESS OFFICE 

31 Harrison Road, #08-01
Food Empire Building
Singapore 369649
Telephone number : (65) 6622 6900
Fax number : (65) 6744 8977

SHARE REGISTRAR 

Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.
1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07
Keppel Bay Tower
Singapore 098632
Telephone number : (65) 6536 5355
Fax number : (65) 6536 1360

AUDITORS 

Ernst & Young LLP
One Raffles Quay
North Tower, Level 18
Singapore 048583

AUDIT PARTNER-IN-CHARGE 

Lim Tze Yuen  
(w.e.f. the financial year ended 31 December 2022)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS 

DBS Bank Limited
Overseas-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
United Overseas Bank Limited

CORPORATE INFORMATION



FOOD EMPIRE HOLDINGS LIMITED

31 Harrison Road, #08-01
Food Empire Building, Singapore 369649

T (65) 6622 6900   F (65) 6744 8977
www.foodempire.com

Want to see more? 
Get customised latest news and updates. 

Enter your email

Food Empire News Now 
Listen to the latest news: Food Empire achieves  

“Best Under A Billion” Award for a total of 3 times.

6:58
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Privacy Policy and Terms of Service. 


